File No. 161079

Committee Item No. _____11 Board Item No.

COMMITTEE/BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

AGENDA PACKET CONTENTS LIST

Committee: Land Use and Transportation

Date October 31, 2016

Board of Supervisors Meeting

Date

Cmte Board

		Motion
		Resolution
		Ordinance
Π		Legislative Digest
\square	\square	Budget and Legislative Analyst Report
Π		Youth Commission Report
X	Ħ	Introduction Form
X	Ħ	Department/Agency Cover Letter and/or Report
F	Ħ	Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
H	H	Grant Information Form
H	H	Grant Budget
H	H	Subcontract Budget
H	H	Contract/Agreement
H		Form 126 - Ethics Commission
H		Award Letter
H		
H	H	Application Form 700
H	H	
		Vacancy Notice
	Ц	Information Sheet
Z		Public Correspondence
отн	ER	(Use back side if additional space is needed)
\square		
Ē		
Π	Ē	
Ē	\Box	
\square		
\Box	\square	
\Box		
-	_	

Completed by:	Alisa Somera	Date October 27, 2016	
Completed by:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Date	

Somera, Alisa (BOS)

From:	Glantz, Stanton A <stanton.glantz@ucsf.edu></stanton.glantz@ucsf.edu>
Sent:	Sunday, October 16, 2016 3:29 PM
То:	Somera, Alisa (BOS)
Subject:	Materials related to legalization of retail marijuana (File #161079)
Attachments:	Barry-Marijuaua-4states-PLOSmed.pdf; Barry-MJ-Initatives-eScholarship UC item
	4qg8k9wz.pdf; Barry-The_Tobacco_Industry_and_Marijuana_Legalization.pdf

I am submitting the attached three research reports on public health impacts of retail marijuana that may be of interest to the Land Use and Transport Committee in its deliberations on how the deal with this issue in San Francisco.

1

As you will see, there are serious problems with the current state proposal.

I would be happy to answer any questions you or members of the Board have.

Stanton Glantz, PhD Professor of Medicine UCSF 415-476-3893

Home address: 1474 24th Avenue, San Francisco, CA

CrossMark click for updates

GOPEN ACCESS

Citation: Barry RA, Glantz S (2016) A Public Health Framework for Legalized Retail Marijuana Based on the US Experience: Avoiding a New Tobacco Industry. PLoS Med 13(9): e1002131. doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.1002131

Published: September 27, 2016

Copyright: © 2016 Barry, Glantz. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This work was supported in part by National Cancer Institute grant CA-061021 and UCSF funds from SG's Truth Initiative Distinguished Professorship. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Provenance: Not commissioned; externally peerreviewed POLICY FORUM

A Public Health Framework for Legalized Retail Marijuana Based on the US Experience: Avoiding a New Tobacco Industry

Rachel Ann Barry¹, Stanton Glantz^{1,2}*

1 Center for Tobacco Control Research and Education and Philip R. Lee Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, California, United States of America, **2** Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, California, United States of America

* glantz@medicine.ucsf.edu

Summary Points

- The US states that have legalized retail marijuana are using US alcohol policies as a model for regulating retail marijuana, which prioritizes business interests over public health.
- The history of major multinational corporations using aggressive marketing strategies to increase and sustain tobacco and alcohol use illustrates the risks of corporate domination of a legalized marijuana market.
- To protect public health, marijuana should be treated like tobacco, not as the US treats alcohol: legal but subject to a robust demand reduction program modeled on successful evidence-based tobacco control programs.
- Because marijuana is illegal in most places, jurisdictions worldwide (including other US states) considering legalization can learn from the US experience to shape regulations that prioritize public health over profits.

Introduction

While illegal in the United States, marijuana use has been increasing since 2007 [1]. In response to political campaigns to legalize retail sales, by 2016 four US states (Colorado, Washington, Alaska, and Oregon) had enacted citizen initiatives to implement regulatory frameworks for marijuana, modeled on US alcohol policies [2], where state agencies issue licenses to and regulate private marijuana businesses [2,3,4]. Arguments for legalization have stressed the negative impact marijuana criminalization has had on social justice, public safety, and the economy [5]. Uruguay, an international leader in tobacco control [6], became the first country to legalize the sale of marijuana in 2014, and, as of July 2016, was implementing a state monopoly for marijuana production and distribution [7]. None of the US laws [2], or pending proposals in other states [8], prioritize public health. Because marijuana is illegal in most places, jurisdictions worldwide (including other US states) considering legalization can learn from the US experience to shape regulations that favor public health over profits.

In contrast, while legal, US tobacco use has been declining [1]. To protect public health, marijuana should be treated like tobacco, legal but subject to a robust demand reduction program modeled on evidence-based tobacco control programs [9] before a large industry (akin to tobacco [10]) develops and takes control of the market and regulatory environment [11].

Likely Effect of Marijuana Commercialization on Public Health

While the harms of marijuana do not currently approach those of tobacco [12], the extent to which legal restrictions on marijuana may have functioned to limit these harms is unknown. Currently, regular heavy marijuana use is uncommon, and few users become lifetime marijuana smokers [13]. However, marijuana use is not without risk. The risk for developing marijuana dependence (25%) is lower than for nicotine addiction (67%) and higher than for alcohol dependence (16%) [14], but is still substantial, with rising numbers of marijuana users in high-income countries seeking treatment [15]. Reversing the historic pattern, in some places, marijuana has become a gateway to tobacco and nicotine addiction [15].

This situation will likely change as legal barriers that have kept major corporations out of the market [10] are removed. Unlike small-scale growers and marijuana retailers, large corporations seek profits through consolidation, market expansion, product engineering, international branding, and promotion of heavy use to maximize sales, and use lobbying, campaign contributions, and public relations to create a favorable regulatory environment [2,11,16,17,18,19]. By 2016, US marijuana companies had developed highly potent products [15] and were advertising via the Internet [11] and developing marketing strategies to rebrand marijuana for a more sophisticated audience [20]. Without effective controls in place, it is likely that a large marijuana industry, akin to tobacco and alcohol, will quickly emerge and work to manipulate regulatory frameworks and use aggressive marketing strategies to increase and sustain marijuana use [10,11] with a corresponding increase in social and health costs.

Public perception of the low risk of marijuana [21] is discordant with available evidence. Marijuana smoke has a similar toxicity profile as tobacco smoke [22] and, regardless of whether marijuana is more or less dangerous than tobacco, it is not harmless [2]. The California Environmental Protection Agency has identified marijuana smoke as a cause of cancer [23], and marijuana smokers are at increased risk of respiratory disease [24,25]. Epidemiological studies in Europe have found associations between smoking marijuana and increased risk of cardiovascular disease, heart attack, and stroke in young adults [15,26]. One minute of exposure to marijuana smoke significantly impairs vascular function in a rat model [27]. In humans, impaired vascular function is associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes including atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction [27,28,29].

Acute risks associated with highly potent marijuana products (i.e., cannabinoid concentrates, edibles) include anxiety, panic attacks, and hallucinations [15]. Other health risks associated with use include long-lasting detrimental changes in cognitive function [13,15], poor educational outcomes, accidental childhood ingestion and adult intoxication [26], and auto fatalities [30,31].

US Alcohol Policy Is Not a Good Model for Regulating Marijuana

The fact that US marijuana legalization is modeled on US alcohol policies is not reassuring. In 2014, 61% of US college students (age 18–25) reported using alcohol in the past 30 days, compared to 19% for marijuana and 13% for tobacco [32]. Binge drinking is a serious problem, with 41% of young Americans reporting heavy episodic drinking in the past year [33].

Aggressive alcohol marketing likely contributes to this pattern [<u>34</u>]. Even though the alcohol industry's voluntary rules prohibit advertising on broadcast, cable, radio, print, and digital

communications if more than 30% of the audience is under age 21, this standard permits them to advertise in media outlets with substantial youth audiences [35], including *Sports Illustrated* and *Rolling Stone*, resulting in American youth (ages 12–20) being exposed to 45% more beer and 27% more spirits advertisements than legal drinking-aged adults [36]. If such alcohol marketing regulations were applied universally to marijuana, consumption would likely be higher, not lower, than it is now [26].

Using a Public Health Framework from Evidence-Based Tobacco Control to Regulate Retail Marijuana

<u>Table 1</u> compares the situation in the four US states that have legalized retail marijuana to a public health standard based on successes and failures in tobacco and alcohol control. A public health framework for marijuana legalization would designate the health department as the lead agency with, like tobacco, a mandate to protect the public by minimizing all (not just youth) use. The health department would implement policies to protect nonusers, prevent initiation, and encourage users to quit, as well as regulate the manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of marijuana products, with other agencies (such as tax authorities) playing supporting roles.

Because public health regulations are often in direct conflict with the interests of profitdriven corporations [19], it is important to protect the policy process from industry influence. In contrast to what states that have legalized retail marijuana have done to date, a public health framework would require that expert advisory committees involved in regulatory oversight and public education policymaking processes consist solely of public health officials and experts and limit the marijuana industry's role in decision-making to participation as a member of the "public." Including the tobacco industry on advisory committees when developing tobacco regulations blocks, delays, and weakens public health policies [37]. The World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, a global public health treaty ratified by 180 parties as of April 2016, recognizes the need to protect the policymaking process from industry interference:

"[Governments] should not allow any person employed by the tobacco industry or any entity working to further its interests to be a member of any government body, committee or advisory group that sets or implements tobacco control or public health policy." [37, Article 5.3]

A marijuana regulatory framework that prioritizes public health would have similar provisions.

A public health framework would avoid regulatory complexity that favors corporations with financial resources to hire lawyers and lobbyists to create and manipulate weak or unenforceable policies [11]. To simplify regulatory efforts, including licensing enforcement, implementation of underage access laws, prevention and education programs, and taxation, a public health framework would create a unitary market, in which all legal sales, regardless of whether use is intended for recreational or medical purposes, follow the same rules [38]. Unlike Colorado, Oregon, and Alaska, in 2015, Washington State accomplished this public health goal when it merged its retail and medical markets [39].

Earmarked funds to support comprehensive prevention and control programs over time, which are not included in the four US states' regulatory regimes, will be critical to reduce marijuana prevalence, marijuana-related diseases, and costs arising from marijuana use. A public health framework would set taxes high enough to discourage use and cover the full cost of legalization, including a broad-based marijuana prevention and control program. Using a

Lead Agency	}				Oregon
	Y				
Department of Health	✓	Х	Х	Х	X
Advisory Committees					
Membership solely of public health experts	×	✓		Х	1
No decision-making authority for marijuana industry or vested interests		Х		Х	Х
Regulatory Complexity					
Creates a single system of retail marijuana	×	Х	✓	X	X
Tax Revenue			-		
Tax covers full costs	✓	Х	X		Х
Dedicated revenue to marijuana prevention, control, and research	✓	Х	1		Х
Prevention and Control Programs					
Media campaign					
Aimed at general population (not just youth)	✓	Х	Х		Х
Modeled on social norm change	✓	Х	х		X
Smokefree Laws					
Prohibit any public use of marijuana	✓ ·	✓	✓	✓	 ✓
Prohibit marijuana use wherever tobacco smoking is prohibited	✓	√	✓	Х	1
Protect local control	\checkmark	√	· 🗸	1	~
Prohibit indoor use in marijuana retail stores or marijuana clubs	✓	Х	✓	Х	 Image: A second s
Marketing and Advertising					
Prohibit free or discounted samples	. 🗸	Х	1	\checkmark	✓
Prohibit cartoon characters	· 🗸	✓	✓	✓	~
Prohibit sport and cultural event sponsorship	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prohibit product placement in popular media and cobranded merchandise	✓	X	Х	Х	Х
Prohibit therapeutic claims	✓	√	✓	✓	~
Prohibit outdoor advertising on billboards	✓ ·	✓	Х	Х	Х
Prohibit advertising on television and radio	✓	Х	√	Х	Х
Restrict advertising in print and digital communications with 15% threshold	✓	Х	Х	Х	Х
Licensing Rules					
mpose serious penalties on retailers' underage sales	✓	✓	✓		 ✓
Prohibit sale of tobacco or alcohol in marijuana retail stores	✓	✓	<i>√</i>	✓	✓
Prohibit tobacco and alcohol retailers from holding marijuana license	· ✓	X	Х	X	X
Retail Sales			L		L
Require retailer use age verification system (ID scanners) at point of sale	✓	х	Х	х	x
Prohibit retailers within 1,000 feet of underage-sensitive areas	✓	· X	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	X	. X
Prohibit electronic commerce (internet, mail order, text messaging, social media)	✓	√	✓	√	
Product Standards	l				
Require strong potency limits and product quality testing	✓ ·	Х	Х	Х	√
Prohibit products containing additives (nicotine, alcohol, caffeine, or toxic	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	 ✓	<u>х</u>	 ✓	 ✓
chemicals)					
Prohibits flavored products appealing to underage persons	✓	Х	✓	Х	X
Warning Labels	·				

Key: 🗸 Required by law or regulation; X Not required by law or regulation; --Pending legislative approval or rulemaking process

doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1002131.t001

public health approach, the prevention program would implement social norm change strategies, modeled on evidence-based tobacco control programs, aimed at the population as a whole—not just users or youth [9]. Demand reduction strategies applied to marijuana would include: 1) countering pro-marijuana business influence in the community; 2) reducing exposure to secondhand marijuana smoke and aerosol and other marijuana products (including protecting workers vulnerable to these exposures); 3) controlling availability of marijuana and marijuana products; and 4) promoting services to help marijuana users quit.

A public health framework would protect the public from secondhand smoke exposure by including marijuana in existing national and local smokefree laws for tobacco products, including e-cigarettes. Local governments would have authority to adopt stronger regulations than the state or nation. There would be no exemptions for indoor use in hospitality venues, marijuana retail stores, or lounges, including for "vaped" marijuana.

To protect the public from industry strategies to increase and sustain marijuana use, a public health framework would prohibit or severely restrict (within constitutional limitations) marketing and advertising, including prohibitions on free or discounted samples, the use of cartoon characters, event sponsorship, product placement in popular media, cobranded merchandise, and therapeutic claims (unless approved by the government agency that regulates such claims). Marketing would be prohibited on television, radio, billboards, and public transit and restricted in print and digital communications (e.g., internet and social media) with the percentage of youth between ages 12 and 20 as the maximum underage audience composition for permitted advertising (roughly 15% in the US) [35]. These advertising restrictions are justified and would likely pass US Constitutional muster because they are implemented for important public health purposes, are evidence-based [35], and have worked to promote similar goals in other contexts. Legal sellers of the newly legal marijuana products would be permitted to communicate relevant product information to their legal adult customers.

A scenario in which a public health regulatory framework is applied to marijuana would require licensees to pay for strong licensing provisions for retailers, with active enforcement and license revocation for underage sales. As has been done in the four US states (Table 1), outlets would be limited to the sale of marijuana only to avoid the proliferation and normalization of sales in convenience stores or "big box" retailers. No retailer that sold tobacco or alcohol would be granted a license to sell marijuana products. Based on best public health practices for tobacco retailers [40], marijuana retail stores would be prohibited within 1,000 feet of underage-sensitive areas including postsecondary schools, with limits on new licenses in areas that already have a significant number of retail outlets. Electronic commerce, including internet, mail order, text messaging, and social media sales, would be prohibited because these forms of nontraditional sales are difficult to regulate, age-verification is practically impossible [41], and they can easily avoid taxation [42].

Central to a public health framework would be assigning the health department with the authority to enact strong potency limits, dosage, serving size, and product quality testing for marijuana and marijuana products (e.g., edibles, tinctures, oils), with a clear mission to protect public health. Additives that could increase potency, toxicity, or addictive potential, or that would create unsafe combinations with other psychoactive substances, including nicotine and alcohol, would be illegal. Unlike US restrictions on marijuana products, flavors (that largely appeal to children), would be prohibited.

A public health model applied to marijuana would include health warning labels that follow state-of-the-art tobacco requirements implemented in several countries outside of the United States, including Uruguay, Brazil, Canada, and Australia [43]. Public health-oriented labels would: 1) be large, (at least 50% of packaging) on front and back and not limited to the sides, prominently featured, and contain dissuasive imagery in addition to text; 2) be clear and direct and communicate accurate information to the user regarding health risks associated with marijuana use and secondhand exposure; and 3) use language appropriate for low-literacy adults.

Health messages would include risk of dependence [2], cardiovascular [2,44,45], respiratory [25], and neurological disease [46], and cancer [23], and would warn against driving a vehicle or operating equipment, as well as the risks of co-use with tobacco or alcohol.

While there is already adequate scientific evidence to raise concern about a wide range of adverse health effects, there is more to learn. Earmarked funds from marijuana taxes would also provide an ongoing revenue stream for research that would guide marijuana prevention and control efforts and mitigate the human and economic costs of marijuana use, as well as better define medical uses as the basis for proper regulation of marijuana for therapeutic purposes.

Avoiding a Private Market

Privatizing tobacco and alcohol sales leads to intensified marketing efforts, lower prices, more effective distribution, and an industry that will aggressively oppose any public health effort to control use [47,48]. Avoiding a privatized marijuana market and the associated pressures to increase consumption in order to maximize profits would likely lead to lower consumer demand, consumption, and prevalence, even among youth, and would reduce the associated public health harm [49].

Governments may avoid marijuana commercialization by implementing a state monopoly over its production and distribution, similar to Uruguay's regulatory structure for marijuana [3,50] and to the Nordic countries' alcohol control systems [51], which are designed to protect public health over maximizing government revenue. The state would have more control over access, price, and product characteristics (including youth-appealing products or packaging, potency, and additives) and would refrain from marketing that promotes increased use [3,52]. In cases where national laws cause concern about local authority's ability to adopt government monopolies, a public health authority could be used as an alternative [53].

It is important to avoid intrinsic conflicts of interest created by state ownership. As is the case with state-ownership of tobacco, without specific policies to prioritize public health, a state's desire to increase revenue often supersedes public health goals to minimize use [51,52]. Beyond mitigating potential conflicts of interest inherent in state monopolies, a public health framework for marijuana would instruct the government agency that manages the monopoly to minimize individual consumption in order to maximize public health at the population level. (Similar public health goals are explicit in Nordic alcohol monopolies [51].)

While a state monopoly is an effective approach to protect public health [51,54], in practice, however, even the strongest government monopolies for alcohol (i.e., Nordic Countries) have been eroded over time by multinational companies that argue such controls are illegal protectionism under international and regional trade agreements [4,51]. While trade agreements have been used to threaten tobacco control and other public health policies [55], clearly identifying protection of public health as the goal of the state monopoly would make it more difficult to challenge these controls, especially if sales revenues were used to help fund evidence-based demand reduction policies [49] (Table 1).

Conclusion

It is important that jurisdictions worldwide learn from the US experience and implement, concurrently with full legalization, a public health framework for marijuana that minimizes consumption to maximize public health (Table 1). A key goal of the public health framework would be to make it harder for a new, wealthy, and powerful marijuana industry to manipulate the policy environment and thwart public health efforts to minimize use and associated health problems.

Acknowledgments

This paper is based on an invited presentation at the Marijuana and Cannabinoids: A Neuroscience Research Summit held at the National Institutes of Health on March 22–23, 2016.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: RAB SG.

Data curation: SG.

Funding acquisition: SG.

Investigation: RAB.

Methodology: RAB SG.

Project administration: SG.

Resources: SG.

Supervision: SG.

Visualization: RAB SG.

Writing - original draft: RAB.

Writing - review & editing: RAB SG.

References

- 1. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2014) Results from the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- 2. Hall W, Weier M (2015) Assessing the Public Health Impacts of Legalizing Recreational Cannabis Use in the USA. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics 97: 607–615.
- 3. Room R (2014) Legalizing a Market for Cannabis for Pleasure: Colorado, Washington, Uruguay and Beyond. Addiction 109: 345–351. doi: 10.1111/add.12355 PMID: 24180513
- 4. Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, Edwards G, Giesbrecht N, Graham K (2010) Alcohol: No Ordinary Commodity: Research and Public Policy (2nd Ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 5. Weitzer R (2014) Legalizing Recreational Marijuana: Comparing Ballot Outcomes in Four States. J Qual Crim Justice Criminol 2.
- 6. World Health Organization (2014) Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control.
- 7. Watts J (2013) Uruguay's Likely Cannabis Law Could Set Tone for War on Drugs in Latin America. The Guardian.
- 8. ArcView Market Research, New Frontier (2016) The State of Legal Marijuana Markets 4th Edition.
- Shibuya K, Ciecierski C, Guindon E, Bettcher DW, Evans DB, Murray CJ, et al. (2003) WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Development of an Evidence Based Global Public Health Treaty. BMJ 327: 154–157. PMID: <u>12869461</u>
- Barry RA, Hiilamo H, Glantz SA (2014) Waiting for the Opportune Moment: The Tobacco Industry and Marijuana Legalization. Milbank Quarterly 92: 207–242. doi: <u>10.1111/1468-0009.12055</u> PMID: 24890245
- Richter KP, Levy S (2014) Big Marijuana—Lessons from Big Tobacco. New England Journal of Medicine 371: 399–401. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1406074 PMID: 24918955
- 12. Imtiaz S, Shield KD, Roerecke M, Cheng J, Popova S, Kurdyak P, et al. (2016) The Burden of Disease Attributable to Cannabis Use in Canada in 2012. Addiction 111: 653–662. doi: <u>10.1111/add.13237</u> PMID: <u>26598973</u>
- Auer R, Vittinghoff E, Yaffe K, Kunzi A, Kertesz SG, Levine DA, et al. (2016) Association between Lifetime Marijuana Use and Cognitive Function in Middle Age: The Coronary Artery Risk Development in

Young Adults (Cardia) Study. JAMA Intern Med 176: 352–361. doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2015</u>. <u>7841</u> PMID: <u>26831916</u>

- Cougle JR, Hakes JK, Macatee RJ, Zvolensky MJ, Chavarria J (2016) Probability and Correlates of Dependence among Regular Users of Alcohol, Nicotine, Cannabis, and Cocaine: Concurrent and Prospective Analyses of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. J Clin Psychiatry 77: e444–450. doi: <u>10.4088/JCP.14m094.69</u> PMID: <u>27137428</u>
- 15. World Health Organization. The Health and Social Effects of Nonmedical Cannabis Use. <u>http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/cannabis_report/en/</u>. Accessed 16 Aug 2016
- **16.** Jernigan DH (2009) The Global Alcohol Industry: An Overview. Addiction 104: 6–12. doi: <u>10.1111/j.</u> <u>1360-0443.2008.02430.x</u> PMID: <u>19133910</u>
- 17. Cook PJ (2007) Paying the Tab: The Economics of Alcohol Policy. Princeton: Princeton University Press. xiii, 262 p. p.
- 18. Hastings G (2012) Why Corporate Power Is a Public Health Priority. BMJ 345: e5124. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.e5124 PMID: 22915664
- 19. Freudenberg N (2012) The Manufacture of Lifestyle: The Role of Corporations in Unhealthy Living. Journal of Public Health Policy 33: 244–256. doi: 10.1057/jphp.2011.60 PMID: 22258282
- 20. Krupnik M (2016) High Times and Agency Unite to Sell Marijuana to Mainstream. New York Times. New York.
- Berg CJ, Stratton E, Schauer GL, Lewis M, Wang Y, Windle M, et al. (2015) Perceived Harm, Addictiveness, and Social Acceptability of Tobacco Products and Marijuana among Young Adults: Marijuana, Hookah, and Electronic Cigarettes Win. Subst Use Misuse 50: 79–89. doi: 10.3109/10826084.2014. 958857 PMID: 25268294
- 22. Moir D, Rickert WS, Levasseur G, Larose Y, Maertens R, White P, et al. (2008) A Comparison of Mainstream and Sidestream Marijuana and Tobacco Cigarette Smoke Produced under Two Machine Smoking Conditions. Chem Res Toxicol 21: 494–502. PMID: <u>18062674</u>
- 23. Reproductive and Cancer Hazard Assessment Branch, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency (2009) Evidence on the Carcinogenicity of Marijuana Smoke, Sacramento, Ca.
- 24. Volkow ND, Compton WM, Weiss SR (2014) Adverse Health Effects of Marijuana Use. N Engl J Med 371: 879.
- Owen KP, Sutter ME, Albertson TE (2014) Marijuana: Respiratory Tract Effects. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 46: 65–81. doi: 10.1007/s12016-013-8374-y PMID: 23715638
- 26. Hall W, Lynskey M (2016) Evaluating the Public Health Impacts of Legalizing Recreational Cannabis Use in the USA. Addiction.
- Yeboah J, Crouse J, Hsu F, Burke G, Herrington D (2007) Brachial Flow-Mediated Dilation Predicts Incident Cardiovascular Events in Older Adults: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Circulation 115: 2390–2397. PMID: <u>17452608</u>
- 28. Yeboah J, Sutton-Tyrrell K, McBurnie M, Burke G, Herrington D, Crouse J (2008) Association between Brachial Artery Reactivity and Cardiovascular Disease Status in an Elderly Cohort: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Atheroschlerosis 197.
- Yeboah J, Folsom A, Burke G, Johnson C, Polak J, Post W, et al. (2009) Predictive Value of Brachial Flow-Mediated Dilation for Incident Cardiovascular Events in a Population-Based Study: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Circulation 120: 502–509. doi: <u>10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.864801</u> PMID: 19635967
- 30. Hartman RL, Brown TL, Milavetz G, Spurgin A, Pierce RS, Gorelick DA, et al. (2016) Cannabis Effects on Driving Longitudinal Control with and without Alcohol. J Appl Toxicol.
- 31. Rogeberg O, Elvik R (2016) The Effects of Cannabis Intoxication on Motor Vehicle Collision Revisited and Revised. Addiction.
- Haardörfer R, Berg C, Lewis M, McDonald B, Pillai D. Polytobacco, Alcohol, and Marijuana Use Patterns in College Students: A Latent Class Analysis. https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.srnt.org/resource/ resmgr/Conferences/2016_Annual_Meeting/Program/61820_SRNT_Program_web.pdf. (Accessed July 6)
- **33.** Evans-Polce R, Lanza S, Maggs J (2016) Heterogeneity of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Other Substance Use Behaviors in U.S. College Students: A Latent Class Analysis. Addict Behav 53: 80–85. doi: <u>10.</u> 1016/j.addbeh.2015.10.010 PMID: 26476004
- Tanski SE, McClure AC, Li Z, Jackson K, Morgenstern M, Sargent JD (2015) Cued Recall of Alcohol Advertising on Television and Underage Drinking Behavior. JAMA Pediatr 169: 264–271. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2014.3345 PMID: 25599526

- **35.** Jernigan DH, Ostroff J, Ross C (2005) Alcohol Advertising and Youth: A Measured Approach. Journal of Public Health Policy 26: 312–325. PMID: <u>16167</u>559
- **36.** Center on Alcohol Marketing and Youth (2002) Overexposed: Youth a Target of Alcohol Advertising in Magazines. Washington D.C.: Institute for Health Care Research and Policy, Georgetown University.
- Conference of the Parties (2003) WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Murphy P, Carnevale J (2016) Regulating Marijuana in California. Sacramento, CA: Public Policy Institute of California.
- **39.** Washington State Legislature (2015) Bill: Hb2136.
- Lantz PM, Jacobson PD, Warner KE, Wasserman J, Pollack HA, Berson J, et al. (2000) Investing in Youth Tobacco Control: A Review of Smoking Prevention and Control Strategies. Tob Control 9: 47– 63. PMID: <u>10691758</u>
- 41. Mosher J (2006) Alcohol Industry Voluntary Regulation of Its Advertising Practices: A Status Report.
- 42. Chriqui JF, Ribisl KM, Wallace RM, Williams RS, O'Connor JC, el Arculli R (2008) A Comprehensive Review of State Laws Governing Internet and Other Delivery Sales of Cigarettes in the United States. Nicotine Tob Res 10: 253–265. doi: 10.1080/14622200701838232 PMID: 18236290
- **43.** World Health Organization (2008) Guidelines for Implementation of Article 11 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Packaging and Labelling of Tobacco Products).
- 44. Wang X, Derakhshandeh R, Liu J, Narayan S, Nabavizadeh P, Le S, et al. (2016) One Minute of Marijuana Secondhand Smoke Exposure Substantially Impairs Vascular Endothelial Function. J Am Heart Assoc 5: pii: e003858. doi: 003810.001161/JAHA.003116.003858.
- **45.** Thomas G, Kloner RA, Rezkalla S (2014) Adverse Cardiovascular, Cerebrovascular, and Peripheral Vascular Effects of Marijuana Inhalation: What Cardiologists Need to Know. Am J Cardiol 113: 187–190. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.09.042 PMID: 24176069
- 46. Meier MH, Caspi A, Ambler A, Harrington H, Houts R, Keefe RS, et al. (2012) Persistent Cannabis Users Show Neuropsychological Decline from Childhood to Midlife. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109: E2657–2664. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1206820109 PMID: 22927402
- Gilmore AB, Fooks G, McKee M (2011) A Review of the Impacts of Tobacco Industry Privatisation: Implications for Policy. Glob Public Health 6: 621–642. doi: <u>10.1080/17441692.2011.595727</u> PMID: 21790502
- Grubesic TH, Murray AT, Pridemore WA, Tabb LP, Liu Y, Wei R (2012) Alcohol Beverage Control, Privatization and the Geographic Distribution of Alcohol Outlets. BMC Public Health 12: 1015. doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2458-12-1015</u> PMID: <u>23170899</u>
- 49. Pratt A (2016) Can State Ownership of the Tobacco Industry Really Advance Tobacco Control? Tob Control 25: 365–366. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2015-052594 PMID: 26437809
- Pardo B (2014) Cannabis Policy Reforms in the Americas: A Comparative Analysis of Colorado, Washington, and Uruguay. Int J Drug Policy 25: 727–735. doi: <u>10.1016/j.drugpo.2014.05.010</u> PMID: <u>24970383</u>
- Hogg SL, Hill SE, Collin J (2015) State-Ownership of Tobacco Industry: A 'Fundamental Conflict of Interest' or a 'Tremendous Opportunity' for Tobacco Control? Tob Control.
- 52. Rehm J, Fischer B (2015) Cannabis Legalization with Strict Regulation, the Overall Superior Policy Option for Public Health. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics 97: 541–544.
- Caulkins J, Kilmer B, Kleinman M, MacCoun R, Midgette G, Oglesby P, et al. (2015) Considering Marijuana Legalization Insights for Vermont and Other Jurisdictions. RAND Institute.
- Pacula RL, Kilmer B, Wagenaar AC, Chaloupka FJ, Caulkins JP (2014) Developing Public Health Regulations for Marijuana: Lessons from Alcohol and Tobacco. Am J Public Health 104: 1021–1028. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2013.301766 PMID: 24825201
- Crosbie E, Gonzalez M, Glantz SA (2014) Health Preemption Behind Closed Doors: Trade Agreements and Fast-Track Authority. Am J Public Health 104: e7–e13.



Center for Tobacco Control Research and Education UC San Francisco

Title:

A Public Health Analysis of Two Proposed Marijuana Legalization Initiatives for the 2016 California Ballot: Creating the New Tobacco Industry

Author:

Barry, Rachel A MA, UC San Francisco Glantz, Stanton A PhD, UC San Francisco

Publication Date:

February 2016

Series: Tobacco Control Policy Making: United States

Permalink:

http://escholarship.org/uc/item/4gg8k9wz

Copyright Information:

All rights reserved unless otherwise indicated. Contact the author or original publisher for any necessary permissions. eScholarship is not the copyright owner for deposited works. Learn more at <u>http://www.escholarship.org/help_copyright.html#reuse</u>



eScholarship provides open access, scholarly publishing services to the University of California and delivers a dynamic research platform to scholars worldwide.

A Public Health Analysis of Two Proposed Marijuana Legalization Initiatives for the 2016 California Ballot:

Creating the New Tobacco Industry

Rachel A. Barry, MA

Stanton A. Glantz, PhD

Center for Tobacco Control Research and Education

Philip R. Lee Institute for Health Policy Studies

School of Medicine

University of California, San Francisco

San Francisco, CA 94143-1390



February 2016

This work was funded in part by National Cancer Institute Grant CA-61021 and UCSF funds from the FAMRI William Cahan Endowment Fund and Dr. Glantz' Truth Initiative Distinguished Professorship. The funding agencies played no role in the selection of the research question, the conduct of the research, or the preparation of the manuscript. This report is available on the internet at www.escholarship.org/uc/item/4qg8k9wz

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- Even though tobacco is legal in California, its use is not socially accepted and prevalence is falling.
- Marijuana is illegal, but its use is socially accepted and its prevalence is increasing.
- The fact that most marijuana sales and possession is illegal has led to serious negative social costs, particularly imprisonment of hundreds of thousands of nonviolent offenders, mostly young black men, and existence of an illegal market that generates crime, violence, and corruption.
- This report is based on the premise that treating marijuana like tobacco legal but unwanted under a public health framework is an appropriate response to the social inequities and large public costs of the failed War on Drugs.
- The two major legalization initiatives (Adult Use of Marijuana Act and Marijuana Legalization Initiative Statute) do not accomplish this goal.
- The initiatives are written primarily to create a new business and only include minimal protections for the public that are unlikely to prevent public health harms caused by the burgeoning marijuana industry.
- The tobacco industry has been considering entering the marijuana business since 1969.
- There is evidence that marijuana use and secondhand exposure pose health risks, including increased risk for cancer, heart attack, stroke, reproductive toxicity, respiratory impairment, long-lasting detrimental changes in brain function, and increased risk for addiction.
- As marijuana use increases it is likely that the understanding of these disease links will become more detailed and extensive.
- Evidence from tobacco and alcohol control demonstrates that without a strong public health framework, a wealthy and politically powerful marijuana industry will develop and use its political clout to manipulate regulatory frameworks and thwart public health efforts to reduce use and profits.
- Successes and failures regulating tobacco products, alcoholic beverages, public utilities, and other products in California, as well as the lessons from other state regulatory efforts, should be applied to marijuana regulations if California legalizes the cultivation, production, marketing, and retail sale of marijuana.
- The goal of any marijuana regulatory framework should be to treat marijuana regulation like tobacco regulation, allowing sale and use to be legal, while simultaneously creating an environment where falling numbers of people are interested in buying and using it.
- To minimize public health risks, marijuana regulations in California should be modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program, which has successfully countered the lobbying and marketing tactics of the tobacco industry for the last twenty-five years.
- The California Legislative Analyst's Office, in its fiscal impact estimate reports on the proposed initiatives, failed to consider the economic impact of marijuana legalization on increasing health costs in California.
- Separate medical and retail markets, with different rules, creates complexity that favors large corporate interests, so it is important to create a unitary market in which all legal sales are through a single retail market.

- The regulatory licensing authorities defined in the pending marijuana legalization initiatives are agencies whose primary goals are to create a competitive marketplace for businesses, not protect public health.
- The marijuana advisory committees created in the initiatives contain marijuana industry representatives, so are unlikely to prioritize public health over maximizing business potential.
- The initiatives do not create a comprehensive marijuana prevention and control program that denormalizes marijuana use and counters industry activity at the local and state level.
- Without broad-based media campaigns aimed at the general public (not just youth), California is at risk of reversing years of progress on tobacco control as well as increasing the potential health costs associated with legalizing marijuana.
- The marijuana tax in the initiatives may not cover the regulatory and public health costs of legalizing marijuana and may require taxpayers to subsidize the adverse consequences and health-related costs associated with increased marijuana use and secondhand exposure, caused by the new marijuana industry, just as they now do for tobacco.
- The initiatives do not provide adequate funding or time to conduct scientific research to gain a comprehensive understanding of the evolving adverse health effects of legalizing marijuana on population health that can be used to modernize regulation as understanding of these effects improves.
- The advertising and marketing restrictions in the initiatives will not prevent targeting underage persons (defined as under age 21) or other vulnerable populations.
- The proposed warning label is based on ineffective warnings on alcohol products and ignores the extensive research on the effectiveness of using plain or dissuasive tobacco product packaging to reduce and prevent tobacco use.
- The marijuana product safety and testing standards will be based on voluntary codes established by industry organizations not independent public health agencies, so could compromise public health for the sake of business.
- In California there is an opportunity to legalize marijuana in a way that would address and prevent the emerging and future public health problems associated with marijuana use (e.g., youth initiation, indoor use, social normalization, and health disparities) by preventing the growth of another large industry similar to the tobacco or alcohol industries, through a strong public health-focused regulatory system.
- Accomplishing this goal requires that a comprehensive public health education and regulatory framework modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program, to minimize social normalization and use, be established *concurrently with* full legalization, before a marijuana industry similar to the tobacco industry fully develops in California.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION
MARIJUANA TOXICITY
POLICY BACKGROUND
RECENT POLICY ANALYSES
Blue Ribbon Commission Report
Tobacco Education and Research Oversight Committee Letter
ANALYSIS OF THE INITIATIVES WITHIN A PUBLIC HEALTH FRAMEWORK
The initiatives provide regulatory licensing authority to agencies that do not prioritize the protection of public health and safety
The initiatives include marijuana industry representatives on advisory committees rather than independent public health experts
The initiatives' licensing rules are inadequate to prevent the growth of a tobacco-style marijuana industry
The sales restrictions under the initiatives are inadequate to prevent initiation in underage persons 19
The initiatives will complicate policy efforts to prevent underage appeal and access by maintaining the medical and retail marijuana markets
Under AUMA dedicated funds will not be dedicated to effective programs modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program to minimize marijuana use
It is unlikely that the tax revenue will cover the full costs of marijuana legalization
AUMA includes marijuana in smokefree laws but with a problematic loophole
The initiative's research program does not prioritize marijuana-induced disease research as a foundation for future policy
The initiative's marketing and advertising restrictions fail to prevent underage exposure or heavy and regular use
The initiative's product standards do not protect consumers
The initiative's marijuana labeling requirements will not deter underage persons from initiating marijuana or fully inform adults
The regulatory commission that ReformCA establishes is dominated by industry representatives who will likely prioritize protecting business over protecting health
RECOMMENDATIONS
Regulatory Agencies
Marijuana Advisory Committee
Licensing

Sales to People Under 21	
Unitary Marijuana Market	
Health Education and Prevention	
Marijuana Tax	
Smokefree Laws	
Research Program	
Marketing and Advertising	41
Product Regulations	
Marijuana Warning Label and Packaging Requirements	
Local Control	
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	51

INTRODUCTION

Marijuana is the most widely used illicit substance worldwide, and there is a fast growing movement to legalize marijuana sales for both medical and recreational use.¹ In 2012 and 2014, four states (Colorado, Washington, Alaska, and Oregon) and the District of Colombia passed citizen initiatives to legalize and regulate retail marijuana sales. Ballot question activity and public opinion polls suggest that California, which already permits marijuana sales for medical purposes, could be one of the next states to legalize the retail sale of marijuana products.^{2 47, 3-5} By November 2015, seventeen initiative proposals for the November 2016 general election had been submitted to the California Attorney General to legalize retail sales of marijuana.⁶

Two initiatives that appear to have the best chance of qualifying for the 2016 ballot because of financial backing and political support are the "Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act"⁷ and the "Marijuana Legalization. Initiative Statute."⁸

- The Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act^{*} (the AUMA initiative), filed on November 3, 2015, is backed financially by Sean Parker, cofounder of Napster and former president of Facebook.⁹ Lt. Governor Gavin Newsom has publicly endorsed the AUMA initiative, calling it a "thoughtful measure"⁹ that aligned with the July 2015 recommendations of Newsom's Blue Ribbon Commission on Marijuana Policy.¹⁰ Other groups that endorsed the AUMA initiative include drug reform groups (Drug Policy Alliance and Marijuana Policy Project) and commercial interests (WeedMaps and the California Cannabis Industry Association).¹¹
- The Marijuana Legalization. Initiative Statute[†] was placed on the ballot by the Coalition for Cannabis Policy Reform (the ReformCA initiative), the organization that led the unsuccessful California Proposition 19 legalization campaign in 2010.¹² Compared to the other industryled initiative campaigns, the Coalition for Cannabis Policy Reform is the largest and best funded, largely because of support from the existing medical marijuana industry,¹³ including the California Cannabis Industry Association and Emerald Growers Association. Other coalition members include National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), Americans for Safe Access, Law Enforcement Against Prohibition (LEAP), the National Organization for the Reform of Marijuana Laws (NORML), and the United Food & Commercial Workers Union, Medical Cannabis and Hemp Division, among others.¹⁴

These two initiatives contain many similar provisions, but differ substantially in the way they assign authority to regulate marijuana cultivation, production, distribution, and sales. The AUMA initiative grants authority to existing local and state governments, and the California Legislature. The ReformCA initiative creates and grants rulemaking authority to a 13-member California Cannabis Commission consisting of representatives from the marijuana industry and organized labor to adopt, amend, and rescind any "reasonable" rules or regulations.

^{*}Adult Use of Marijuana Act Initiative: https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/15-0103%20%28Marijuana%29_1.pdf?

[†] Marijuana Legalization Initiative Statute: https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/15-0075%20%28Marijuana%29.pdf?

This analysis focuses on the AUMA initiative because, as of December 2015, several key members of the Coalition for Cannabis Policy Reform, the coalition that introduced the ReformCA initiative, endorsed the AUMA initiative.¹⁵ In addition, it is more detailed (at 64 pages) and more prescriptive than the ReformCA initiative.^{*}

Experience from tobacco and alcohol control supports a public health framework for regulating marijuana. The history of the major tobacco and alcohol companies using aggressive marketing strategies and political tactics to increase and sustain tobacco¹⁶⁻²² and alcohol use,²³⁻²⁸ including using their economic and political power to fight effective public health regulations, illustrates the risks associated with multinational corporations entering and dominating a legalized marijuana market. Indeed, the tobacco companies seriously considered entering the marijuana market in the late 1960s when legalization seemed a real possibility.²⁹

A public health framework for marijuana is particularly important in California because of its well-established (medical and illicit) marijuana industry. Although the California marijuana industry has operated largely in the shadows, it is estimated that it currently supplies the nation's illicit marijuana market.³⁰ Experience from legal markets in Colorado, Washington, Alaska, and Oregon demonstrates that marijuana marketing firms are growing and working to quickly modernize the marijuana industry using marketing techniques aimed at positively influencing the perceptions of marijuana and marijuana products,^{31, 32} to maximize market size and sustain profits.

This analysis is premised on five points:

- Marijuana legalization through a pro-public health framework is an appropriate response to the social inequities and large public costs of a failed War on Drugs.
- There is an opportunity to legalize marijuana in a way that would address and prevent the emerging and future public health problems associated with marijuana use (e.g., youth initiation, indoor use, social normalization, and health disparities) by implementing a strong public health-focused regulatory system.
- Left unchecked, a wealthy and politically powerful marijuana industry, which is even larger than the existing medical marijuana industry, will rapidly appear and eventually resemble (and may become a subsidiary of) the tobacco industry.
- Legalization will make it easier for this new industry to exercise political power to block effective regulation, and marijuana prevention and control.
- The California Tobacco Control Program should be used as an operative model because it has effectively countered the tobacco industry and substantially reduced use and associated health costs of tobacco without making it illegal.

In short, the goal would be to minimize use by treating marijuana like tobacco through social denormalization. The central idea would be to establish a vigorous marijuana prevention and control program *simultaneously with* creating the retail market, before the new industry

^{*}We discuss the unique aspects of the ReformCA initiative at the end of the detailed analysis of the AUMA initiative's provisions.

accumulated the economic and political power to block effective public health education, legislation, and regulation.

MARIJUANA TOXICITY

Despite emerging scientific evidence on the adverse health risks of marijuana smoke, many people think that marijuana smoke is less toxic than tobacco smoke.³³⁻³⁷ Marijuana smoke contains chemicals (e.g., polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, carbon monoxide, cyanide, benzene) known to cause cancer and reproductive toxicity, many of which are also in tobacco smoke.³⁸ Indeed, except for the psychoactive ingredient — THC versus nicotine — marijuana smoke is similar to tobacco smoke.^{39,40} This similarity makes it likely that marijuana use will have comparable health effects as tobacco, a prediction supported by recent findings that marijuana and tobacco secondhand smoke exposure both have adverse cardiovascular effects.³⁷ For example, combustible marijuana use^{41,42} and secondhand marijuana smoke exposure⁴¹ significantly impair blood vessel function, similar to tobacco, in ways that would increase the risk of atherosclerosis (partially blocked arteries), heart attack, and stroke.³⁷

Marijuana smokers are also at an increased risk of respiratory problems including chronic bronchitis,⁴³ as marijuana smoke is associated with inflammation of the large airways, increased airway resistance, and lung hyperinflation.^{42, 44} Marijuana smokers also report increased rates of respiratory infections and pneumonia compared to nonsmokers.⁴⁵

Increased marijuana use may produce other adverse effects such as long-lasting detrimental changes in brain function in adolescents,⁴⁶ increased risk for addiction (especially when initiated in adolescence), and elevated risks of mental health disorders (e.g., anxiety, mood, and psychotic).⁴² Increased marijuana use also may result in increased traffic accidents from driving while impaired by marijuana.^{47, 48}

Aerosolizers are used for both nicotine (e-cigarettes) and marijuana, and do not involve combustion, so produce fewer toxic chemicals than combusted products. While not fully understood, e-cigarettes do, however, expose users and bystanders to nicotine, ultrafine particles, and other toxins.⁴⁹⁻⁵⁴ Research on the health effects of marijuana leaf aerosolizers, THC concentrate (e.g., oil and wax) aerosolizers, and liquid THC-filled e-cigarettes is hampered by the same factors that hamper research on marijuana in general.⁵⁵ However, there is evidence on the adverse health risks of flavorants used in both e-cigarettes and marijuana products (concentrates, liquid THC), which contain the chemical diacetyl. Diacetyl inhalation is associated with bronchiolitis obliterans and other severe respiratory diseases.⁵⁶

Marijuana remains a Schedule I substance under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, in which the use, sale, and possession of cannabis (marijuana) is a criminal offense under federal law,⁵⁷ and which has resulted in a huge deficit in knowledge on marijuana use and secondhand exposure, whereas tobacco is now one of the most comprehensively researched substances. In addition, because, at least at the present time, adults who use marijuana often also use tobacco,^{34, ⁵⁸⁻⁶¹ it is difficult to separate the effects of these two products. These factors also make it difficult to study the possible medical benefits from certain forms and chemical components of marijuana. It is important to emphasize, however, that the current situation in which there is relatively little} evidence (especially compared to tobacco) on the health effects of marijuana,⁶² is not the same as evidence of little or no adverse effect.

In California tobacco is legal, but its use is increasingly denormalized, while marijuana is illegal but becoming more socially accepted.^{33, 63, 64} This reality is reflected by the fact that, in California, more youth are now using marijuana than tobacco. Between 2011-2013, 24% of 11th graders and 15% of 9th graders reported past 30 day marijuana use, compared to 12% of 11th graders and 7% of 9th graders for past 30 day cigarette use.⁶⁵ If current tobacco and marijuana use trends in California continue, with tobacco use continuing to fall and marijuana use continuing to increase, and as retail marijuana becomes legal in more places and time passes, we are likely to develop a more detailed and precise understanding of the associated health risks.

POLICY BACKGROUND

Arguments for marijuana policy reform generally are centered on social justice,^{39, 66, 67} public safety,⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ and the economic impact^{39, 71, 72} of marijuana criminalization. Some marijuana policy reformists argue that legalizing retail marijuana for recreational use will eliminate the incarceration of responsible users and nonviolent dealers and shrink or eliminate existing illicit markets without significantly increasing the health harms and costs of marijuana use.⁷¹ Others advocate for policy change somewhere between incarceration and legalization, often advocating for decriminalizing possession and lesser penalties for production and distribution.²²

Full legalization advocates generally envision a commercial marijuana regulatory framework modeled on state alcohol regulations.^{73, 74} They also argue that the revenues from new marijuana taxes will cover the costs not only of overseeing and regulating legal sales but also will cover programs to prevent youth initiation and control abusive use associated with increased access to marijuana, with revenue to spare for the state government general fund.^{12, 75} Whether these predictions materialize will depend on how the production, distribution, marketing, and sale of the newly-legalized marijuana market are structured and regulated, and what the new legal marijuana industry looks like and how it operates.

A public health framework would seek to minimize consumption (and associated health costs) through public health regulations and public education, and create a social and legal environment modeled on California's tobacco control program, which discourages the use of tobacco and protects nonusers from secondhand exposure. Through government regulation⁷⁶⁻⁷⁹ and market intervention,^{25, 80} a strong public health framework would prevent a wealthy and powerful marijuana industry from using its political clout to manipulate regulatory frameworks and thwart public health efforts to minimize use.

RECENT POLICY ANALYSES

In 2014, Lt. Governor Gavin Newsom, in collaboration with the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU), formed the Blue Ribbon Commission on Marijuana Policy (BRC) in anticipation that an initiative to legalize retail sales of marijuana would be placed on the 2016 California ballot.⁸¹ Members of the Blue Ribbon Commission consist of academics,^{*} physicians, policymakers, drug policy reformists, criminal and tax lawyers, economists, and public health experts and were appointed to conduct policy research and identify problematic issues and alternative solutions for marijuana legalization in California. The Commission did not have a direct role in preparing any legislation or initiatives; it was meant to inform the policymaking process.

The Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee (TEROC) is the legislatively mandated committee (California Health and Safety Code Sections 104365-104370⁸²) that oversees California's tobacco prevention, education, and tobacco-related research programs created by the Tobacco Tax and Health Protection Act of 1988 (Proposition 99).⁸³ In particular, TEROC is charged with advising the Legislature and Administration on the effectiveness and priorities of California's tobacco control program and tobacco policy broadly. Its members are appointed by the Governor, Speaker of the Assembly, Senate Rules Committee, and Superintendent of Public Instruction to fill seats that represent different areas of technical expertise related to tobacco control.

In July 2015, both the BRC and TEROC issued policy analyses and recommendations on how to regulate marijuana in California (detailed below). While BRC and TEROC share many policies for retail marijuana legalization, TEROC's recommendations are stronger. Table 1 compares the BRC and TEROC recommendations with the AUMA and ReformCA initiatives.

Blue Ribbon Commission Report

On July 21, 2015 the BRC published its report: *Pathways Report: Policy Options for Regulating Marijuana in California.*¹⁰ The report's strong recommendations, many informed by past tobacco and alcohol control efforts, included measures relating to local control, public usage, health messaging, research priorities, and marketing and advertising restrictions. The overall goal of the report was to provide recommendations for regulations that would "prevent the growth of a large, corporate marijuana industry dominated by a small number of players, as we see with Big Tobacco or the alcohol industry."¹⁰

Specifically, the BRC recommended:

- Establish an advisory committee or board whose representatives do not have an economic stake in the marijuana industry.
- Adopt regulations that would limit the size and power of any sector of the marijuana industry.
- Set 21 as the minimum age of purchase and access to marijuana.
- Implement broad based media campaigns aimed at the general public and not limited to youth.

^{*}Rachel Barry, first author of this analysis, is a member of the Blue Ribbon Commission.

- Dedicate funds to marijuana prevention education and marijuana-related disease research and education.
- Include marijuana in existing smokefree laws to reduce exposure to secondhand smoke.
- Use resulting tax money to sponsor data collection and research on the health risks of marijuana (including cardiovascular, respiratory, and brain development/function).
- Require the state to periodically publish reports of comprehensive data, including on the success, failure, and challenges of implementation of the new laws.
- Limit advertising and marketing to inside retail stores.
- Protect local control over licensing, sales, and public usage aspects of marijuana regulations.

The BRC recommended several provisions that the AUMA and ReformCA fail to include:

- Neither establishes advisory committees with members that only represent the public health interest. Rather the advisory committees or boards these initiatives establish will contain individuals with an economic stake in the marijuana industry.
- Neither establishes limits on the number of licenses issued to the same person or entity.
- Neither establishes health education and prevention programs for the general public.
- Neither prioritizes marijuana-induced disease research, including collecting and analyzing data on marijuana use with tobacco, e-cigarettes, as well as demographic data, including race, gender, and income level, on marijuana initiation, prevalence and use disorders, to make further, evidence-based decisions for effective implementation.
- Neither requires the state to publish reports on the successes, failures, and challenges of implementation of the new laws that would allow the public and stakeholders to recommend corrections.
- While AUMA prohibits marijuana use wherever combustible tobacco products and ecigarettes are prohibited under local and state smokefree laws, both initiatives grant local governments the authority to permit indoor use in licensed marijuana facilities.
- Neither requires that advertising and marketing of marijuana be limited to inside retail stores.
- The AUMA initiative grants local governments the authority to regulate the marijuana industry, including prohibiting any marijuana licensed facility; ReformCA only allows doing so after a majority vote in an election by the voting public.

Tobacco Education and Research Oversight Committee Letter

On July 17, 2015, TEROC wrote a letter to the BRC containing specific recommendations for regulating marijuana in California, in a way that would protect public health. Broadly, TEROC recommended that any legalization initiative:

- Institute a comprehensive health education and prevention program similar to the mandate of the California Tobacco Control Program.
- Include marijuana in existing smokefree laws for cigarettes and e-cigarettes.
- Implement policies modeled on tobacco regulations concerning sales, taxation, and marketing of marijuana.⁸⁴

Likewise TEROC recommended several provisions that the AUMA and ReformCA initiatives fail to include that are necessary to protect the public health.

- Neither initiative establishes a comprehensive marijuana prevention and control program modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program, with the kind of mass-media education campaigns necessary to denormalize marijuana use and counter industry activity at the local and state level.
- Neither initiative provides adequate funding for marijuana prevention and control programs aimed at youth, young adult, or adult populations.
- Both initiatives permit local governments adopt exemptions for indoor marijuana use inside retail stores and marijuana clubs that would undermine enforcement of smokefree laws to reduce tobacco smoking and exposure, fail to protect nonusers from secondhand marijuana smoke, as well as further contribute to occupational health disparities.
- Neither initiative includes strong restrictions on advertising and marketing necessary to make it difficult for marijuana companies to target youth, young adults, and other vulnerable populations (e.g., prohibiting advertising on billboards, television and radio, coupons, event sponsorship, and payments to promote marijuana in movies).
- Neither initiative includes sunshine disclosure policies, in which marijuana companies would be required to report price discounting and incentives, promotional allowances, and payments to retailers and wholesalers, and contributions to elected officials.
- Neither initiative includes requirements that advertising and marketing not be designed in a way that is known to or has the effect of appealing to certain demographics, which will benefit marijuana companies who could argue that they did not intend for advertisements or sponsorships to attract children, young adults, and other vulnerable populations.
- Neither initiative prohibits marijuana products that are designed in a way that has the effect of or is known to be appealing to children or easily confused with other products that do not contain marijuana, which may increase the chances that children and adults will overdose or accidentally ingest marijuana products.
- Neither initiative requires effective warning labels to safeguard and inform the public about the adverse health risks of using marijuana, thereby increasing the chances that adults will improperly use these products.

ANALYSIS OF THE INITIATIVES WITHIN A PUBLIC HEALTH FRAMEWORK

This report provides a detailed analysis of the specific provisions in AUMA assuming that the overarching public policy objective is to prevent the growth of a powerful marijuana industry that would work to thwart public health protections, while solving some of the social justice problems associated with the criminalization of marijuana.

- Broadly, the problems contained within these initiatives are:
- The regulatory licensing authorities consist of agencies whose primary constituencies are businesses that will likely seek to maximize sales and use, rather than agencies whose focus is protecting public health and minimizing consumption of harmful substances.

- Since several marijuana industry representatives sit on marijuana advisory committees that will guide regulations and implementation, it seems unlikely that they would prioritize public health over maximizing business potential.
- Licensing regulations will permit corporations to dominate the marijuana market whose likely goal would be to maximize market growth and sales through widespread use.
- The marijuana market is unlikely to remain a cottage industry of small-scale home growers, collectives, and dispensaries that would be necessary to facilitate government control over the size of the market and the resulting marijuana industry.
- It will be legal to sell marijuana products in ways that would increase underage (defined as under age 21) access and appeal, including through vending machine, internet, and mail order sales, coupons, promotional discounts, and flavored products.
- Implementation of effective public health policies are complicated by maintaining both the medical and retail marijuana markets.
- The California Department of Public Health, the agency with experience implementing effective tobacco prevention and control programs, is not in charge of a similar program for marijuana.
- The initiatives do not create a marijuana health education, or a marijuana prevention and control program, or include funding for a statewide media campaign dedicated to the primary purpose of reducing marijuana use and protecting the public from secondhand exposure.
- The marijuana tax revenue will be dedicated to youth substance abuse programs and economic development projects, not broader and more effective public health programs modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program, to prevent marijuana initiation in underage persons or minimize adult use.
- Local governments will be granted authority to permit marijuana smoking inside marijuana retail stores or marijuana clubs, which, if implemented, will expose marijuana industry workers to secondhand marijuana smoke, contributing to occupational health disparities.
- Research priorities favor growth of the industry while ignoring the need for marijuanainduced disease research as a foundation for future policy.
- Research program funding will end ten years after implementation without enough time to gain a comprehensive understanding of the evolving adverse health effects of legalizing marijuana on population health.
- The marketing and advertising restrictions will fail to prevent underage persons (defined as under age 21) from being exposed to marijuana advertising and marketing.
- Businesses, like the tobacco companies, will be permitted to market and sell products that contain nicotine, alcohol, caffeine, or other additives that make marijuana more addictive, potent, or toxic when consumed as intended.
- Labeling requirements will not require state of the art tobacco control warning labels that are effective at informing consumers on the health risks associated with consuming a substance with adverse effects.
- ReformCA will grant authority to an industry-led commission to develop marijuana regulations for licensing, health education programs, research, marketing and advertising, and product, packaging, and labeling standards.

The initiatives provide regulatory licensing authority to agencies that do not prioritize the protection of public health and safety

The AUMA initiative grants broad authority to the Department of Consumer Affairs, rather than the California Department of Public Health, an agency with experience in successfully counteracting the lobbying and marketing tactics of multinational tobacco companies, and grants limited oversight to other licensing authorities that would likely have a vested interest in establishing regulations that would increase market growth.

The AUMA initiative models its regulatory structure on the 2015 California Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act (Health and Safety Code Sections 11362.7-11362.83⁸⁵), which was state legislation that established a regulatory structure for medical marijuana. The AUMA creates the Bureau of Marijuana Control in the Department of Consumer Affairs⁸⁵ as the agency that oversees the entire marijuana regulatory system, including administration and enforcement, and that regulates commercial marijuana activity. The Department of Consumer Affairs is an agency tasked with serving consumers by creating a competitive market place for businesses.⁸⁶

Other agencies, which under the AUMA will be given limited oversight over the marijuana industry, are the California Department of Food and Agriculture (cultivation), the California Department of Public Health (manufacturing and testing), and the California Board of Equalization (taxation). The California Department of Food and Agriculture is an agency tasked with protecting and promoting agriculture.⁸⁷ The Board of Equalization's mission is to "maximize efficiencies" and "develop [California's] workforce" through effective tax administration.⁸⁸ These agencies are given authority to issue regulations that shall not make "compliance unreasonably impracticable," in collaboration with the Bureau of Marijuana Control's Advisory Board (detailed below).

The Bureau of Marijuana Control will license marijuana retailers, distributors, and microbusinesses, the Department of Food and Agriculture will license marijuana cultivators, and the Department of Public Health will license and oversee marijuana manufacturers and testing facilities. The CDPH will develop procedures for testing marijuana and marijuana products such as how often licensees will be required to test products and that testing takes place prior to distribution. The Department of Food and Agriculture will also, in collaboration with the Board of Equalization, oversee the track and trace marijuana program. These agencies are given authority to set annual fees that will be scaled dependent upon the size of the business. An advisory committee appointed by the Director of the Department of Consumer Affairs (consisting of representatives from the marijuana industry, labor organizations, appropriate state and local agencies, public health experts, and other subject matter experts, including representatives from the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control) will assist in the development of annual fee schedules and licensing procedures. The Bureau will have authority to create additional licenses necessary to carry out the duties imposed by the initiative.

Three out of four of the regulatory agencies under AUMA were not created by the State Legislature with the primary goal to protect and promote public health. Indeed, the only agency that does not have business interests in its mission or value statement is the Department of Public Health, as an agency tasked with "optimizing the health and well-being" of people in California. From the tobacco control experience, granting authority to agencies, such as the Department of Food and Agriculture,^{89, 90} that would support the interests of marijuana growers and retailers, may result in these agencies issuing regulations that would help to increase market size, rather than institute strong controls to protect public health. In US tobacco growing states, commissioners of agriculture have been important allies to the tobacco industry and have blocked tobacco control policies (e.g., smokefree laws, tobacco taxes) to support the financial interests of tobacco growers.⁹⁰

Science-based regulatory agencies with a mission to protect public health would be more appropriate for developing regulations to mitigate the risks associated with commercializing a potentially harmful substance. A better strategy than that proposed in the initiative would be to adopt a public health framework that would place the California Department of Public Health (CDPH), with the mandate to protect public health and denormalize marijuana use, as the lead agency overseeing the entire marijuana regulatory system, with other specialty agencies playing supporting roles. The CDPH could develop regulations that prioritize the public health goals of reducing the impact of marijuana on public health by protecting nonusers, preventing initiation, encouraging users to quit, regulating the manufacturing, marketing and distribution of marijuana products, establishing marijuana product standards appropriate to protecting public health, and requiring marijuana companies to submit detailed applications prior to marketing or selling new marijuana and marijuana products.

As an agency with the goal to create a competitive marketplace for businesses,⁸⁶ the Department of Consumer Affairs may not be the appropriate agency to counter the harmful influence of large corporate interests. Indeed, at a January 2016 informational joint meeting of the California State Assembly on medical marijuana regulation, the Department of Consumer Affairs and Department of Food and Agriculture stated that each were seeking counsel from the medical marijuana industry to guide the process of regulating and implementing the 2015 California Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act.⁹¹

It is likely that the authors chose to model the retail regulatory system on the Legislature's language for the medical marijuana regulatory system to facilitate implementation of the law rather than considering that the California Department of Public Health would be the more appropriate agency. Most notably the CDPH has successfully countered the lobbying and marketing tactics of the tobacco industry for the last twenty-five years.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ The CDPH also has broad competencies in relevant areas including licensing, food safety, drug safety, laboratory testing, occupational health, pesticide contamination, enforcement of underage tobacco sales, surveillance and evaluation systems, health communications, public education and outreach, and relationships with vulnerable community groups and populations.

The initiatives include marijuana industry representatives on advisory committees rather than independent public health experts

The Bureau of Marijuana Control as envisioned by AUMA is required to convene a marijuana advisory committee that includes marijuana industry representatives, labor

organizations, public health experts (it is not specified that this member have a background in preventing or reducing marijuana consumption), state and local agencies, and the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control to guide regulations and implementation. This is a direct conflict of interest, because many of these members will prioritize business interests over public health. The members are appointed by the Director of the Department of Consumer Affairs (Table 2), who is in charge of an agency whose primary objective is to protect professionals from unfair competition and consumers from unlicensed businesses.⁸⁶

An independent oversight advisory committee is critical for a marijuana regulatory framework because it provides public accountability and public protection from the marijuana industry. Prioritizing public health would lead to an independent oversight committee similar to the California Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee (TEROC) whose members would be appointed by the Governor and the California State Legislature, and would include experts in public health as well as academic researchers that have experience in marijuana prevention and control (or a similar substance such as tobacco). It would be considered a conflict of interest to include members with a direct interest in promoting the marijuana industry. Another possibility would be to model advisory committee language for the California Air Resources Board's (CARB) conflict of interest rules, in which a public official with a financial interest in a decision must not engage in the decision-making process.⁹⁵ Other participants may serve as consultants but may not exercise decision-making power.

Marijuana industry representation on advisory boards raises serious public health and safety concerns. For example, Colorado allowed industry involvement in developing initial regulations for packaging, labeling, and potency restrictions for marijuana edibles, which did not sufficiently protect public health, as evidenced by a significant increase in the number of children brought to emergency rooms for accidental marijuana ingestion.^{96, 97} Calls to poison control centers involving accidental marijuana ingestion in children doubled between 2013 and 2014 in Colorado (45 calls for children under age 8⁹⁸).

Including the tobacco industry on advisory committees on the development of smokefree laws or other regulations blocks, delays, or weakens implementation of adequate public health policies.^{18, 47, 99, 100} As a result, there has been serious attention toward avoiding conflicts of interest between public health and the tobacco industry, with global efforts to monitor and contain tobacco industry influence over public health policies.^{25, 99} Indeed, the World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, a global public health treaty ratified by 180 parties as of January 2016 (not including the United States), includes Article 5.3., which specifies that:

The involvement of organizations or individuals with commercial or vested interests in the tobacco industry in public health policies with respect to tobacco control is most likely to have a negative effect... [Governments] should not allow any person employed by the tobacco industry or any entity working to further its interests to be a member of any government body, committee or advisory group that sets or implements tobacco control or public health policy."¹⁰¹

A marijuana regulatory framework that prioritizes public health should have similar provisions.

Because the licensing systems will be overseen by an advisory committee with marijuana industry representatives, it is unlikely that these members will recommend a licensing system with adequate enforcement or fees high enough to cover administrative and enforcement costs, or create penalties for retailers that violate the law, including license suspensions, fines and revocations.

The initiatives' licensing rules are inadequate to prevent the growth of a tobacco-style marijuana industry

The AUMA initiative creates a licensing system with thirteen license classifications for cultivators, two for manufacturers, and one each for testing, retailers, distributors, and microbusinesses, each with annual licensing fees determined by the licensing authority in charge of the specific activity (Table 3). Companies licensed to test marijuana products may not be licensed for any other activity or vice versa. A strong provision under the AUMA is that tobacco and alcohol retailers will be prevented from holding a retail marijuana license. Another strong provision in the AUMA is that local governments are granted authority to adopt stronger licensing ordinances than the state, including the authority to prohibit marijuana businesses.

Except for companies licensed to test marijuana products, there are, with few exceptions, no limits on the number of licenses per stage of production. Licensees may be issued more than one license, and may hold licenses in multiple stages of production. In contrast to AUMA, the Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act, passed by the California Legislature in September 2015, permits the Department of Food and Agriculture to limit the total number of cultivation licenses for medical marijuana.⁸⁵

To protect public health, the new legal marijuana market would be structured to prevent large corporate entities, such as tobacco, pharmaceutical, or food companies,²⁹ from dominating the market. Large corporate entities have the power to engage in mass marketing and product engineering to maximize addictive potential, and likely would use their political power to minimize effective regulation. A strong licensing system would reduce the chances of this happening if it required licenses for each part of the supply chain, prohibited private license transfers, and prohibited entities from holding more than one license.¹⁰²

The AUMA initiative states that it "ensures the nonmedical marijuana industry in California will be built around small and medium sized businesses by prohibiting large-scale cultivation licenses for the first five years."⁷ Beginning on January 1, 2018, licensing authorities will issue licenses for each stage of production except large scale cultivation, which will be licensed beginning January 1, 2023. The Legislature, by majority vote, may extend the date beyond January 1, 2023. These provisions for the first five years will likely have little effect on controlling the size of the marijuana industry. As evidenced from the Colorado and Washington experiences, ^{103, 104} five years is a short timeframe in terms of building a new marijuana market.

The AUMA initiative directs licensing authorities to prioritize issuing licenses to companies in the medical marijuana industry, including those that have been established businesses for at least twenty years, and operated in compliance with California's 1996

*Compassionate Use Act*¹⁰⁵ before September 1, 2016. It is unclear how a company that has been in operation for five versus twenty years will be treated under this provision. Licensing authorities will not issue or renew a license to a person or entity that cannot demonstrate continuous California residency from before January 1, 2015. There are, however, no provisions preventing out-of-state businesses from entering the market through individuals acting as intermediaries.

The sales restrictions under the initiatives are inadequate to prevent initiation in underage persons

The AUMA initiative appropriately prohibits sales of marijuana to minors (defined as under age 21) and prohibits anyone under the minimum age be allowed in any store that sells marijuana and marijuana products, including staff. This provision is stronger than regulations for retail alcohol stores, which explicitly allow underage people in convenience stores.¹⁰⁶ However, AUMA fails to include other important provisions that will prevent underage access and appeal including vending machine, internet and mail order sales, coupons, promotional discounts, and sales of flavored products, including THC-containing e-liquid.

The AUMA initiative also prohibits marijuana businesses within a 600-foot radius (and prohibits marijuana advertisements and marketing within a 1,000-foot radius; detailed below) of "a school providing instruction in kindergarten or any grades 1 through 12, day care center, or youth center that is in existence at the time the license is issued, unless a licensing authority or a local jurisdiction specifies a different radius." AUMA establishes a series of discretionary criteria for determining whether a license should be issued, including "excessive concentration." However, this term is not adequately defined and is applicable if such limitation did not impede development of the legal market or perpetuate the illicit market. The effectiveness of these licensing criteria is severely hampered because they are discretionary and lack specificity. An important provision in AUMA is that local governments will be permitted to adopt retail licensing restrictions stronger than the state law.

Prevention of marijuana use for underage persons is an important public health goal. Good public health practice, based on provisions for tobacco retailers,¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹ would prohibit marijuana retail stores within 1,000 feet of schools and parks. There would be requirements against issuing new licenses in areas that already have a significant number of retail outlets, which would not be contingent upon whether or not such limitation impeded market growth. Retail marijuana businesses would be prohibited from selling marijuana through vending machines or self-service displays, using coupons including digital coupons, promotions, discounts, sale of flavored products (that largely appeal to children),¹¹⁰ and other offers that would encourage underage initiation and frequent use, as well as impulse buys.

In addition to these prohibitions, the law would also mandate that retailers be required to verify government-issued identification cards through age-verification systems for face-to-face sales. Electronic commerce such as internet, mail order, text messaging, and social media sales would be prohibited because these forms of nontraditional sales are difficult to regulate, age-verification is impossible,²³ and they can easily avoid taxation.¹¹¹ (Preventing internet, mail order, text messaging, and social media sales will also reduce the size of the illicit market,¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ a

defined goal of AUMA.⁷) The state would establish a minimum set of restrictions for marijuana retailers that local governments could not weaken (i.e. floor preemption) and local governments would be permitted to adopt stronger regulations than the state law, including additional annual licensing fees and penalties for noncompliance (i.e. ceiling preemption).

The stated goal of the AUMA initiative is to simultaneously "legalize marijuana for those over 21 years old [and] protect children."⁷ However, there are no provisions that will prevent marijuana retail stores from being located within 1,000 feet of a college or university property, recreational center or facility, public park, library, or a game arcade, malls, movie theaters, churches, substance abuse treatment facilities, or hospitals, where underage (defined as under age 21) people are likely to congregate. Furthermore, it will be legal to sell marijuana in ways that will increase underage persons' access and appeal, through vending machines, self-service displays, and coupons, and through nontraditional sales, such as the internet, mail order, text messaging, and social media.

Under the AUMA initiative it is likely that marijuana legalization will have a negative impact on the health of young people and communities of color. Experience from tobacco and alcohol control shows that retailer density is positively associated with youth and young adult smoking¹¹⁵ and alcohol use.¹¹⁶ It is likely that marijuana retail density will have the same impact. There are also no provisions that will require new marijuana retailers be located a minimum distance from other retail stores or that will limit the number of marijuana retailers in a specific geographic unit (i.e., county, city, town). This is a key problem with tobacco retailers and alcohol outlets in poor communities, and is an emerging issue in Colorado's minority, mostly Latino, neighborhoods with retail marijuana.¹¹⁷ Similar to tobacco and alcohol, it is likely that marijuana retail stores and marijuana cultivation sites will be over-concentrated in low-income communities and communities of color. In order to uphold the social justice goals on which the initiative stands,^{118, 119} it is important that clustering and over-concentration of licensed marijuana facilities is prevented.

While an age-restriction for marijuana (21 years and above) and compliance checks to deter sales to underage persons are included in the initiative, it severely limits the capacity to use the licensing system to enforce this restriction on retailers by suspending or revoking licenses for businesses that sell to underage persons. In particular, the initiative states that retailers will be penalized if they "intended" or "knowingly" sold to underage persons. Experience from tobacco and alcohol control¹²⁰ demonstrates that requiring knowledge (rather than a more strict "negligence" standard) makes enforcement difficult, if not impossible, and compliance much less likely. Further, the initiative's language requiring licensees see documentation prior to selling or transferring marijuana is weak and at risk of being violated by marijuana retailers. The initiative states a licensee shall not sell marijuana unless presented with "documentation which *reasonably* appears to be a valid government-issued identification card showing that the person is 21 years of age or older [emphasis added]."⁷

Rather than creating a duplicative system, a public health framework would model the marijuana retail licensing system on existing inspection systems (e.g., the Stop Tobacco Access to Kids Enforcement (STAKE) or the Target Responsibility for Alcohol Connected Emergencies (TRACE) programs in California). As with tobacco and alcohol enforcement programs,

marijuana retailers would be required to ask for identification from anyone that looks under the age of forty. Marijuana retailers would be required to enter government-issued identification cards into age-verification system for face-to-face sales or the transaction would be cancelled. Violations would be for cases in which retailers do not ask for identification before selling marijuana to consumers and for cases in which the retailer asked for identification but still sold marijuana to an underage person without the state having to prove intent.

The initiatives will complicate policy efforts to prevent underage appeal and access by maintaining the medical and retail marijuana markets

The AUMA initiative maintains separate medical and retail marijuana markets, complicating policy efforts to prevent initiation and reduce marijuana use. The experience in Colorado, where the separate medical and retail marijuana markets are being maintained provides strong support for a unitary market.¹²¹ In Colorado, although legalization advocates claimed that retail marijuana legalization would reduce the number of medical marijuana users, the medical marijuana industry has continued to grow.^{122, 123} Regulatory inconsistences between the medical and retail markets are likely driving medical marijuana market growth. For example, marijuana possession and cultivation limits are higher for medical marijuana than retail marijuana, medical is more affordable because it is exempt from state and local excise taxes, and persons under age twenty-one can purchase marijuana through the medical marijuana program but not through the retail market.¹²²

It is important to avoid complexity in the marijuana regulatory environment because complexity favors large corporations with the financial resources to hire powerful lawyers and lobbyists.¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶ A public health framework for marijuana legalization would create a unitary market, in which all legal sales are regulated as retail marijuana and marijuana products, and the medical market is eliminated. A unitary market would simplify regulatory efforts, including licensing enforcement, implementation of underage access laws, prevention education programs, and taxation. A unitary market would also avoid sending mixed messages to the general public about the safety of marijuana, particularly as more research accumulates on the adverse health effects. Without a unitary market, it is likely that California, which has a stronger medical marijuana advocacy community and industry than Colorado, will experience similar regulatory distortions.

It is important to note that in 2015 the State of Washington merged its medical and retail marijuana markets. Licensed marijuana retailers that want to also sell medical marijuana are required to obtain a medical marijuana endorsement that meets the Department of Health's requirements.¹²⁷

Under AUMA dedicated funds will not be dedicated to effective programs modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program to minimize marijuana use

The AUMA initiative focuses funding on youth-centered substance abuse treatment programs without a specific mandate dedicated to the primary purpose of preventing and reducing marijuana use and protecting the public from secondhand smoke exposure. The experience from tobacco control¹²⁸⁻¹³¹ is that dedicating taxes solely to youth-based and school

programs is not the best way to prevent initiation or minimize use, and may have counteractive effects. Evidence-based tobacco prevention and control programs aimed at the general population are the most effective way to prevent youth initiation.^{93, 94, 132}

AUMA assigns the Department of Health Care Services (DHCS), an agency that provides information to the public on how to improve access to health care services, such as Medi-Cal and Family Planning,¹³³ responsibility to educate on and prevent substance use disorders in youth. The initiative allocates \$5 million from the General Fund to the DHCS to develop and run a public information campaign on the provisions of AUMA, penalties for sales to minors, dangers of driving while intoxicated by marijuana, potential harms of using while pregnant or breastfeeding, and potential harms of overconsumption. In contrast, the California Department of Public Health's media budget for tobacco control was \$43 million (adjusted for inflation to 2015 dollars) when it first aired in fiscal year 1989/90.¹³⁴

There are no funds earmarked to provide for the continued public information program or for an ongoing statewide media campaign aimed at the general population informing the public on the harms of marijuana use, production (i.e. pesticide, water issues), driving under the influence, secondhand smoke, industry manipulation, or offering cessation services for users. The Legislature will have to appropriate these funds from the General Fund to continue such a public information campaign.

Beginning in Fiscal Year 2018-2019, AUMA would require sixty percent of the left over marijuana tax revenue to be allocated to youth programs "designed to" educate and prevent substance use disorders. These programs may include prevention and treatment services for youth and caregivers, early intervention services, grants to schools to develop school-based intervention programs (Student Assistance Programs), grants to programs to address substance abuse for homeless youth, family-based interventions, and workforce training to increase the number of available behavioral health staff with substance use disorder prevention and treatment expertise. The DHCS is given broad latitude to determine where the funding is allocated and how much a particular program will receive. For example, the DHCS may dedicate most of the funding toward workforce training. If funding exceeds demand for youth substance abuse prevention and treatment services, then funds may be dedicated to treatment for adults with substance use disorders.

Because these programs will not impact market growth, it is likely that the marijuana industry will either not oppose or may lobby to continue their funding. As is the case in tobacco and alcohol control,¹³⁵⁻¹³⁸ dedicating taxes to programs other than marijuana prevention and control may be popular among policymakers and likely will be promoted by marijuana companies to displace effective denormalization campaigns. Often these programs are not controversial and fund important causes like early childhood education, college scholarships, or to fund state school projects (as was the case in Colorado¹²¹), or focus prevention programs on pregnant women and children, or provide funding to healthcare services unrelated to preventing tobacco¹³⁹ or alcohol use.¹³⁸ Without a specific legal requirement, the emphasis on substance abuse prevention and treatment programs suggests that funding will not go towards preventing and reducing marijuana consumption. For the same reasons as the tobacco and alcohol

companies, marijuana companies may endorse these programs to boost their public image and strengthen relationships with policymakers.

Marijuana companies may also launch voluntary youth prevention programs or corporate social responsibility projects, to displace effective denormalization campaigns used to prevent and control marijuana use. Similar to the alcohol industry's "drink responsibly" campaign, which is ineffective at informing the public on the actual harms of alcohol use, ¹⁴⁰ in 2014, the Marijuana Policy Project launched its own "Consume Responsibly" campaign, with the "goal to educate [consumers] about the substance, the laws surrounding it, and the importance of consuming it responsibly."¹⁴¹ It is likely that marijuana responsibility messages on consumption will be used to promote marijuana and marijuana products rather than providing accurate public health information to deter and minimize use.

As noted above in California use of tobacco, a legal product, has been dropping while use of marijuana, despite being illegal, is rising. The most efficient way to minimize marijuana use would be to use funds from taxes on marijuana sales to implement a marijuana prevention and control program, modeled on the successful California Tobacco Control Program (CTCP), under the administration of the California Department of Public Health.

The key to the success of the CTCP has been that it is a broad-based campaign focused on reinforcing the nonsmoking norm aimed at the population as a whole – not just smokers or youth, ⁹³ for each element of the program, including the statewide hard hitting, evidence-based media campaign.^{93, 94, 132} Indeed, by focusing on adults through its comprehensive tobacco control program, California has achieved one of the lowest youth smoking rates (10%) in the country.^{92, 142-146}

Similar to the CTCP, an effective marijuana prevention and control program would implement social norm change strategies including: 1) Countering pro-marijuana influences in the community; 2) Reducing exposure to secondhand marijuana smoke and aerosol, marijuana smoke and aerosol residue, marijuana waste, and other marijuana products (including protecting vulnerable workers from these types of exposures); 3) Reducing availability of marijuana and marijuana products; and 4) Promoting and supporting services that help marijuana users quit. There would be a state-level administrative office housed in the Department of Public Health with separate funding, dedicated to the primary purpose of preventing and reducing marijuana use and protecting the public from secondhand smoke exposure. Funding would be earmarked in the initiative and be protected from diversion by the Legislature or Governor.^{19, Chapter 10}

If modeled on the CTCP, a marijuana prevention and control program would allocate funding to local health departments and, on a competitive basis, to community-based organizations to create marijuana prevention and control coalitions, and to coordinate efforts with schools. The marijuana prevention and control program would mount an ongoing statewide media campaign, and would provide continuous training and technical assistance to local marijuana prevention and control programs, in large part through the competitive statewide grantees. The marijuana tax would provide an ongoing annual revenue stream to support implementation of a statewide media campaign that would consist of paid radio, television, billboard, internet and social media, and print advertising. The media campaign would include public relations campaigns for general market and population-specific communities, including various ethnic populations, young adult, and Lesbian Gay Bisexual Transgender (LGBT) communities. The media campaign would frame the messages and inform the public on the harms of marijuana use and secondhand exposure, expose and publicize predatory marketing by the marijuana industry, and encourage quitting through a cessation helpline.

The CTCP statewide campaign aimed at the general population has reduced smoking and provided billions of dollars in healthcare savings for Californians, both as individuals and as taxpayers.^{92, 142-145} It is reasonable to hypothesize that a marijuana prevention and control program based on the CTCP would have similar effectiveness and financial benefits.

The CTCP was most effective in its early years when it was larger^{19, Chapter 10} and before inflation eroded its purchasing power.¹³⁴ Based on the experience of the CTCP, an annual budget of \$340 million would be adequate (\$175.6 million in 1989,^{19, p. 90} adjusted annually for inflation) and would allow for mounting an effective campaign to counter the adverse public health impact of the new marijuana industry.

It is unlikely that the tax revenue will cover the full costs of marijuana legalization

The AUMA initiative imposes a cultivation and retail sales tax on marijuana and marijuana products. The cultivation tax will be for marijuana flower: \$9.25 per dry weight ounce and for marijuana leaves: \$2.75 per dry weight ounce. The retail sales tax will be an ad valorem tax of 15% of the total sale. The Board of Equalization will have the authority to adjust the tax rate for marijuana leaves annually to reflect changes in the price of marijuana flowers and will have the authority to adjust the cultivation and retail sales tax for inflation (although the specific measure of inflation is not specified).

After money is dispersed to the regulatory agencies to cover administrative costs, the marijuana tax will be used to support youth substance abuse and prevention programs, economic development, medical marijuana research, and to research the implementation and effect of AUMA. Marijuana tax will also be dedicated to the California Highway Patrol for enforcement and to develop standards and programs, including field sobriety testing protocols, and to environmental restoration and protection (Table 4).

The AUMA initiative states that retail marijuana sales will "generate hundreds of millions of dollars annually"⁷ to cover the costs of administrating the new law and will provide funds for programs designed to educate and treat substance use disorders in youth. Most of the first money, however, is allocated to programs that prioritize marijuana businesses rather than to programs that would prevent marijuana use and reduce consumption, likely increasing the external costs associated with marijuana legalization, such as increased healthcare spending (Table 4). The program that receives the most funding is the Governor's Office of Business and Economic Development that will reach \$50 million in 2023 to invest in economic development and job placement for communities affected by "past federal and state drug policies."⁷ The initiative provides \$2 million annually to the University of California, San Diego Center for Medicinal Cannabis Research to conduct research on the benefits and adverse effects of marijuana as a pharmacological agent. Other research priorities that will be conducted by

universities in California are discussed below and do not prioritize funding marijuana-related disease research as a basis for future policy.

The AUMA initiative provides \$3 million for five years to the California Highway Patrol and law enforcement to develop standards and programs, including field sobriety testing protocols. Given the lack of accurate and reliable chemical tests to determine marijuana impairment, ^{147, 148} five years might not be sufficient to develop methods to determine marijuana impairment while driving. In Colorado, in which retail sale of marijuana became legal in 2014, regulators are still trying to determine the best way to detect marijuana impairment while driving. ^{121, 149, 150} While this is an important provision that should be addressed, a more effective approach would be to earmark marijuana tax revenue to a comprehensive marijuana prevention and control program aimed at the general population. Such program would have the effect of preventing marijuana initiation and heavy consumption that would be associated with increased marijuana-related traffic accidents and fatalities.

Earmarked funds to support comprehensive prevention and control programs over time, which are not included in the initiative, will be critical to reduce marijuana prevalence, marijuana-related diseases, and costs arising from marijuana use. A public health framework for legalized marijuana would require that the marijuana tax be at least budget neutral, so as to cover the costs of legalizing marijuana, including marijuana prevention and education, marijuana-related disease research and education, as well as the costs of managing the business aspects of the new marijuana market. The marijuana tax would also need to be high enough to cover health-related costs as a result of increased marijuana use (Table 5). Additional tax increases would be permitted if doing so was determined to be appropriate as a way of reducing marijuana initiation and promoting cessation, as a general revenue source, or both.

While an ad valorem tax is simple to implement, there is no guarantee that it would cover the costs associated with legalizing marijuana in California. In particular, as market prices fall, the revenues generated from the marijuana tax will also fall. As evidenced by the Colorado experience,¹⁵¹ greater supply likely will drive down the price of marijuana and marijuana products in California. There is also a danger of price manipulation by the marijuana industry.¹⁴⁷ In Colorado, price manipulation has been an issue, in which retailers are increasingly lowering prices to compete with other marijuana retail outlets.¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴

The existence of an illicit untaxed market complicates tax policymaking due to concerns that if the marijuana tax is too high it would drive consumers to the illicit market.¹⁵⁵ A comprehensive demand reduction program would probably reduce this problem.

If marijuana-related costs follow the same trajectory as tobacco, then it is likely that the tax will not generate enough revenue to cover administrative costs and healthcare costs to California taxpayers. While the costs of treating marijuana-induced illness is unknown, in 2009, the healthcare costs of smoking in California was \$18.1 billion,¹⁵⁶ an amount that would have been much higher without California's comprehensive tobacco control program.¹⁵⁷ For an ad valorem tax to be large enough to cover total costs, it would need to be increased as costs go up, which, if marijuana use increases, are likely to grow faster than inflation.

The fiscal impact estimate reports of the California Legislative Analyst's Office of the two initiatives do not include the economic impact of a retail marijuana market on increasing health care costs for California government or the state as a whole.^{158, 159}

AUMA includes marijuana in smokefree laws but with a problematic loophole

The AUMA initiative is strong in that it will prohibit marijuana use wherever smoking or e-cigarette use is prohibited by state or local laws, and grants authority to local governments to adopt smokefree laws stronger than the state. Because the 1995 California statewide smokefree law contained exemptions, marijuana use will be permitted in 65% of hotel/motel guestrooms, banquet facilities and meeting rooms, small businesses (five or fewer employees), designated break rooms, private smoker lounges, warehouses, taxis, long-term health care facilities, and in multi-unit housing,¹⁶⁰ unless these venues are covered under local laws stronger than the state law. The AUMA initiative also creates a problematic loophole that will allow local governments to permit marijuana use in licensed facilities that admit only adults 21 years and older, are not visible to the public, and do not sell tobacco or alcohol. It will also permit smoking in private residences in the 1,000-foot buffer zone "only if such smoking is not detectable by others," which is an unenforceable measure.

Smokefree laws are designed to protect the health and safety of the public from secondhand smoke. They also have the beneficial side effect of decreasing the normalization of tobacco use, and supporting smoking cessation.^{79, 162, 163} To accomplish these goals for legalized marijuana, a public health framework would prohibit consumption anywhere combustible tobacco product consumption is prohibited under local and state smokefree laws. Local governments would not be preempted from adopting stronger regulations than the state, and local and state smokefree laws would not contain exemptions for indoor use in hospitality venues, marijuana retail stores, and marijuana clubs.

Both initiatives grant local governments authority to permit marijuana smoking inside marijuana retail stores or marijuana clubs. This provision ignores an important lesson from tobacco control that smokefree bars are particularly effective at protecting workers from secondhand smoke exposure and at denormalizing smoking. For example, employees working in bars and nightclubs with higher ambient nicotine concentrations (because smoking was permitted) have higher levels of nicotine exposure regardless of own smoking status.¹⁶¹

If local governments implement laws that would permit marijuana smoking inside marijuana stores or clubs, it will likely negatively impact the working class poor, immigrants, and individuals from communities of color, and will contribute to health disparities. Lower socioeconomic status individuals are more likely to work in establishments that do not have 100% smokefree coverage or circumvent the law through exemptions (i.e. workplaces that employ five or fewer employees).¹⁶⁴ In California, for example, exemptions in the statewide smokefree law disproportionately expose low income workers, Latinos, and young adults to secondhand tobacco smoke in the workplace,^{165, 166} thereby contributing to health disparities.^{161, 167} In addition, women may be disproportionately impacted by permitting marijuana smoking in hospitality venues because women are overrepresented in the hospitality industry.¹⁶⁸

This potential loophole also ignores the fact that exemptions in smokefree laws are difficult to amend once the law has been passed.¹⁶⁹ For example, over the last twenty years, the State of California has failed to close important loopholes (as noted above) in the state smokefree law (65% of hotel/motel guestrooms, banquet facilities and meeting rooms, small businesses [five or fewer employees], designated break rooms, tobacco retail stores, private smoker lounges, warehouses, taxis, long-term health care facilities, and multi-unit housing¹⁶⁰) despite attempts from legislators.¹³⁴ This situation highlights the importance of enacting effective measures initially to prevent unnecessary secondhand exposure to the public.

In addition, these exemptions will likely promote consumption and other risky behavior, such as driving while under the influence of marijuana. While allowing for such on-site consumption at marijuana businesses or clubs is based on the view that it will allow for adults to use marijuana in a responsible way, such social use away from home not only creates a risk of increasing overall use but also facilitates marijuana consumption prior to driving home while still under its influence. The reality is that similar to bars failing to promote socially responsible alcohol consumption,¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷² marijuana retailers with the financial incentive to promote overconsumption will replicate this behavior with marijuana.

The initiative's research program does not prioritize marijuana-induced disease research as a foundation for future policy

The AUMA initiative allocates \$10 million annually for ten years to support research conducted by universities in California. The Bureau of Marijuana Control will determine the grant amount, what type of research, and which universities will be funded. Research priorities may include but are not necessarily limited to:

- The University of California, San Diego Center for Medicinal Cannabis Research to conduct research on the benefits and adverse effects of marijuana as a pharmacological agent;
- Marijuana prevalence, maladaptive use among youth and adults, and prevalence of marijuana use disorders;
- Increase or decrease in alcohol or other drug use;
- Impact of treatment for maladaptive marijuana use or effectiveness of treatment programs;
- Public safety issues related to marijuana use;
- Health costs associated with marijuana use;
- Marijuana market prices and illicit market prices;
- Tax structures and rate;
- Economic impact analyses including job creation, workplace safety, revenues, taxes generated for state and local budgets;
- Criminal justice impacts;
- Analyzing regulatory authority of agencies in charge of enforcing the Act and whether other agencies may be more effective;
- Environmental impact;
- Geographic and demographic data of marijuana businesses;
- Outcomes achieved by AUMA to reduce marijuana-related offenses.

As noted earlier, it has already been established that marijuana is a human carcinogen and reproductive toxin³⁸ and has adverse cardiovascular effects.³⁷ It is likely that, as marijuana use expands and as more research is conducted, further adverse health effects will be identified and quantified. A public health framework would require continuing support for scientific research to understand the adverse health consequences of marijuana and guide marijuana prevention and control with the goal of preventing and minimizing marijuana use, and mitigating the human and economic costs of marijuana use in California. Research would also include evaluation of the marijuana prevention and control program as a crucial element to inform and assess program performance and impact, and provide government accountability.

Based on the Tobacco Related Disease Research Program created by Proposition 99 and administered by the University of California (based on peer review procedures developed by the National Institutes of Health), a comprehensive marijuana research program, developed by an independent research oversight committee that considers the changing marijuana prevention and control, and marijuana-related disease research environment, would include:

- Collecting surveillance data prior to legalization of retail sales to establish baseline data with which to measure regulatory effort success or failures, and to adjust future policy to protect the public health;
- Marijuana initiation and prevalence, impacts of marijuana use trends on tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drug use, and safety and health risks, including secondhand and third-hand exposure, and dual use of marijuana with other substances;
- Trends in abusive, heavy/regular use compared to intermittent use;
- The full range of adverse health effects, including increased risks of marijuana addiction, particularly during adolescence, increased and earlier risk of psychosis with heavy use of high-potency marijuana, the effects of exposing young brains to the substance such as long-lasting changes in brain function, accidental poisoning, cancer, pulmonary, cardiovascular, and reproductive effects;
- The public health risk of driving while under the influence of marijuana, including vehicle and other accidents caused by marijuana use;
- Taxation policies on initiation and prevalence, including related effects on health status, morbidity, mortality, and medical savings as well as efficiency of the tax system in deterring tax evasion;
- Identifying and countering industry efforts to undermine local and state initiatives that support marijuana prevention and control;
- Effect of marketing, advertising, packaging, and labeling on marijuana use, abuse, and initiation by underage persons, nonusers, and former users; and
- Market research data on the marijuana industry.

Based on the funding for the Tobacco Related Disease Research Program, a marijuana research program funded at \$85 million annually (based on the \$43.9 million allocated to TRDRP in 1989¹⁷³), adjusted annually for inflation, would likely allow timely accomplishment of these goals.

While addressing some of the research issues relevant to public health, AUMA fails to include other topics that are critical to gain a comprehensive understanding of the evolving

effects of legalizing marijuana on population health. Experience from Colorado, in which marijuana retail sales were legalized prior to the public health department receiving funding to conduct marijuana surveillance and prevention research,¹²² highlights the need to fund surveillance research prior to legalization. Without such data, it is impossible for public health officials and researchers to establish baseline data with which to measure regulatory effort successes or failures, or to adjust future policy to protect public health. In addition, the initiative ignores the high rates of dual tobacco and marijuana use and associated risk of nicotine and marijuana dependence,^{60, 174} as an important part of its research program.

The initiative's marketing and advertising restrictions fail to prevent underage exposure or heavy and regular use

The advertising and marketing restrictions in AUMA prohibit the use of cartoon characters, giveaways, and advertising on billboards located on an "Interstate Highway or State Highway which crosses the border of any other state." The signage requirements for marijuana licensees prohibit advertisements within 1,000 feet of schools and playgrounds. Event sponsorship, payments to promote marijuana in movies, and branded merchandise will be permitted as long as these promotions are not "specifically designed to appeal to certain demographics." There are no requirements that discounted offers and coupons be prohibited. Advertising on broadcast, cable, radio, print and digital communications will be permitted as long as 71.6% of the audience is "reasonably expected to be 21 years or older" based on audience composition data. Any individualized or direct digital advertising or marketing through email, the internet, and mobile devices will be required to use a method of age verification (e.g. user confirmation or birth date disclosure; Section 26151(c)), which is modeled on voluntary codes for digital direct marketing established by the alcohol industry that have failed to reduce underage minors' exposure to alcohol advertising and marketing.²³ Advertising and marketing restrictions will not apply to noncommercial speech.

Prohibiting advertising and marketing is one of the most effective tobacco and alcohol control interventions to protect the public from industry strategies having the effect of or known to target youth and young adults.¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁸ A public health framework for retail marijuana would prohibit the use of cartoon characters, event sponsorship, product placement in popular media, and branded merchandise. It would also prohibit giveaways, free samples, coupon redemption, distributing coupons in public areas, and distributing ads or coupons to underage people. Marijuana advertising would be prohibited on television, radio (where tobacco products have been prohibited from advertising since 1971), billboards, public transit, and restricted in print and digital communications (e.g., internet, social media, text, and other new-age advertising platforms) with 15% as the maximum underage audience composition for permitted advertising (roughly the percentage of minors over the age of 12 but under the age of 21).²⁴

There are at least eight problems with the advertising and marketing restrictions that will limit the AUMA initiative's ability to prevent underage (defined as under 21 years old) and other vulnerable group exposure to marijuana company advertising and targeted marketing.

1) While cartoon characters and giveaways are prohibited, marijuana advertising on billboards will be permitted as long as they are not on an "interstate highway or state

highway which crosses the border of any other state." It is unclear whether this will mean that billboards are only illegal on interstate highways or on state highways that cross into other states, or if they are both illegal. A public health framework would protect underage persons and vulnerable populations from exposure to advertising by explicitly prohibiting a licensee from advertising or marketing marijuana, marijuana products, or marijuana accessories using outdoor advertising, including billboards and outdoor stadium signs.

- 2) All advertising is prohibited within 1,000 feet of a "school," which is defined as grades K-12 (Section 26152(g)). Even though the initiative makes it illegal to use or sell to anyone under 21, the definition of "school" does not include community colleges or universities where a substantial fraction of the students are under age 21. A more consistent rule with the stated intent of AUMA to prevent underage initiation would be to prohibit all advertising within 1,000 feet of a school, community college, or university, recreational center or facility, public park, library, or game arcade, malls, movie theaters, or in a public transit vehicle or public transit shelter; and on or in a publicly owned or operated property, similar to Washington State's advertising restrictions.¹⁷⁹
- 3) It will be legal for marijuana companies to promote their products through payments to movie productions and through branded merchandise. For years, tobacco companies have used product placement in movies^{180, 181} and tobacco-branded merchandise (i.e. baseball cards, clothing apparel, backpacks, etc.) as a strategy to indirectly target youth and young adults who would otherwise be less susceptible to smoking initiation.¹⁶ Tobacco company promotional activities cause the onset and progression to smoking among teenagers and young adults.¹⁸² Owning alcoholbranded merchandise is also positively associated with underage alcohol initiation,¹⁸³⁻ ¹⁸⁵ and binge drinking among adolescent never drinkers.¹⁸⁶ In Colorado, without specific restrictions prohibiting branded merchandise, an entire marijuana apparel industry has developed,^{31, 32, 187} which likely will lead to serious public health consequences including increased underage appeal toward marijuana companies and their products. Preventing this situation from developing for marijuana in California would require marketing to be defined as "any promotional activity used to sell or encourage use of marijuana or marijuana products, including but not be limited to product placement in the media, branded merchandise (i.e. hats, t-shirts, backpacks or other merchandise that contains a company logo), free product samples, brand name sponsorships, and gifts in exchange for proofs of purchases", and to prohibit these forms of promotional activity.
- 4) Marijuana marketing, including but not limited to, sponsorship of sporting events and point of sale advertising, will be prohibited only if it is "specifically designed" to appeal to certain demographics. Event sponsorship will also be permitted as long as at least 71.6% of audience is "reasonably" expected to be 21 years of age or older. Language such as "calculated to" or "designed to" is problematic for public health because it requires a marijuana company to admit intent to market to or target underage persons. As is the case with the tobacco companies manipulating public

health regulations through industry lawyers,^{18, 126, 188, 189} marijuana companies may challenge these restrictions, arguing that they did not "intend" to market to or target underage persons, even if in effect their marketing practices led to underage use. A public health framework would replace the words "calculated to" or "designed to" with "known to" or "has the effect of" attracting underage persons (Sections 26150(b), 26150(e), 26151(b), 26152(e), 26155).

- 5) The stated intent of the drafters of AUMA is to "prohibit the marketing and advertising of nonmedical marijuana to persons younger than 21 years old or near schools or other places where children are present." Effectively operationalizing this intent would require that marijuana licensee sponsorships of all events including entertainment events (not just sporting events) be prohibited, unless they are adult-only events (defined as 21 and above). The initiative does not include such a provision.
- 6) Digital advertising is prohibited but is not clearly defined (Section 26151(b)). Effective public health legislation would define digital advertising explicitly and include, but not be limited to, text messaging, Instagram, Facebook, pop-up ads online, mobile ads or apps or other new-age advertising platforms in which those under 21 might download or use.^{24, 190-192}
- 7) There is an explicit exception for labels and coverings affixed to marijuana packages that will allow advertising on packaging (like inserts) and may be effective as point-of-sale advertising (Section 26150(b)(1)).
- 8) There is an explicit exception for editorials and news releases in magazines and newspapers, in which third parties, for example public relations firms, will be permitted to write "news pieces" that, are actually ads for marijuana and marijuana products (Section 26150(b)(2)). Additionally, the provision that exempts noncommercial speech (Section 26155(b)) from advertising and marketing restrictions will exclude testimonials written by public relations firms or other third parties (i.e., industry trade groups) that would have the effect of promoting marijuana use.

Experience with tobacco and alcohol control provides a strong public health rationale for requiring the threshold for underage exposure be reduced from 28.4% to 15%, as the 28.4% (100%-71.6%) threshold is an ineffective measure that permits companies to advertise and market their products in media outlets where youth are more likely to be exposed.^{23, 24} For example, a 2000 study found that *Sports Illustrated* had the highest number of tobacco and alcohol advertisements whereas *Rolling Stone* had the highest number of alcohol advertisements.¹²⁰ (For comparison purposes, *Rolling Stone* 's audience under age 18 is twice that of *Time* magazine¹⁹³). Similarly, researchers at the Center on Alcohol Marketing and Youth at Georgetown University found that youth (12-20 years old) were exposed to 45% more beer and 27% more spirits advertisements than legal drinking-aged adults.¹⁹⁴ The AUMA initiative's advertising and marketing restrictions will permit marijuana companies to place advertisements where youth are likely to be exposed, and possibly more likely to be exposed than adults.

The way to protect youth most effectively and prevent advertising that encourages excessive or abusive use (while still allowing advertising to legal adult customers), would be to allow retail marijuana advertising only inside licensed, adult-only retail outlets that sell retail marijuana and marijuana products (with some text-only signage allowed outside to inform adult buyers that they can purchase such products there). In addition, tax deductions for advertising and marketing would not be allowed in order to increase costs of marijuana company promotional activity.

An additional tool to protect underage people and vulnerable populations from marijuana industry targeted marketing tactics would be to have in place a comprehensive set of sunshine disclosure policies. Through sunshine disclosure laws, marijuana companies would be required to report to the California Department of Public Health all paid advertising expenditures, price discounting and incentives, promotional allowances, payments to retailers and wholesalers, and contributions to elected officials.¹⁹⁵ The CDPH would create reports of the data collected from marijuana companies and these reports would be required by law to be publicly available.¹⁹⁶ These laws are important to promote government transparency (e.g., political campaign contributions) and to discourage industry payments to professionals (e.g., pharmaceutical industry payments to physicians). Additionally, these laws are an important strategy to address and reduce health disparities by removing access, as evidenced by tobacco and alcohol company marketing practices,¹⁹⁷ to key marketing tools that would target underage persons, low income groups, and communities of color.

The AUMA initiative is strong in that it prohibits marijuana companies from advertising or marketing their products using false or misleading health-related statements or claims. These claims may include that the product has therapeutic benefits; all advertising will be required to be "truthful" and "appropriately substantiated" (Sections 26154 and 26151(d)).

The AUMA initiative fails to include other important restrictions that would prevent marijuana companies from using marketing claims to increase the appeal and safety of their products. Marijuana companies will be permitted to market their products as "natural" or "less harmful" than other marijuana, tobacco, or alcohol products. Marijuana and marijuana products with a "certified organic designation" will not be required to include an additional warning statement that informs the consumer that the product is not safe or safer than other marijuana products because it is organic. Tobacco companies use similar marketing claims on tobacco products (e.g. Natural American Spirit uses descriptors such as "additive-free" and "organic"), which are often rated by young people and smokers as more appealing and less harmful than products without these descriptors.^{198, 199}

One way to prevent the likelihood that marijuana companies would take advantage of the weak language for restrictions on health-related messaging, would be to require that all advertising and marketing statements and claims be evidence-based and approved by the Department of Public Health, including claims about the product improving sex, energy, sleep, weight reduction, vitamin supplements, among other health-related claims that would increase product appeal.

The initiative's product standards do not protect consumers

Under the AUMA initiative, product standards will be based on voluntary codes established by industry organizations rather than independent public health agencies, whose primary mission is protecting public health. AUMA prohibits the sale of marijuana and marijuana products that exceed the minimum level of contaminants set forth by the American Herbal Pharmacopoeia, an herbal product industry organization²⁰⁰ that creates herbal product industry standards, reviews traditional and scientific data, and publishes this information in monographs and other materials for public and commercial distribution.²⁰¹ These contaminants include residual solvents, butane, propane, and poisons, toxins, or carcinogens, such as methanol, isopropyl alcohol, methylene chloride, acetone, benzene, toluene, and trichloroethylene. The toxic chemical, nicotine, is not included.

AUMA prohibits the sale of marijuana and marijuana products that exceed the level of residual volatile organic compounds of the voluntary standards established by the United States Pharmacopeia, a nonprofit organization that includes members of the pharmaceutical, food, and dietary supplement industries²⁰² that, in collaboration with stakeholders including industry representatives, sets national standards for the strength and quality of drugs, food, and dietary supplements. Licensed testing facilities would be required to follow standard methods set forth by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) for testing and calibration activities including marijuana and marijuana product sampling, rather than the Department of Public Health.

As is the case with tobacco companies influencing tobacco product standards that are antithetical to public health, it is likely that industry representation in these organizations will result in standards that prioritize commercial interests over public health. The standards established by the ISO for tobacco and tobacco products have failed to protect consumers' health and safety, largely due to the tobacco companies' role in influencing ISO standard methods to measure tar and nicotine levels.¹⁹⁹ The tobacco companies, through the industry-dominated Cooperation Center for Scientific Research Relative to Tobacco (CORESTA), pushed industry-friendly tests and scientific evidence to establish ISO standard methods that yielded lower tar and nicotine levels than those actually present in cigarettes. The flawed measurement permitted the cigarette companies to market their products using specific health claims (e.g. "mild" or "light"), suggesting these products were safe or had a reduced risk of harm. Tobacco companies have also claimed their products were "less toxic", "natural", or "additive-free", among other misleading claims that would lead consumers to perceive their products were safe.

A public health framework would provide the CDPH with the power to enact strong potency limits and product quality testing for marijuana products, with a clear mission to protect public health. The CDPH would set a maximum THC per serving size level using evidencebased recommendations for new users, with packaging indicating individual single servings and a maximum amount per package. The CDPH would be permitted to change these amounts based on the available and emerging evidence. The independent advisory committee would advise the Legislature on how to create tax incentives for producers to create less potent products. Additives that would increase potency, toxicity, or addictive potential, or that would create unsafe combinations with other psychoactive substances would be prohibited. In addition to additives prohibited by the CDPH, marijuana and marijuana products would not include nicotine, alcohol, caffeine or other chemicals that increase the carcinogenicity, cardiac effects, or other toxicity when consumed as intended, as well as flavors that appeal to underage persons.²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷ Products that contain dangerous contaminants such as residual butane and other solvents, and other chemicals not safe for consumption or inhalation would not be approved. Marijuana companies would be required to submit applications to the CDPH prior to marketing or selling new marijuana products.

Under the AUMA initiative, the marijuana product safety requirements are inadequate to minimize public health harms. There are no limitations on how many servings may be in a single marijuana product. The AUMA initiative's serving size THC level is twice the maximum limit recommended by the Oregon Retail Marijuana Scientific Advisory Committee to the Oregon Health Authority, which is that marijuana and marijuana products contain 5 mg of THC per serving (recommended amount for new users²⁰⁸) and each package be limited to a maximum of 10 servings (10 x 5 mg = 50 mg per package).

The maximum THC per serving size level of 10 mg of tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) per serving is written into the initiative and, so, cannot be easily changed as new information on the effects and toxicity of marijuana and marijuana products accumulates. The Legislature will be able to adjust THC per serving amounts; however, as noted above the Legislature has failed to close important loopholes in the state smokefree law. It has also failed to increase the cigarette tax in 23 years (last cigarette tax increase was \$0.10 per pack in 1993), despite evidence-based research that supports tobacco tax increases to deter youth initiation and minimize consumption.²⁰⁹⁻²¹¹

While the AUMA initiative mandates that products will be required to be contained in childproof containers, there is the potential that marijuana companies would take advantage of the weak language for product regulations. The requirement for marijuana and marijuana products states that products may not be "designed to be appealing to children or be easily confused with commercially sold candy or foods that do not contain marijuana." Because the intent of design is hard to determine and prove, an enforceable public health standard would replace "designed to" with "have the effect of" or "is known to be" appealing to children or easily confused with non-marijuana candy or food products.

As discussed above, the CDPH will be required to develop product and testing standards consistent with voluntary codes set by industry organizations, which are unlikely to be strong enough to protect public health. Marijuana companies will be permitted to increase marijuana's potency and addictiveness through other addictive substances (nicotine, alcohol, or caffeine) or other additives that would make marijuana more toxic when inhaled, or palatable through flavors. From experience in tobacco and alcohol control, ^{16, 28, 113, 212} flavoring agents that enhance palatability create products that largely appeal to youth and young adults.²¹³ New age products, such as e-cigarettes, also use flavoring agents in liquid nicotine that are attracting youth and young adults to these products.^{214, 215} The initiative also fails to prohibit the use of other additives or ingredients that would mislead consumers into perceiving marijuana products as less harmful or beneficial (e.g., by adding vitamins or nutrients) or address fire safety.

The initiative's marijuana labeling requirements will not deter underage persons from initiating marijuana or fully inform adults

The AUMA initiative requires marijuana to include the following warning label, in bold and capitalized print:

"GOVERNMENT WARNING: THIS PACKAGE CONTAINS MARIJUANA, A SCHEDULE I CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE. KEEP OUT OF REACH OF CHILDREN AND ANIMALS. MARIJUANA MAY ONLY BE POSSESSED OR CONSUMED BY PERSONS 21 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER UNLESS THE PERSON IS A QUALIFIED PATIENT. MARIJUANA USE WHILE PREGNANT OR BREASTFEEDING MAY BE HARMFUL. CONSUMPTION OF MARIJUANA IMPAIRS YOUR ABILITY TO DRIVE AND OPERATE MACHINERY. PLEASE USE EXTREME CAUTION."

For concentrates, edibles, or topical products containing marijuana or marijuana concentrates and other ingredients, the warning label adds the statement: "THE INTOXICATING EFFECTS OF MARIJUANA PRODUCTS MAY BE DELAYED UP TO TWO HOURS."

Requirements, including for label placement or font size, will be established by the Bureau of Marijuana Control or the California Department of Public Health. Both the Bureau and the CDPH will have authority over developing standards for child resistant packaging, and over requirements for labels to include information on serving size and amount of THC per serving size. The warning label is required to be included on all marijuana and marijuana products, and packaging, including inserts. It is not clear which regulatory agency will establish these regulations or how the standards will be developed.

The warning label under the AUMA initiative is modeled on the warning label for alcohol products, which has been found to be ineffective at communicating health messages on the specific health risks of alcohol consumption to the public.²¹⁶⁻²¹⁹ There are at least six specific problems with this warning label.

- The language is written at a very high reading level not familiar to the general public²²⁰ (e.g. marijuana is a "Schedule 1 controlled substance" and "Qualified patient"), and is not presented in terms that will communicate effectively to low literate adults.^{221, 222} Based on the Flesch-Kincaid readability test, the AUMA warning label is on the reading level of high school graduates (Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level: 10.1) and the average grade level across several tests for the AUMA warning is 9.8. Health information directed toward the general public should aim for a grade level of around 6-7 as per National Institutes of Health recommendations.²²³
- 2) The presence of "GOVERNMENT WARNING" at the beginning of the warning label is likely to weaken or effectively communicate the health message to the public. Tobacco companies strongly oppose unattributed warnings as they may strengthen the anti-smoking message on their products.²²⁴ Further, the use of all text and capital letters reduces readability.^{225, 226}

- At 65 words long, it includes too much information, and is six times longer than the NIH recommended word limit (10-15 words) for health-related materials for the general public.^{223, 227}
- 4) The warning only mentions one (i.e., harmful for pregnant and breastfeeding women) of several already-known adverse health effects associated with marijuana use, including cardiovascular impairment,^{37, 41, 42} respiratory problems,⁴² long-lasting detrimental changes in brain function, and elevated risks of mental health disorders (e.g., anxiety, mood, and psychotic).⁴²
- 5) The warning does not include positive messaging (e.g. health or economic benefits) to encourage marijuana users to quit.²²⁸

While the AUMA initiative requires the warning label be included on all marijuana and marijuana products, and packaging, including inserts, it fails to require warning labels be prominently displayed on all advertisements and marketing materials.

Large graphic warnings and plain packaging are proven strategies to reduce tobacco use, discourage nonsmokers from initiating, and encourage smokers to quit,²²⁹⁻²³² and have become the global standard adopted widely outside the United States.²³²⁻²³⁶ While federal law preempts the authority of states and localities to implement these policies for tobacco (and the FDA has not successfully issued regulations to do so), there are no statutory restrictions on California implementing such policies for marijuana.

A public health framework for retail marijuana would ensure that health warning labels follow state of the art packaging requirements for tobacco products used in other countries around the world, including Canada, Australia, Brazil, and Uruguay.²³²⁻²³⁵ A public health framework for marijuana regulations would require warning labels on marijuana and marijuana products be large, prominently featured, and contain imagery in addition to text. Warning labels would provide clear, direct, and accurate information to the user of health risks associated with marijuana use and with exposure to secondhand marijuana smoke. Public health messages would include increased risk for addiction,⁴² cancer, reproductive toxicity, cardiovascular disease, ^{37, 41, 42} respiratory,⁴² and neurological problems (long-lasting detrimental changes in brain function⁴²) and would warn against driving a vehicle or operating equipment. The labels would be large (at least 50% of packaging) on front and back, and not limited to just the sides.²³⁷

The language in the labels would be simple, at a reading level appropriate for the audience, including low literacy adults who are at greatest risk. Warning labels would include graphic images that provide factual information on the health risks associated with using marijuana as an intervention to prevent initiation and promote quitting. There would be several rotating warning labels that would be updated regularly, as new scientific evidence becomes available, to prevent "burn out" of stale warning labels.

The California Department of Public Health should have complete authority over packaging of marijuana and marijuana products. This authority should explicitly include, which the initiative does not, the option of requiring plain packaging. Plain packaging could contain graphic images of the specific health risks of marijuana use similar to those required for cigarettes in Australia and other countries,^{235, 238} or could also be required to have a plain color

(i.e. such as the color of a brown paper bag), a standardized small and simple font for the brand name, and no graphics.

Given the extensive research on the effectiveness of plain packaging, or packaging with graphic health warning labels to reduce and prevent tobacco use,²²⁹⁻²³² it is unlikely that the warning labels under AUMA will protect the public by preventing underage initiation, overconsumption in adults, or accidental ingestion.

The regulatory commission that ReformCA establishes is dominated by industry representatives who will likely prioritize protecting business over protecting health

Although the AUMA and ReformCA initiatives share many of the same provisions for regulating retail marijuana in California, there are some important differences. (AUMA is more prescriptive but the general provisions are similar.) Rather than granting existing public agencies jurisdiction over marijuana, ReformCA creates a new California Cannabis Commission as the single rulemaking body to develop marijuana regulations for health education programs, research, licensing, marketing and advertising, products, packaging, and labeling standards. Five of the seven appointed members of the 13-member Commission are required to be from the marijuana industry and one from organized labor; public health is not represented (Table 2). Such industry domination of the California Cannabis Commission would almost certainly prioritize business development over protecting public health.

The California Cannabis Commission would have authority over regulations for retail marijuana licensees, including time, place, and manner restrictions, and over restrictions on the number and types of licensees.

Given its membership, it is unlikely that it would establish strong product regulations or state of the art packaging and labeling requirements similar to tobacco products to discourage and prevent marijuana use. Indeed, there is nothing preventing the Commission from establishing regulations that would permit highly potent or products designed, like modern cigarettes, to maximize addictive potential.

ReformCA does not include dedicated funds to any specific health program and, most important, there are no earmarked funds for marijuana prevention and control programs. It is unlikely that the Commission would create a robust, anti-marijuana campaign to counter marijuana company advertisements and marketing on television, radio, and the internet.

The ReformCA initiative allows marijuana consumption in most public places, including indoors in restaurants, bars, and marijuana retail stores.

Although ReformCA permits local governments to adopt regulations on public consumption, and location and operating hours for marijuana retailers stronger than the state, local governments are preempted from other important aspects of regulating marijuana commercial activity.

A local government would not be able to prohibit cultivation, production, testing, distribution, or retail licenses unless the action was approved by a majority of voters in an election.²³⁹ Requiring a direct popular vote creates a substantial economic and political barrier that will discourage local jurisdictions from quickly addressing new problems and issues with legal marijuana marketing, sales and use as they arise. It also imposes substantial costs on local governments or citizens to hold an election and mount a campaign to assert local control, something that will almost certainly be opposed by moneyed marijuana interests.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The BRC and TEROC recommendations, combined with this analysis, define a framework for legalizing marijuana in a way that ends the criminal justice problem that the War on Drugs created, while simultaneously creating a policy and social environment that will prevent initiation, reduce consumption, and preserve the hard-fought gains of tobacco control. The following are broad recommendations, some included in the AUMA initiative, for regulating marijuana within a public health framework for California, and other jurisdictions considering legalizing its sale and use.

Regulatory Agencies

- The goal of the lead regulatory agency should be to develop regulations for marijuana in a public health rather than business framework to reduce the impact of marijuana on public health by preventing initiation, reducing consumption, and encouraging marijuana users to quit.
- The California Department of Public Health should be the lead regulatory agency of the retail marijuana market, with the Department of Food and Agriculture, Department of Consumer Affairs, and the Board of Equalization playing subsidiary roles in their specialty areas.
- The CDPH should develop regulatory language for manufacturing, marketing and distribution of marijuana and marijuana products, establish product standards appropriate to protecting public health, including requiring marijuana companies to submit detailed applications prior to marketing or selling new marijuana products.

Marijuana Advisory Committee

- The priority for the advisory committee should be to guide marijuana regulation and education to protect public health.
- The independent advisory board should be similar in structure to the Tobacco Education Research and Oversight Committee, and consist of public health practitioners and researchers specializing in marijuana prevention and control.
- The committee should not contain any industry representatives; there should be strong conflict of interest standards for committee membership to prevent the creation of an industry similar to the tobacco industry.

Licensing

- The licensing system should be an integral part of enforcing public health regulations, including prohibitions on underage sales and regulations regarding product characteristics and purity.
- Licensing requirements should prohibit private license transfers, and prohibit entities from holding more than one license.
- Licensing fees should be established and periodically reviewed to ensure that they are adequate to cover administration and enforcement costs.

Sales to People Under 21

- The goal of the retail sales laws should be to reduce the appeal and prevent initiation of marijuana and marijuana products in underage persons.
- The initiatives should maintain the requirement that the minimum-age to purchase or sell marijuana be 21 years old or above.
- No one under minimum age should be allowed in any store that sells marijuana, including the staff.
- Retailers should be held to a strict standard for requesting and inspecting age identifications, and specify that government-issued photo ID is required for age verification.
- Compliance checks should be routinely conducted, and retailers who provide marijuana to minors should be subject to license sanctions that include license suspensions and revocations.
- Licensing restrictions should control retailer density and require licensed facilities to be prohibited within 1,000 feet of schools, parks, libraries, pharmacies or health care facilities. and other young adult and vulnerable population-sensitive locations, and be required to be at least 1,000 feet from other retail licensed locations.
- The definition of a "school" should be extended to include educational establishments where at least 75% of the population are younger than 21 to include colleges and universities.
- Marijuana should not be sold in pharmacies or health care facilities.
- Marijuana should not be sold where tobacco or alcohol products are sold.
- Vending machines, self-service displays, coupons including digital coupons, promotions, discounts, sale of flavored products and other offers that would encourage underage initiation should be prohibited.
- Electronic commerce such as internet, mail order, text messaging, and social media sales should be prohibited.
- Only face-to-face transactions with robust age-verification should be allowed.
- Local governments should not be preempted from adopting stronger regulations than state law, including additional annual licensing fees and penalties for noncompliance.

Unitary Marijuana Market

- To simplify regulation and education and protect against marijuana industry manipulation of inconsistency between medical and retail markets, the medical market should be eliminated.
- All legal marijuana sales should be through the unified retail market.

Health Education and Prevention

- The goal of the marijuana prevention and control program should be to create a social and legal environment in which people do not consider marijuana use socially acceptable, and should be modeled on the California Tobacco Control Program.
- Both the new California Marijuana Control Program and the existing California Tobacco Control Program should coordinate efforts to address and reduce high levels of dual and crossover use of the two products.
- Local governments and health agencies should be given wide authority to implement marijuana prevention and control efforts, with technical training and assistance provided by the state.
- There should be an adequately funded and aggressive media educational campaign (paid radio, television, billboard, print advertising, internet and social media) that includes an advertising campaign to counter marijuana advertising, as well as public relations for general market and population-specific communities, with the goals of preventing initiation and minimizing marijuana consumption.
- The marijuana prevention and control program should be supported with earmarked funds of at least \$340 million annually (adjusted annually for inflation) from marijuana tax revenues.

Marijuana Tax

- The marijuana tax should be set at a level that is at least high enough to cover (together with annual licensing fees) the costs of administration, enforcement, the marijuana prevention and control program, and the marijuana education and research program.
- The tax (and licensing fees) should be reviewed and increased annually to, at a minimum, adjust for inflation based on the Consumer Price Index of the Bureau of Labor Statistics.
- Additional tax increases should be permitted (with funds going to the General Fund after the costs of running the marijuana-related programs) if doing so is determined to be in the public interest, including using tax as a way of reducing marijuana initiation and promoting cessation.

Smokefree Laws

- Inhaled marijuana should be included in all state and local smokefree laws, including marijuana consumed using e-cigarettes and marijuana aerosolizers, and other similar devices.
- All marijuana retail stores and marijuana clubs should comply with smokefree legislation.

Research Program

- Research priorities should include reducing the prevalence and social acceptability of marijuana use, investigating the health risks and benefits of marijuana use, and monitoring marijuana industry activities.
- The research program should begin prior to legalization or retail sales to allow collecting surveillance data to establish baseline data with which to measure regulatory effort successes or failures, and to adjust future policy to protect the public health.
- Research should include monitoring, surveillance, and evaluation of the marijuana prevention and control program.
- An independent oversight committee without industry representatives should develop research priorities and evaluate priorities based on the changing marijuana prevention and control and marijuana-related disease research environment.
- Initial research priorities should include but not be limited to marijuana use rates (polyproduct use), secondhand smoke exposure, and other safety and health risks; potential adverse effects; taxation policies; identifying and countering industry efforts to undermine marijuana prevention and control; and marijuana market research data.
- Research should be supported with earmarked funds of at least \$85 million annually (adjusted for inflation) from marijuana tax revenues.

Marketing and Advertising

- The goal should be to minimize exposure to marijuana marketing and advertising among the general population in order to decrease the number of nonusers or former users from initiating use, and to increase the number of current users to quit.
- Advertising should be limited to the interior of licensed, adult-only marijuana retail stores.
- The threshold for underage audience composition data should be no greater than 15% for any pro-marijuana advertising on television, internet, radio, or print.
- Sponsorships, coupons, giveaways, discounted offers, and promotional items with marijuana brands or logos (hats or t-shirts) should be prohibited.
- Advertising on TV, radio, internet, social media, text messaging, and other digital platforms should be prohibited.
- Tax deductions for advertising and marketing should not be allowed.
- Sunshine disclosure policies should be in place, in which marijuana companies are required to report price discounting and incentives, promotional allowances, payments to retailers and wholesalers, and contributions to elected officials.
- Marijuana companies should be prohibited from marketing their products as "natural" or "less harmful" than other marijuana, tobacco, or alcohol products.
- Marijuana and marijuana products with a "certified organic designation" should be required to include an additional warning statement that informs the consumer that the product is not safe or safer than other marijuana and marijuana products because it is "certified organic designated."
- Advertising and marketing statements and claims should be evidence-based and approved by the Department of Public Health.

• Marketing claims about the product improving sex, energy, sleep, weight reduction, vitamin supplements, among other health-related claims that would increase product appeal should be prohibited.

Product Regulations

- Product standards should be set by the California Department of Public Health with a specific mandate to protect public health.
- The California Department of Public Health should set a maximum THC level per serving and per package based on evidence-based research supportive of public health and review this standard periodically in light of accumulating scientific evidence.
- No marijuana sales should be permitted until such standards are issued.
- Marijuana companies should be prohibited from adding any addictive and psychoactive substances such as nicotine, alcohol, and caffeine to marijuana and marijuana products.
- Marijuana companies should be prohibited from adding other additives that would make marijuana more toxic when inhaled.
- Marijuana companies should be prohibited from using flavorants, palatability enhancers, vitamins, or additives that increase underage appeal.
- The initiative should set deadlines for when regulations that deal with implementation of the law need to be promulgated.

Marijuana Warning Label and Packaging Requirements

- The California Department of Public Health should develop warning labels based on international best practices for warning labels on tobacco products.
- The goal of the warning label should be to inform consumers of the potential harms of using marijuana and marijuana products.
- Warning labels on marijuana and marijuana products should be large (at least 50% of packaging) and on both front and back, prominently featured, and contain imagery in addition to text.
- Warnings should reflect current and emerging evidence on the adverse health risks of marijuana use and secondhand exposure risks including cancer, reproductive toxicity, cardiovascular disease, and neurological problems (i.e., long-lasting detrimental changes in brain function).
- The language in warning labels should be simple and appropriate for low literacy readers.
- There should be several different warnings that rotate.
- Warnings should be updated periodically to reflect the latest scientific knowledge of health effects and to prevent warning "burn out."
- The California Department of Public Health should have authority over packaging of marijuana, marijuana products, and marijuana accessories including the option of requiring plain packaging.
- Packaging should be childproof to prevent accidental ingestion.
- Marijuana product labels should contain serving size and the amount of THC per serving.

Local Control

- There should be no preemption of local authority in any area of marijuana regulation.
- Local governments should be allowed to exercise, within their jurisdictions, as much additional control as they desire over regulating the retail marijuana industry, including cultivation, production, distribution, licensing (including not licensing) marijuana businesses, sales, use (including smokefree laws), and marketing/advertising.
- Local governments should be preempted from adopting less stringent laws than the state.

These proposed changes to the two marijuana legalization initiatives would not only reduce public health harms and risks from the passage of either initiative, but would also still allow for the legalized market to out-compete the illicit market. The recommended changes would not increase government costs and would likely provide savings to taxpayers who otherwise would have to pay for the adverse consequences and health-related costs of a less regulated marijuana market.

CONCLUSION

California has been a global leader in tobacco control, and this leadership has resulted in hard won lessons regarding the importance of strong and comprehensive regulation to protect public health. Any marijuana regulatory framework that is approved for California should not only create policies that are consistent with and support California's tobacco control efforts, but also should incorporate the lessons from tobacco and alcohol control successes and failures, to proactively create sensible and necessary regulations, oversight, and enforcement, related to the production, sale, taxation, and marketing of retail marijuana, to minimize underage initiation and reduce population prevalence. One of the most important lessons from the California tobacco control experience is that, to minimize the likelihood that California will exchange a criminal justice failure for a public health failure, a robust marijuana prevention and control program modeled on the evidence-based California Tobacco Control Program, must be established at the same time. Such a program would be able to successfully counter the activities of a burgeoning marijuana industry that may work to thwart public health regulations in order to protect and increase its profits.

 Table 1: Comparison of Recommendations in the Blue Ribbon Commission's Pathways Report: Policy Options for Regulating Marijuana in California¹ and the Tobacco Education and Research Oversight Committee's Public Comment on Marijuana Regulation in California² with the Control, Regulate, and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act of 2016 (AUMA)³ and the Marijuana Legalization. Initiative Statute 2016 Ballot Initiative (ReformCA)⁴

Recommendation	BRC	<u> </u>	AUMA	ReformCA
Regulatory Agencies				
Primary regulatory agency in charge of controlling the industry and overseeing implementation	Mentioned† (p.20)	Department of Public Health	Department of Consumer Affairs	Department of Consumer Affairs
Marijuana Advisory Committee			Allalis	Allalis
Independent board appointed by Governor or Legislature	Mentioned	Yes**	No***	No
	(p.21)	<u></u>		
Public health researchers and academics with experience in marijuana prevention and control	No	Yes	No	No
Marijuana industry or organized labor affiliation?	No	No	Yes	Yes
Licensing Requirements	,			
Requires licenses for each part of the supply chain	Yes	Yes	Yes	Mentioned (p.13)
Prohibits private license transfers	No	No	No	No
Prohibits entities from holding more than one license	No	No	No	No
Prevention of Sales to People Under 21			luna mu	
Protect local control	Yes (p. 23)	Yes	Yes	No
Require retailers be licensed with fees that cover costs of	Yes (p. 88)	Yes	Mentioned ⁵	Yes (p.16)
administration and enforcement		_ •••	(p. 37)	(P)
Restrict sales to 21 and older	Yes (p. 25)	Yes	Yes	Yes (p.5)
Require ID verification at point of sale	Yes (p. 25)	Yes	No	No
Require marijuana retailers be prohibited within 1,000 feet	(P	Yes	No ⁶	No ⁶
from underage-sensitive areas	[[
Prohibit vending machine sales, self-service displays, with	No	Yes	No	No
vendor assisted only sale				
Unitary Marijuana Market	LL			
Maintain dual systems	Mentioned † (p.34)	No	Yes ⁷	Yes ⁷
Health Education and Prevention	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Media campaign	Yes	Yes	Limited ⁸ (p.40)	No
Aimed at general population?	Yes (p. 68)	Yes	No	No
Harms of marijuana	Yes (p. 68)	Yes	Mentioned (p. 40)	No
Reducing secondhand smoke exposure	No	Yes	No	No
Countermarketing highlighting marijuana industry	No	Yes	No	No
marketing tactics				
Motivating marijuana users to quit and providing free services	No	Yes	No	No
Harms and consequences of driving while under the influence of marijuana	Yes (p. 68)	Yes	Yes (p. 40)	No
Potency education	Yes	No	No	No
Adverse effects on environment	Mentioned*	Yes	No	No
	(p. 70)		<u> </u>	
Community-based education				
Reflects cultural and ethnic diversity	Mentioned† (p.10, 68)	Yes	No	No
Tailored to specific populations (LGBT, African	Mentioned*	Yes	No	No
American, young adults) to address health disparities	(p.10)			
School-based education				
Emphasized?	Yes (p. 27)	No ⁹	Yes (p. 48, 49)	Yes (p.10, 11)
Treatment	'Yes (p. 27)	Yes	No	No
Surveillance	•		-	•
Underage and adult prevalence	Yes (p. 26)	Yes	Mentioned	No

· · · · ·			(p. 47)	
Dual use	Yes (p. 26)	Yes	No	No
Underage sales	Yes (p. 64)	Yes	No	No
Marijuana Tax				
Tax based on THC level and not based on weight	Mentioned† (p. 51)	Yes	No	No
Dedicate portion of tax to prevention, surveillance, and research	Yes (p. 26)	Yes	No	No
Smokefree Laws	I		-1	
Protect local control	Yes(p. 18)	Yes	Yes (p.38)	Yes (p. 18)
Prohibit marijuana use wherever tobacco smoking is prohibited	Yes(p. 25)	Yes	Yes (p. 6-7) 10, 11	No
Wherever e-cigarettes are prohibited	Yes	No	Yes (p.7)	No
Research Program				
Related to marijuana use, both occasional and frequent, and with other substances (tobacco, alcohol, and other drugs)	Yes (p.64)	Yes	Mentioned ¹² (p. 47)	No
Safety and health risks (poison control center calls, cardiovascular, respiratory and brain development)	Yes (p.65)	Mentioned †	Yes	No
Market research on resulting marijuana industry	Yes (p.64)	Yes	Mentioned ¹² (p. 47)	No
Marketing and Advertising	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Prohibit advertising appealing to underage persons	Yes (p. 74)	Yes	Yes (p.34, 35)	Mentioned ¹⁴ (p. 15)
Prohibit advertising on billboards, television, radio	Yes	No	35) No ¹³	Mentioned ¹⁴ $(p. 15)$
Prohibit marketing to minors	Yes	Yes (p. 36)	Yes	No
Prohibit cartoon characters	Yes (p. 42)	Yes	Yes (p. 35)	No
Prohibit marketing within 1,000 feet of underage-sensitive areas	No	Yes	No ⁶	No ⁶
Prohibit free sampling, sport and cultural event sponsorship	Mentioned [†] (p. 46)	Yes	No	No
Prohibit coupons	$\begin{array}{c} (p. 16) \\ \text{Mentioned}^{\dagger} \\ (p. 46) \end{array}$	Yes	No	No
Prohibit payments to promote marijuana in movies	No	Yes	No	No
Product Standards	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		- I	
Require 5mg maximum THC level per serving size	No ¹⁵	No	No	No
Require 50mg maximum THC level per package	No ¹⁵	No	No	No
Marijuana Labeling and Packaging				
Child resistant packaging	Yes (p. 25)	Yes	Yes (p. 32)	Mentioned (p. 15)
State of the art health warning labels based on tobacco	Mentioned † (p. 25)	Yes	No ¹⁶	No
Local Control				
Cultivation/Production	Yes	Yes	Yes	No ¹⁷
Taxation	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Sales	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Marketing and Advertising	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Smokefree	Yes	Yes	Yes	No ¹⁰
May prohibit any licensed marijuana business	Yes	Yes	Yes	No ¹⁷

Newsom G, Soltani A, Humphreys K. Pathways Report: Policy Options for Regulating Marijuana in California. Blue Ribbon Commission on Marijuana Policy: July 22, 2015. https://www.safeandsmartpolicy.org/wp-

content/uploads/2015/07/BRCPathwaysReport.pdf. ²Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee. Public Comment on Marijuana Regulation in California: July 17, 2015. https://tobacco.ucsf.edu/sites/tobacco.ucsf.edu/files/u9/TEROC%20Letter%20to%20Blue%20Ribbon%20Commission.pdf

³Sutton, M. The Control, Regulate, and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act of 2016: November 2, 2015.

https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/15-0103%20%28Marijuana%29 1.pdf? Also known as the Adult Use of Marijuana Act or AUMA.

⁴Jones, D. Huffman, A. The Marijuana Legalization. Initiative Statute: October 5, 2015.

https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/15-0075%20%28Marijuana%29.pdf? We are defining this initiative as the ReformCA initiative.

† Mentioned in report, but not recommended.

**Yes indicates provision or recommendation was included

***No may indicate that provision or recommendation was considered and rejected, or not addressed at all

⁵Fees established by the regulatory authority shall set an amount that will fairly and proportionately generate sufficient total revenue to cover costs

⁶Both initiatives require licensees shall operate businesses within 600 feet of a school. AUMA initiative prohibits advertising of marijuana within 1,000 feet of schools but not marketing and does not prohibit point-of-sale advertising

 7 Marijuana businesses with both a medical and retail license may permit persons 18 years or old with a valid identification card and a government-issued identification card on premises and may sell marijuana products and accessories to a person 18 years or older ⁸The initiative does not include a mass media campaign to educate the public on the adverse effects of marijuana legalization, use, or secondhand exposure. The Controller shall disperse the 60% of the leftover tax revenue into the Youth Education, Prevention, Early Intervention and Treatment Account to fund peer-run outreach and education to reduce stigma, anti-stigma campaigns, and community recovery networks

⁹For further information on TEROC's recommendations on engaging youth and young adults in tobacco control education and activities appropriate for their age, interests, and skills see Objective 5: Prevent Youth and Young Adults from Beginning to Use Tobacco in Changing Landscapes: Countering New Threats, The 2015-17 Master Plan of the Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee for California (p. 61-64). California Department of Public Health: January 2015.

http://cdph.ca.gov/services/boards/teroc.

¹⁰A local jurisdiction may permit indoor use of marijuana (combustible, aerosol, or edible) in licensed facilities (retailers or microbusinesses) if it is restricted to 21 years and older, not visible to the public, and prohibits sale of alcohol or tobacco. Food or non-alcoholic beverages not included in this provision

¹¹By March 1, 2018 the Division of Occupational Safety and Health shall convene an advisory committee to evaluate whether there is need to develop industry-specific regulations, including but not limited to, whether specific requirements are needed to address exposure to second-hand marijuana smoke by employees at facilities where on-site consumption of marijuana is permitted and shall present its findings to the Bureau of Marijuana Control by October 1, 2018 for the Bureau to take specific action, if any. ¹²The Controller shall distribute an annual sum of \$10,000,000 to public and private universities in California selected by the Bureau

on Marijuana Control to fund research for the purpose of: Impact on public health, increase or decrease in alcohol or other drug use; impact of treatment for maladaptive marijuana use or effectiveness of treatment programs; public safety issues related to marijuana use; marijuana prevalence, maladaptive use among youth and adults, and prevalence of marijuana use disorders; marijuana market prices, illicit market prices, tax structures and rate, economic impact analyses including job creation, workplace safety, revenues, taxes generated for state and local budgets, and criminal justice impacts; analyzing regulatory authority of agencies in charge of enforcing the Act and whether other agencies may be more effective; environmental impact; geographic and demographic data of marijuana businesses

¹³Prohibits advertising on billboards that does not cross a state or interstate highway but does not on broadcast, cable, radio, print and digital communications as long as 71.6% of the audience is reasonably expected to be 21 years or older as determined by reliable, upto-date audience composition data

¹⁴ReformCA initiative grants the California Cannabis Commission authority to place reasonable controls on advertising, safety restrictions, testing requirements, labeling, child-proof packaging, limits on dosage strengths

¹⁵TEROC does not address maximum THC requirements per serving or per package in its recommendations but the State of Oregon Department of Public Health's Retail Marijuana Scientific Advisory Committee recommended this standard based on the experiences of Colorado and Washington where maximum THC levels are 10 mg per serving and 100 mg per package as a more appropriate public health standard²⁰⁸ ¹⁶Warning label does not include information on the health risks of firsthand or secondhand smoke, or that secondhand marijuana

smoke contains chemicals known to the State of California to cause cancer

¹⁷Local governments may prohibit any type of marijuana business only through majority vote through initiative, may not prohibit indoor cultivation for personal use, or prohibit transportation of marijuana through jurisdiction

	Tobacco	AUMA	nmittee and ReformCA Regulatory Body ReformCA
Name	Tobacco Education	Determined by the Director of	California Cannabis Commission
	Research Oversight	the Department of Consumer	
	Committee	Affairs	
Туре	Advisory	Advisory	Regulatory Body
Specific Mandate	Advises the Legislature and Administration on the effectiveness and priorities of California's tobacco control program and tobacco policy	Guides the Bureau and the licensing authorities in developing standards and regulations that would protect public health while not imposing "unreasonably impracticable" regulations to perpetuate the black market.	Adopts, amends and rescinds rules and regulations over entire marijuana regulatory system
Agency Oversight	Department of Education and Department of Public Health, University of California Tobacco Related Disease Research Program	Department of Consumer Affairs Bureau of Marijuana Control, and Department of Food and Agriculture and Department Public Health	Office of Cannabis Regulation
Number of members	13	Determined by the Director of Department of Consumer Affairs	13
Determination of membership	Appointed by the Governor (8), Speaker of the Assembly (2), Senate Rules Committee (2), and Superintendent of Public Instruction (1)	Appointed by the Director of the Department of Consumer Affairs (all members)	Appointed by the Governor (3), the Speaker of the Assembly (2), Senate Rules Committee (2), and Ex Officio/Designated (6)
Membership requirements	Dedicated to reducing tobacco use or tobacco- related disease, and/or must be from professional education or from local health department	No specific requirements; members may include but not be limited to marijuana industry representatives, labor organizations, public health experts, state and local agencies, and the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control	Substantial experience in public health and medical marijuana (1), public policy and medical marijuana (1), environmental best practices for marijuana cultivation (1), medical cannabis patient or advocate (1), producing or providing medical marijuana (1), organized labor (1), law enforcement (1)
Defined public health representation?	Yes	No	No
Industry representation?	No	Yes	Yes; at least five required

	MA Initiative Licensing Classi	
Туре	Specific Requirements	Specific Restrictions
Cultivation	Constation of the second second	
Type 1	Specialty outdoor; Small	Outdoor cultivation using no artificial lighting of less than or equal to 5,000 square feet of total canopy size on one premises, or up to 50 mature plants on noncontiguous plots
Type 1A	Specialty indoor; Small	Indoor cultivation using exclusively artificial lighting of less than or equal to 5,000 square feet of total canopy size on one premises
Type 1B	Specialty mixed-light; Small	Combination of natural and supplemental artificial lighting at a maximum threshold to be determined by the licensing authority, of less than or equal to 5,000 square feet of total canopy size on one premises
Type 2	Outdoor; Small	Outdoor cultivation using no artificial lighting between 5,001 and 10,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premises
Туре 2А	Indoor; Small	Indoor cultivation using exclusively artificial lighting between 5,001 and 10,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premises
Type 2B	Mixed-light; Small	Combination of natural and supplemental artificial lighting at a maximum threshold to be determined by the licensing authority, between 5,001 and 10,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premises
Туре 3	Outdoor; Medium	No artificial lighting from 10,001 square feet to one acre, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premises
Type 3A	Indoor; Medium	Indoor cultivation using exclusively artificial lighting between 10,001 and 22,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premises
Type 3B	Mixed-light; Medium	Combination of natural and supplemental artificial lighting at a maximum threshold to be determined by the licensing authority, between 10,001 and 22,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premises
Type 4	Nursery	Cultivation of retail marijuana only; size not specified
Type 5	Outdoor; Large	Outdoor cultivation using no artificial lighting greater than one acre, inclusive of total canopy size. Cannot be issued before January 1, 2023; after that date may apply for a Type 6, 7, 10 license; cannot hold a Type 8, 11, or 12 license
Type 5A	Indoor; Large	Indoor cultivation using exclusively artificial lighting greater than 22,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premise. Cannot be issued before January 1, 2023; after that date may apply for a Type 6, 7, 10 license; cannot hold a Type 8, 11, or 12 license
Туре 5В	Mixed-light; Large	Combination of natural and supplemental artificial lighting at a maximum threshold to be determined by the licensing authority, greater than 22,000 square feet, inclusive, of total canopy size on one premise. Cannot be issued before January 1, 2023; after that date may apply for a Type 6, 7, 10 license; cannot hold a Type 8, 11, or 12 license
Manufacturer		,
Type 6	Level 1: Production using nonvolatile solvents, or no solvents	After January 1, 2023 may apply for a Type 5, 5A, or 5B license
Type 7	Level 2: Production using Volatile solvents	After January 1, 2023 may apply for a Type 5, 5A, or 5B license
Testing		
Туре 8	Test marijuana products for chemical composition compared to labeled content and for contaminants	Cannot hold licenses in any other stage of production
Retailer		
Type 10	Retail sale and delivery of marijuana products	May not hold a Type 5, 5A, or 5B license
Distributor		
Type 11	Distribution of marijuana and marijuana products	After January 1, 2023 may apply for a Type 5, 5A, or 5B license
Microbusiness	Cultinutinu 1. 1.1	Cultivation of modificants on 1 with a 10 000 0 / / / / /
Type 12	Cultivation, level 1 manufacturer, distributor, and retailer	Cultivation of marijuana on less than 10,000 square feet; may not hold a Type 5, 5A, or 5B license

Table 4 Dedicated Funds, Amounts, and Purpose for Programs under AUMA	
Account	Amount (millions)
Health Education	
Youth Education, Prevention, Early Intervention, Treatment Account to fund youth and school-based interventions for substance use disorder education and treatment	60% of leftover revenue
Business Development	
Governor Office of Business and Economic Development to fund programs to invest in economic development and job placement	\$10 million annually, increasing each year by \$10 million until 2023 when it is \$50 million annually
Research	
University of California, San Diego Center for Medicinal Cannabis Research to fund research on the benefits and adverse effects of marijuana as a pharmacological agent	\$2 million annually
Public universities or universities in California to fund research and evaluate implementation and effect of AUMA	\$10 million until 2029 (for ten years)
Medical Services	
No dedicated funds	\$0
Public Safety	
Department of California Highway Patrol to provide funding to develop field sobriety protocols for marijuana-related intoxication	\$3 million until 2023 (for five years)
State and Local Government Law and Enforcement Account to fund training, prevention, and education programs for driving while under the influence of alcohol and other drugs	20% of leftover revenue
Public Resources	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Environmental Restoration and Protection Account to fund cleanup and restoration of environmental damages in watersheds affected by cultivation, including damage that occurred prior to legalization	20% of leftover revenue
Regulation and Implementation	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
To cover administrative and enforcement costs, and costs incurred for performing duties imposed by AUMA	Unknown
To cover administrative costs of tax collection	Unknown but no greater than 4% total annual taxes received

Table 5: Marijuana tax revenue needed to cover costs associated with marijuana legaliz	zation
Purpose of the Program	Amount (millions)
Health Education	
Marijuana prevention and control program to fund media campaign and community-based initiatives	\$258 million
Research	
University of California (for grant making to eligible organizations) to fund marijuana- related disease research and education	\$82 million
Medical Services	
To fund medical services associated with increased consumption of marijuana and marijuana products	Unknown
Public Resources	
To fund environmental restoration and protection programs associated with cultivation	Unknown
Regulation and Implementation	
To fund administration, enforcement, licensing, and operating costs associated with legalization	Unknown
Total Estimated Costs	At least \$340 million
¹ Based on funding to the Health Education and Research Accounts of the 1988 Proposition 9 Act in 2015 dollars ¹⁷³	99 Tobacco Tax and Health Protection

REFERENCES

- 1. Degenhardt L, Bucello C, Calabria B, et al. What data are available on the extent of illicit drug use and dependence globally? Results of four systematic reviews. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*. 2011; 117(2-3):85-101 doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.11.032.
- 2. Warner J. California Marijuana Legalization 2016: With 10 Legalization Efforts A foot In The Golden State, Which Is Most Likely To Pass? *Los Angeles Times*. November 4, 2015. http://www.ibtimes.com/california-marijuana-legalization-2016-10-legalizationefforts-afoot-golden-state-2166983.
- 3. Alexander K. Momentum to legalize marijuana in California is growing. *SF Gate*. April 8, 2015. http://www.sfgate.com/politics/article/Momentum-to-legalize-marijuana-in-California-is-5880897.php.
- 4. Romero D. California Could Become The Third U.S. State To Legalize Pot. *Huffington Post.* December 27, 2013. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2013/12/27/california-third-state-legalize-pot n 4509178.html.
- Public Policy Institute of California. Californians' Attitudes Toward Marijuana Legalization. 2015. Available at: http://www.ppic.org/main/publication_show.asp?i=1150. Accessed November 10, 2015.
- 6. California Office of the Attorney General. Attorney General Information: Initiative and Referendum Proposals Pending Review By Attorney General. 2015. Available at: http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/ballot-measures/attorney-general-information/. Accessed November 11, 2015.
- Sutton M. Control, Regulate, and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act. California Office of the Attorney General; November 3, 2015. Available at: http://www.oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/15-0103%20%28Marijuana%29.pdf?
- 8. Jones DS. *The Control, Regulate and Tax Cannabis Act of 2016* Office of the Attorney General; October 15, 2015. Available at:
- http://www.oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/15-0075%20%28Marijuana%29.pdf?
 9. McGreevy P. Ex-Facebook President Sean Parker backs California pot initiative. *LA Times.* November 2, 2015. http://www.latimes.com/local/political/la-me-pc-ex-facebook-pres-backs-initiative-to-allow-recreational-pot-use-in-california-20151102-story.html.
- 10. Newsom G, Humphreys K, Soltani A. *Pathways Report: Policy Options for Regulating Marijuana in California.* July 21, 2015. Available at: https://www.safeandsmartpolicy.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/BRCPathwaysReport.pdf.
- 11. [No Author]. Sean Parker backs California pot initiative. *CNN Money*. November 3, 2015. http://money.cnn.com/2015/11/03/technology/sean-parker-california-pot-initiative/index.html.
- 12. Sanchez R. California's Proposition 19 Rejected by Voters. *ABC News*. November 3, 2010. http://abcnews.go.com/Politics/proposition-19-results-california-votes-reject-marijuana-measure/story?id=12037727.
- 13. Belville R. ReformCA Joins Crowded Field for California Marijuana Legalization. *Marijuana Politics*. November 10, 2015. http://marijuanapolitics.com/reformca-joins-crowded-field-for-california-marijuana-legalization/.

- Coalition for Cannabis Policy Reform. Board of Directors. 2015. Available at: http://www.cannabispolicyreform.org/ccpr-board-of-directors. Accessed November 16, 2015.
- 15. Cadelago C. Activists endorse California marijuana legalization bid backed by Gavin Newsom, Sean Parker. *SacBee*. December 8, 2015. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article48618625.html.
- 16. Proctor RN. Golden Holocaust: Origins of the Cigarette Catastrophe and the Case for Abolition. *Golden Holocaust: Origins of the Cigarette Catastrophe and the Case for Abolition*. 2011:1-737.
- 17. Brandt AM. *The cigarette century : the rise, fall, and deadly persistence of the product that defined America.* New York: Basic Books; 2007.
- 18. Glantz SA. *The cigarette papers*. Berkeley: University of California Press; 1996.
- 19. Glantz SA, Balbach ED. *Tobacco war: inside the California battles*. Berkeley: University of California Press; 2000.
- 20. Richter KP, Levy S. Big Marijuana Lessons from Big Tobacco. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2014; 371(5):399-401 doi:10.1056/Nejmp1406074.
- 21. Pardo B. Cannabis policy reforms in the Americas: A comparative analysis of Colorado, Washington, and Uruguay. *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 2014; 25(4):727-735 doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2014.05.010.
- 22. Caulkins J. How to Regulate Cannabis: A Practical Guide. *Addiction*. 2014; 109(8):1387-1388 doi:10.1111/add.12611.
- 23. Mosher J. Alcohol Industry Voluntary Regulation of its Advertising Practices: A Status Report. Center for the Study of Law and Enforcement Policy Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation February, 2006. Available at: http://www.camy.org/ docs/washingtonupdate/industrycode.pdf.
- 24. Jernigan DH, Ostroff J, Ross C. Alcohol advertising and youth: A measured approach. *Journal of Public Health Policy*. 2005; 26(3):312-325 doi:10.1057/palgrave.jphp.3200038.
- 25. Gilmore AB, Savell E, Collin J. Public health, corporations and the New Responsibility Deal: promoting partnerships with vectors of disease? *Journal of Public Health*. 2011; 33(1):2-4 doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdr008.
- 26. Jahiel RI, Babor TF. Industrial epidemics, public health advocacy and the alcohol industry: lessons from other fields. *Addiction*. 2007; 102(9):1335-1339 doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01900.x.
- 27. Babor TF, Robaina K. Public Health, Academic Medicine, and the Alcohol Industry's Corporate Social Responsibility Activities. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2013; 103(2):206-214.
- 28. Mosher JF. Joe Camel in a Bottle: Diageo, the Smirnoff Brand, and the Transformation of the Youth Alcohol Market. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2012; 102(1):56-63 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2011.300387.
- 29. Barry RA, Hiilamo H, Glantz SA. Waiting for the opportune moment: the tobacco industry and marijuana legalization. *Milbank Q.* 2014; 92(2):207-242 doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12055.
- 30. Central Valley California High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area. California Produces More Marijuana than Mexico. California seized more Marijuana than was seized at the U.S.-Mexico Border. California's Law Enforcement Eradicated More Marijuana than

was produced in Canada. California May Supply 3/4th of all the Marijuana for US Consumer. June 4, 2010. Available at:

http://www.slocounty.ca.gov/Assets/DAS/DAAB/Marijuana_Production_in_California.p df. Accessed November 10, 2015.

- 31. Kaufmann C. Rebranding Cannabis: A Blog About Marijuana Branding and Marketing. 2014. Available at: http://www.rebrandingcannabis.com/category/think-outside-the-bong/. Accessed January 16, 2016.
- 32. Cannabrand. The World's First Cannabis Marketing Agency is on a Mission. 2015. Available at: http://cannabrand.co/. Accessed January 16, 2016.
- 33. Berg CJ, Stratton E, Schauer GL, et al. Perceived Harm, Addictiveness, and Social Acceptability of Tobacco Products and Marijuana Among Young Adults: Marijuana, Hookah, and Electronic Cigarettes Win. *Substance Use & Misuse.* 2015; 50(1):79-89 doi:10.3109/10826084.2014.958857.
- 34. Ramo DE, Delucchi KL, Liu H, Hall SM, Prochaska JJ. Young adults who smoke cigarettes and marijuana: analysis of thoughts and behaviors. *Addict Behav.* 2014; 39(1):77-84 doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.08.035.
- 35. Roditis ML, Halpern-Felsher B. Adolescents' Perceptions of Risks and Benefits of Conventional Cigarettes, E-cigarettes, and Marijuana: A Qualitative Analysis. *J Adolesc Health.* 2015; 57(2):179-185 doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.04.002.
- 36. Roth MD, Arora A, Barsky SH, Kleerup EC, Simmons M, Tashkin DP. Airway inflammation in young marijuana and tobacco smokers. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 1998; 157(3):928-937.
- 37. Wang X, Derakhshandeh R, Narayan S, et al. Brief Exposure to Marijuana Secondhand Smoke Impairs Vascular Endothelial Function. *Circulation*. 2014; 130:A19538.
- 38. Health and Safety Code section 25249.8(b) and Title 27, Cal Code of Regs., section 25302 et seq. 2009. Available at:

http://oehha.ca.gov/prop65/hazard_ident/pdf_zip/FinalMJsmokeHID.pdf.

- 39. Pacula RL, Kilmer B, Wagenaar AC, Chaloupka FJ, Caulkins JP. Developing Public Health Regulations for Marijuana: Lessons From Alcohol and Tobacco. *Am J Public Health.* 2014; 104(6):1021-1028 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2013.301766.
- 40. Moir D, Rickert WS, Levasseur G, et al. A comparison of mainstream and sidestream marijuana and tobacco cigarette smoke produced under two machine smoking conditions. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*. 2008; 21(2):494-502 doi:10.1021/tx700275p.
- 41. Thomas G, Kloner RA, Rezkalla S. Adverse Cardiovascular, Cerebrovascular, and Peripheral Vascular Effects of Marijuana Inhalation: What Cardiologists Need to Know. *American Journal of Cardiology*. 2014; 113(1):187-190 doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.09.042.
- 42. Volkow ND, Compton WM, Weiss SRB. Adverse Health Effects of Marijuana Use. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2014; 371(9):879-879.
- 43. Tashkin DP. Effects of marijuana smoking on the lung. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* 2013; 10(3):239-247 doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201212-127FR.
- 44. Aldington. Effects of cannabis on pulmonary structure, function and symptoms (vol 62, pg 1058, 2007). *Thorax.* 2008; 63(4):385-385.
- 45. Owen K, Sutter M, Albertson T. Marijuana: Respiratory Tract Effects. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy & Immunology*. 2014; 46(1):65-81 doi:10.1007/s12016-013-8374-y.

- 46. Meier MH, Caspi A, Ambler A, et al. Persistent cannabis users show neuropsychological decline from childhood to midlife. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2012; 109(40).
- 47. Richter KP, Levy S. Big marijuana--lessons from big tobacco. *N Engl J Med.* 2014; 371(5):399-401 doi:10.1056/NEJMp1406074.
- 48. Palamar JJ, Ompad DC, Petkova E. Correlates of intentions to use cannabis among US high school seniors in the case of cannabis legalization. *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 2014; 25(3):424-435 doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2014.01.017.
- 49. Grana R, Benowitz N, Glantz SA. E-Cigarettes A Scientific Review. *Circulation*. 2014; 129(19):1972-1986.
- 50. Kalkhoran S, Grana RA, Neilands TB, Ling PM. Dual Use of Smokeless Tobacco or Ecigarettes with Cigarettes and Cessation. *American Journal of Health Behavior*. 2015; 39(2):276-283 doi:10.5993/Ajhb.39.2.14.
- 51. Rutten LJF, Blake KD, Agunwamba AA, et al. Use of E-Cigarettes Among Current Smokers: Associations Among Reasons for Use, Quit Intentions, and Current Tobacco Use. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*. 2015; 17(10):1228-1234 doi:10.1093/ntr/ntv003.
- 52. Schripp T, Markewitz D, Uhde E, Salthammer T. Does e-cigarette consumption cause passive vaping? *Indoor Air*. 2013; 23(1):25-31 doi:10.1111/j.1600-0668.2012.00792.x.
- 53. Goniewicz ML, Kuma T, Gawron M, Knysak J, Kosmider L. Nicotine levels in electronic cigarettes. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2013; 15(1):158-166 doi:10.1093/ntr/nts103.
- 54. Wills TA, Knight R, Williams RJ, Pagano I, Sargent JD. Risk Factors for Exclusive E-Cigarette Use and Dual E-Cigarette Use and Tobacco Use in Adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2015; 135(1):E43-E51 doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0760.
- 55. Budney AJ, Sargent JD, Lee DC. Vaping cannabis (marijuana): parallel concerns to ecigs? *Addiction*. 2015; 110(11):1699-1704 doi:10.1111/add.13036.
- 56. Allen JG, Flanigan SS, LeBlanc M, et al. Flavoring Chemicals in E-Cigarettes: Diacetyl, 2,3-Pentanedione, and Acetoin in a Sample of 51 Products, Including Fruit-, Candy-, and Cocktail-Flavored E-Cigarettes. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2015; doi:10.1289/ehp.1510185.
- 57. Public Law 91-513, 84 Stat. 1242 (1970).
- 58. Ream GL, Benoit E, Johnson BD, Dunlap E. Smoking tobacco along with marijuana increases symptoms of cannabis dependence. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2008; 95(3):199-208 doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.01.011.
- 59. Ramo DE, Prochaska JJ. Prevalence and co-use of marijuana among young adult cigarette smokers: An anonymous online national survey. *Addict Sci Clin Pract.* 2012; 7:5 doi:10.1186/1940-0640-7-5.
- 60. Ramo DE, Delucchi KL, Hall SM, Liu H, Prochaska JJ. Marijuana and tobacco co-use in young adults: patterns and thoughts about use. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2013; 74(2):301-310.
- 61. Agrawal A, Budney AJ, Lynskey MT. The co-occurring use and misuse of cannabis and tobacco: a review. *Addiction*. 2012; 107(7):1221-1233 doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.03837.x.
- 62. Hall W. What has research over the past two decades revealed about the adverse health effects of recreational cannabis use? *Addiction*. 2015; 110(1):19-35 doi:10.1111/add.12703.

- 63. Padilla M, Berg CJ, Schauer GL, Lang DL, Kegler MC. Allowing cigarette or marijuana smoking in the home and car: prevalence and correlates in a young adult sample. *Health Education Research*. 2015; 30(1):179-191 doi:10.1093/her/cyu051.
- 64. Miech RA, Johnston L, O'Malley PM, Bachman JG, Schulenberg J, Patrick ME. Trends in use of marijuana and attitudes toward marijuana among youth before and after decriminalization: The case of California 2007-2013. *International Journal of Drug Policy.* 2015; 26(4):336-344 doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2015.01.009.
- 65. Health and Human Development Program. *California Healthy Kids Survey*. 2011-2013. Available at: http://chks.wested.org/resources/Secondary State 1113Main.pdf.
- 66. Caulkins JP. Pot politics: Marijuana and the costs of prohibition. *Addiction*. 2007; 102(6):1007-1007 doi:DOI 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01868.x.
- 67. Levine HG, Reinarman C. From prohibition to regulation: lessons from alcohol policy for drug policy. *Milbank Q.* 1991; 69(3):461-494.
- 68. Doward J. Leaked paper reveals UN split over war on drugs *The Guardian*. November 30, 2013. http://www.theguardian.com/politics/2013/nov/30/un-drugs-policy-split-leaked-paper.
- 69. Rucke K. Uruguay's President Asks World To Support Marijuana Legalization. *Mint Press News.* December 8, 2013. http://www.mintpressnews.com/uruguays-presidentasks-world-to-support-marijuana-legalization/174344/.
- 70. Heinze G, Armas-Castañeda G. Public policies on the use of drugs in Mexico and Latin America. *Drug Science, Policy and Law.* 2015; 2doi:10.1177/2050324515611587
- 71. Nadelmann E, Gutwillig S, Davies J. Additional considerations. *Addiction*. 2012; 107(5):873-875 doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03695.x.
- 72. Rogeberg O. Drug policy, values and the public health approach four lessons from drug policy reform movements. *Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs.* 2015; 32(4):347-364 doi:10.1515/nsad-2015-0034.
- 73. Gettman J, Kennedy M. Let it grow-the open market solution to marijuana control. *Harm Reduct J.* 2014; 11(1):32 doi:10.1186/1477-7517-11-32.
- 74. Room R. Legalizing a market for cannabis for pleasure: Colorado, Washington, Uruguay and beyond. *Addiction*. 2014; 109(3):345-351.
- 75. Caulkins JP, Kilmer B, Kleiman MAR, et al. *The Marijuana Legalization Debate*. RAND Institute; May, 2015. Available at: http://www.rand.org/pubs/research_briefs/RB9825.html.
- 76. Schroeder S. Public Smoking Bans are Good for the Heart. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009; 54(14):1256-1257.
- 77. Eagan T, Hetland J, Aaro L. Decline in respiratory symptoms in service workers after a public smoking ban. *Tob Control.* 2006; 15:242-246.
- 78. Menzies D, Nair A, Williamson P, et al. Respiratory Symptoms, Pulmonary Function, and Markers of Inflammation Among Bar Workers Before and After a Legislative Ban on Smoking in Public Places. *JAMA*. 2006; 296:1742-1748.
- 79. Samet J. Smoking Bans Prevent Heart Attacks. *Circulation*. 2006; 114:1450-1451.
- 80. Callard C, Thompson D, Collishaw N. Transforming the tobacco market: why the supply of cigarettes should be transferred from for-profit corporations to non-profit enterprises with a public health mandate. *Tobacco Control*. 2005; 14(4):278-283 doi:10.1136/tc.2005.011.353.

- 81. Blue Ribbon Commission on Marijuana Policy. Who we are. 2015. Available at: https://www.safeandsmartpolicy.org/. Accessed November 10, 2015.
- 82. Tobacco Tax and Health Protection Act of 1988, CA Health and Safety Code § 104365-104370(1988).
- 83. California Department of Public Health. Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee (TEROC). 2015. Available at: http://www.cdph.ca.gov/services/boards/teroc/Pages/TEROCLandingPage%28default%2
 9.aspx. Accessed December 3, 2015.
- 84. Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee. *RE: Public Comment on Marijuana Regulation in California.* July 17, 2015. Available at: https://tobacco.ucsf.edu/sites/tobacco.ucsf.edu/files/u9/TEROC%20Letter%20to%20Blue%20Ribbon%20Commission.pdf.
- 85. California Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act, Health and Safety Code Sections 11362.7-11362.83(2015).
- 86. California Department of Consumer Affairs. About DCA. 2016. Available at: http://www.dca.ca.gov/about_dca/morabout.shtml. Accessed January 20, 2016.
- 87. California Department of Food and Agriculture. California Department of Food and Agriculture: 97 Years Protecting and Promoting Agriculture in the Golden State. 2016. Available at: https://www.cdfa.ca.gov/CDFA-History.html. Accessed January 20, 2016.
- 88. California State Board of Equalization. Vision Statement. 2016. Available at: http://www.boe.ca.gov/pdf/pub200.pdf. Accessed January 20, 2016.
- 89. Sklair L. The transnational capitalist class and global politics: Deconstructing the corporate-state connection. *International Political Science Review*. 2002; 23(2):159-174 doi:10.1177/0192512102023002003.
- 90. Fallin A, Glantz SA. Tobacco-Control Policies in Tobacco-Growing States: Where Tobacco Was King. *Milbank Quarterly*. 2015; 93(2):319-358 doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12124.
- 91. *Medical Marijuana Regulation: The Plan for Statewide Implementation*. Sacramento, CA. January 19, 2016. Available at: http://calchannel.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=7&clip_id=3307.
- 92. Al-Delaimy WK, Pierce JP, Messer K, White MM, Trinidad DR, Gilpin EA. The California Tobacco Control Program's effect on adult smokers' daily cigarette consumption levels. *Tobacco Control.* 2007; 16(2):91-95 doi:10.1136/tc.2006.017061.
- 93. California Department of Public Health: California Tobacco Control Program. *California Tobacco Control Update: 20 Years of Tobacco Control in California*. Sacramento, CA. 2009. Available at:

http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/Documents/Archived%20Files/CTCPUpdate2 009.pdf.

- 94. California Department of Public Health: Tobacco Control Section. *California Tobacco Control Update: The Social Norm Approach*. Sacramento, CA. 2006. Available at: http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/Documents/Archived%20Files/CTCPUpdate2 006.pdf.
- 95. California Air Resources Board. *Amended Text of Regulations: Air Resources Board Conflict of Interest Code*. September 28, 2000. Available at: http://www.arb.ca.gov/regact/conflict/finreg.pdf.

- 96. Baca R. New rules in effect for Colorado marijuana edibles Feb. 1. *The Cannabist*. January 29, 2015. http://www.thecannabist.co/2015/01/29/colorado-marijuana-edibles-fire-sale-regulations-feb-1/28775/.
- 97. Gorski E. Colorado regulators nudge marijuana edibles companies to smaller doses. *The Denver Post.* July 1, 2014. http://www.denverpost.com/news/ci_26064835/colorado-regulators-nudge-marijuana-edibles-companies-smaller-doses.
- 98. Wang GS, Roosevelt G, Heard K. Pediatric Marijuana Exposures in a Medical Marijuana State. *Jama Pediatrics*. 2013; 167(7):630-633 doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.140.
- 99. Bialous S, Peeters S. The shameful past: A brief overview of the tobacco industry in the last 20 years. *Tobacco Control.* 2012; 21:92-94.
- 100. Brownell KD, Warner KE. The Perils of Ignoring History: Big Tobacco Played Dirty and Millions Died. How Similar Is Big Food ? *Milbank Quarterly*. 2009; 87(1):259-294 doi:10.1111/j.1468-0009.2009.00555.x.
- 101. World Health Organization. *Guidelines for implementation of Article 5.3 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control on the protection of public health policies with respect to tobacco control from commercial and other vested interests of the tobacco industry.* Framework Convention for Tobacco Control; 2008. Available at: http://www.who.int/fctc/guidelines/article 5 3.pdf?ua=1.
- 102. Pacula RL, Kilmer B, Wagenaar AC, Chaloupka FJ, Caulkins JP. Developing public health regulations for marijuana: lessons from alcohol and tobacco. *Am J Public Health*. 2014; 104(6):1021-1028 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301766.
- 103. Toon J. Legal Weed in Washington State Has Been Completely Screwed Up. *Vice News.* March 10, 2014. https://news.vice.com/article/legal-weed-in-washington-state-has-been-completely-screwed-up.
- 104. Monte AA, Zane RD, Heard KJ. The Implications of Marijuana Legalization in Colorado. *JAMA*. 2015; 313(3):241-242 doi:10.1001/jama.2014.17057.
- 105. Compassionate Use Act, California Health and Safety Code § 11362.5(1996).
- 106. Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control. *Quick Summary of Selected Laws for Retail Licensees ABC-608.* May, 2004. Available at: https://www.abc.ca.gov/FORMS/ABC608.pdf.
- 107. Ashe M, Jernigan D, Kline R, Galaz R. Land Use Planning and the Control of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Fast Food Restaurants. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2003; 93(9)doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.9.1404.
- 108. Lantz PM, Jacobson PD, Warner KE, et al. Investing in youth tobacco control: a review of smoking prevention and control strategies. *Tob Control*. 2000; 9(1):47-63.
- 109. MacKintosh AM, Moodie C, Hastings G. The Association Between Point-of-Sale Displays and Youth Smoking Susceptibility. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*. 2012; 14(5):616-620 doi:10.1093/ntr/ntr185.
- 110. Frieden TR, Bloomberg MR. How to prevent 100 million deaths from tobacco. *Lancet*. 2007; 369(9574):1758-1761 doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60782.
- 111. Chriqui JF, Ribisl KM, Wallace RM, Williams RS, O'Connor JC, el Arculli R. A comprehensive review of state laws governing Internet and other delivery sales of cigarettes in the United States. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2008; 10(2):253-265 doi:10.1080/14622200701838232.

- 112. Joossens L, Merriman D, Ross H, Raw M. The impact of eliminating the global illicit cigarette trade on health and revenue. *Addiction.* 2010; 105(9):1640-1649 doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03018.x.
- 113. Mosher JF, Johnsson D. Flavored alcoholic beverages: An international marketing campaign that targets youth. *Journal of Public Health Policy*. 2005; 26(3):326-342 doi:10.1057/palgrave.jphp.3200037.
- 114. Carpenter CM, Wayne GF, Pauly JL, Koh HK, Connolly GN. New cigarette brands with flavors that appeal to youth: Tobacco marketing strategies. *Health Affairs*. 2005; 24(6):1601-1610 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.24.6.1601.
- 115. McCarthy WJ, Mistry R, Lu Y, Patel M, Zheng H, Dietsch B. Density of tobacco retailers near schools: effects on tobacco use among students. *Am J Public Health*. 2009; 99(11):2006-2013 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2008.145128.
- 116. Henriksen L, Feighery EC, Schleicher NC, Cowling DW, Kline RS, Fortmann SP. Is adolescent smoking related to the density and proximity of tobacco outlets and retail cigarette advertising near schools? *Prev Med.* 2008; 47(2):210-214 doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.04.008.
- Migoya D, Baca R. Denver's pot businesses mostly in low-income, minority neighborhoods. *Denver Post.* January 3, 2016.
 http://www.denverpost.com/marijuana/ci_29336993/denvers-pot-businesses-mostly-low-income-minority-neighborhoods.
- 118. Loomis BR, Kim AE, Goetz JL, Juster HR. Density of tobacco retailers and its association with sociodemographic characteristics of communities across New York. *Public Health.* 2013; 127(4):333-338 doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2013.01.013.
- 119. Loomis BR, Kim AE, Busey AH, Farrelly MC, Willett JG, Juster HR. The density of tobacco retailers and its association with attitudes toward smoking, exposure to point-of-sale tobacco advertising, cigarette purchasing, and smoking among New York youth. *Prev Med.* 2012; 55(5):468-474 doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.08.014.
- 120. Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, Board on Children Youth and Families, Committee on Developing a Strategy to Reduce and Prevent Underage Drinking NRC, Institute of Medicine. *Reducing underage drinking: A collective responsibility:* National Academies Press; 2004.
- 121. Subritzky T, Pettigrew S, Lenton S. Issues in the implementation and evolution of the commercial recreational cannabis market in Colorado. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2015; doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2015.12.001.
- 122. Ghosh T, Van Dyke M, Maffey A, Whitley E, Gillim-Ross L, Wolk L. The Public Health Framework of Legalized Marijuana in Colorado. *Am J Public Health*. 2016; 106(1):21-27 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302875.
- 123. Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. *Statistics Medical Marijuana*. 2014. Available at: https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/statistics-and-data.
- 124. Tan CE, Kyriss T, Glantz SA. Tobacco company efforts to influence the Food and Drug Administration-commissioned Institute of Medicine report clearing the smoke: an analysis of documents released through litigation. *PLoS Med.* 2013; 10(5):e1001450 doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001450.
- 125. Kagan R, Nelson W. *The politics of tobacco regulation in the United States*: Oxford University Press; 2000.

- 126. Bohme SR, Zorabedian J, Egilman DS. Maximizing profit and endangering health: corporate strategies to avoid litigation and regulation. *Int J Occup Environ Health*. 2005; 11(4):338-348 doi:10.1179/oeh.2005.11.4.338.
- 127. Washington State Legislature. *Cannabis Patient Protection Act*. July 24, 2015. Available at: http://app.leg.wa.gov/BillInfo/summary.aspx?bill=5052&year=2015.
- 128. Ling PM, Glantz SA. Why and how the tobacco industry sells cigarettes to young adults: Evidence from industry documents. *Am J Public Health*. 2002; 92(6):908-916 doi:10.2105/Ajph.92.6.908.
- 129. Ling PM, Landman A, Glantz SA. It is time to abandon youth access tobacco programmes. *Tobacco Control.* 2002; 11(1):3-6 doi:Doi 10.1136/Tc.11.1.3.
- 130. Backinger CL, Fagan P, Matthews E, Grana R. Adolescent and young adult tobacco prevention and cessation: current status and future directions. *Tob Control.* 2003; 12 Suppl 4:IV46-53.
- 131. Mandel LL, Bialous SA, Glantz SA. Avoiding "truth": tobacco industry promotion of life skills training. *J Adolesc Health*. 2006; 39(6):868-879 doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.06.010.
- 132. Roeseler A, Burns D. The quarter that changed the world. *Tob Control.* 2010; 19 Suppl 1:i3-15 doi:10.1136/tc.2009.030809.
- 133. California Department of Health Care Services. Home. 2015. Available at: http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/Pages/default.aspx. Accessed December 16, 2015.
- 134. Cox E, Barry R, Glantz S, Barnes R. *Tobacco Control in California, 2007-2014: A Resurgent Tobacco Industry While Inflation Erodes the California Tobacco Control Program.* October 23, 2014. Available at: http://escholarship.org/uc/item/4jj1v7tv.
- 135. Hendlin Y, Barnes R, Glantz S. *Tobacco Control in Transition: Public Support and Governmental Disarray in Arizona 1997-2007.* January 29, 2008. Available at: http://escholarship.org/uc/item/1gh7g5p1.
- 136. Smith KE, Savell E, Gilmore AB. What is known about tobacco industry efforts to influence tobacco tax? A systematic review of empirical studies. *Tob Control*. 2013; 22(2):144-153 doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050098.
- 137. Begay ME, Traynor M, Glantz SA. The tobacco industry, state politics, and tobacco education in California. *Am J Public Health*. 1993; 83(9):1214-1221.
- 138. Mosher J. *Protecting our Youth: Options for Marijuana Regulation in California.* April, 2015. Available at: http://www.counties.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/mj protectingyouth apr2115-1up-rev2 final.pdf.
- 139. Bialous SA, Glantz SA. Arizona's tobacco control initiative illustrates the need for continuing oversight by tobacco control advocates. *Tobacco Control*. 1999; 8(2):141-151.
- 140. Smith KC, Cukier S, Jernigan DH. Defining strategies for promoting product through 'drink responsibly' messages in magazine ads for beer, spirits and alcopops. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2014; 142:168-173 doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.06.007.
- 141. Marijuana Policy Project. Consume Responsibly. 2014. Available at: http://www.consumeresponsibly.org/responsibility/. Accessed January 16, 2016.
- Lightwood J, Glantz SA. The effect of the California tobacco control program on smoking prevalence, cigarette consumption, and healthcare costs: 1989-2008. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8(2):e47145 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047145.

- 143. Gilpin EA, Messer K, White MM, Pierce JP. What contributed to the major decline in per capita cigarette consumption during California's comprehensive tobacco control programme? *Tobacco Control.* 2006; 15(4)doi:10.1136/Tc.2005.015370.
- 144. Pierce JP, Farkas AJ. Has the California Tobacco Control Program reduced smoking? *JAMA*. 1999; 281(1):37-37.
- 145. Pierce JP, Evans N, Farkas AJ, Berry CC, Kaplan RM. Evaluation of the California Tobacco Control Program. *Circulation*. 1994; 90(4):340-340.
- 146. Wakefield M, Chaloupka F. Effectiveness of comprehensive tobacco control programmes in reducing teenage smoking in the USA. *Tobacco Control.* 2000; 9(2):177-186 doi:10.1136/Tc.9.2.177.
- 147. Caulkins J, Kilmer B, Kleinman M, et al. *Considering Marijuana Legalization Insights* for Vermont and Other Jurisdictions. RAND Institute; 2015.
- 148. Bosker WM, Theunissen EL, Conen S, et al. A placebo-controlled study to assess Standardized Field Sobriety Tests performance during alcohol and cannabis intoxication in heavy cannabis users and accuracy of point of collection testing devices for detecting THC in oral fluid. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*. 2012; 223(4):439-446 doi:10.1007/s00213-012-2732-y.
- Harbarger M. Colorado reports uptick in marijuana-related driving offenses in 2014. *The Oregonian*. October 15, 2015.
 http://www.oregonlive.com/business/index.ssf/2015/10/colorado_reports_uptick_in_mar. html.
- 150. Harbarger M. Companies race to create marijuana breathalyzer; Oregon differs from neighbors in THC limit. *Oregonian*. August 21, 2015. http://www.oregonlive.com/business/index.ssf/2015/08/companies_race_to_create_marij. html.
- 151. Caulderwood K. Marijuana Price Wars: Colorado Recreational Pot Prices Expected To Fall Fast This Year. *International Business Times*. April 24, 2015. http://www.ibtimes.com/marijuana-price-wars-colorado-recreational-pot-prices-expectedfall-fast-year-1895938.
- Borchardt D. Overcapacity Drives Down Marijuana Prices In Colorado. *Forbes*.
 September 30, 2015.
 http://www.forbes.com/sites/debraborchardt/2015/09/30/overcapacity-drives-down-marijuana-prices-in-colorado/#75cad39578c2.
- 153. Huddleston Jr. T. Here's why marijuana prices appear to be dropping in Colorado. *Fortune*. June 22, 2015. http://fortune.com/2015/06/22/marijuana-prices-colorado/.
- 154. Colas N. *Marijuana Store Survey and Industry Outlook Q2 2015*. June 22, 2015. Available at: http://www.convergex.com/the-share/marijuana-store-survey-and-industry-outlook-q2-2015.
- 155. Caulkins JP, Kilmer B, Kleiman M, MacCoun R, Midgette G, Oglesby P. *Options and issues regarding marijuana legalization*. RAND Institute; 2015. Available at: http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/perspectives/PE100/PE149/RAND_PE149.p df
- 156. Max W, Sun H-Y, Shi Y, Strark B. *The Cost of Smoking in California, 2009.* Institute for Health and Aging, University of California, San Francisco; 2014. Available at: http://www.trdrp.org/files/cost-smoking-ca-final-report.pdf.

- 157. Max W, Rice DP, Sung HY, Zhang X, Miller L. The economic burden of smoking in California. *Tobacco Control.* 2004; 13(3):264-267 doi:10.1136/tc.2003.006023.
- 158. California Legislative Analyst's Office. *Fiscal Impact Estimate Report of the Adult Use of Marijuana Act.* California Office of the Attorney General; December 22, 2015. Available at: https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/fiscal-impact-estimate-report%2815-0103%29.pdf.
- 159. California Legislative Analyst's Office. *Fiscal Impact Estimate Report of the Marijuana Legalization Initiative Statute*. California Office of the Attorney General; November 24, 2015. Available at: https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/fiscal-impact-estimate-report%2815-0075%29.pdf?
- 160. California Tobacco Control Program. *Exemptions and Loopholes in California's Smoke-Free Workplace Law Fail to Protect Vulnerable Populations and Promote Health Inequities.* California Department of Public Health; January, 2011. Available at: https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/Documents/Finish%20The%20Fight/Exempt ions%20and%20Loopholes%20in%20CA's%20smoke-free%20workplace.pdf.
- 161. Jones MR, Wipfli H, Shahrir S, et al. Secondhand tobacco smoke: an occupational hazard for smoking and non-smoking bar and nightclub employees. *Tob Control.* 2013; 22(5):308-314 doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050203.
- 162. Cummings KM, Fong GT, Borland R. Environmental influences on tobacco use: evidence from societal and community influences on tobacco use and dependence. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* 2009; 5:433-458 doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.032408.153607.
- 163. Barone-Adesi F, Vizzini L, Merletti F, Richiardi L. Short-term effects of Italian smoking regulation on rates of hospital admission for acute myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J.* 2006; 27:2468-2472.
- 164. Moore RS, Annechino RM, Lee JP. Unintended consequences of smoke-free bar policies for low-SES women in three California counties. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009; 37(2 Suppl):S138-143 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.05.003.
- 165. Tobacco Education Research Oversight Committee. Changing Landscapes Countering New Threats. Sacramento, CA. 2015. Available at: https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/Documents/TEROC/Master%20Plan/Master Plan_15-17.pdf.
- 166. California Department of Public Health: California Tobacco Control Program. Two decades of the California Tobacco Control Program: California Tobacco Survey 1990-2008. Sacramento, CA. 2010. Available at: http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/Documents/Resources/Publications/CDPH_C TS2008%20summary%20report final.pdf.
- 167. Kaleta D, Fronczak A. Disparities in exposure to tobacco smoke pollution at Romanian worksites. *Ann Agric Environ Med.* 2015; 22(4):755-761 doi:10.5604/12321966.1185789.
- Hahn EJ, Rayens MK, Burkhart PV, Moser DK. Smoke-free laws, gender, and reduction in hospitalizations for acute myocardial infarction. *Public Health Rep.* 2011; 126(6):826-833.
- 169. Sanders-Jackson A, Gonzalez M, Zerbe B, Song AV, Glantz SA. The Pattern of Indoor Smoking Restriction Law Transitions, 1970-2009: Laws Are Sticky. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2013; 103(8):E44-E51 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2013.301449.

- 170. Gosselt JF, Van Hoof JJ, Goverde MM, De Jong MD. One more beer? Serving alcohol to pseudo-intoxicated guests in bars. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2013; 37(7):1213-1219 doi:10.1111/acer.12074.
- 171. Reiling DM, Nusbaumer MR. When problem servers pour in problematic places: Alcoholic beverage servers' willingness to serve patrons beyond intoxication. *Substance Use & Misuse*. 2006; 41(5):653-668 doi:10.1080/10826080500411288.
- 172. Lang E, Stockwell T, Rydon P, Beel A. Can training bar staff in responsible serving practices reduce alcohol-related harm? *Drug and Alcohol Review*. 1998; 17(1):39-50 doi:10.1080/09595239800187581.
- 173. Legislative Analyst's Office. *Proposition 99: An Update*. Sacramento, CA. 1990. Available at: http://www.lao.ca.gov/1990/reports/347 0290 prop 99 update.pdf.
- 174. Ramo DE, Liu H, Prochaska JJ. Tobacco and marijuana use among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review of their co-use. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2012; 32(2):105-121 doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2011.12.002.
- 175. Henriksen L. Comprehensive tobacco marketing restrictions: promotion, packaging, price and place. *Tobacco Control.* 2012; 21(2):147-153 doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050416.
- 176. Snyder LB, Milici FF, Slater M, Sun H, Strizhakova Y. Effects of alcohol advertising exposure on drinking among youth. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*. 2006; 160(1):18-24 doi:10.1001/archpedi.160.1.18.
- 177. Pierce JP, Gilpin EA. A Historical-Analysis of Tobacco Marketing and the Uptake of Smoking by Youth in the United-States 1890-1977. *Health Psychology*. 1995; 14(6):500-508 doi:10.1037/0278-6133.14.6.500.
- Henriksen L, Feighery EC, Wang Y, Fortmann SP. Association of retail tobacco marketing with adolescent smoking. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2004; 94(12):2081-2083 doi:10.2105/Ajph.94.12.2081.
- 179. Washington State Legislature. Marijuana Licenses, Application Process, Requirements, and Reporting (WAC 314-55-155). 2013. Available at: http://www.liq.wa.gov/publications/rules/2013%20Proposed%20Rules/OTS-5501-3Final.pdf.
- 180. Mekemson C, Glantz SA. How the tobacco industry built its relationship with Hollywood. *Tobacco Control.* 2002; 11:I81-I91.
- 181. Lum KL, Polansky JR, Jackler RK, Glantz SA. Signed, sealed and delivered: "big tobacco" in Hollywood, 1927-1951. *Tobacco Control.* 2008; 17(5):313-323 doi:10.1136/tc.2008.025445.
- 182. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Preventing tobacco use among youth and young adults: A report of the Surgeon General.* Rockville, MD; 2012.
- 183. Jones SC, Andrews K, Caputi P. Alcohol-branded merchandise: association with Australian adolescents' drinking and parent attitudes. *Health Promot Int.* 2014; doi:10.1093/heapro/dau112.
- 184. Jernigan DH. Alcohol-branded merchandise: the need for action. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2009; 163(3):278-279 doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2008.557.
- 185. McClure AC, Dal Cin S, Gibson J, Sargent JD. Ownership of alcohol-branded merchandise and initiation of teen drinking. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2006; 30(4):277-283 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2005.11.004.

- 186. McClure AC, Stoolmiller M, Tanski SE, Worth KA, Sargent JD. Alcohol-branded merchandise and its association with drinking attitudes and outcomes in US adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2009; 163(3):211-217 doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2008.554.
- 187. Buckner M. Stars cash in on branded marijuana. *CBS News*. December 30, 2015. http://www.cbsnews.com/news/celebrities-cash-in-on-branded-marijuana/.
- 188. LeGresley EM, Muggli ME, Hurt RD. Playing hide-and-seek with the tobacco industry. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2005; 7(1):27-40 doi:10.1080/14622200412331328529.
- 189. Hanauer P, Slade J, Barnes DE, Bero L, Glantz SA. Lawyer control of internal scientific research to protect against products liability lawsuits. The Brown and Williamson documents. *JAMA*. 1995; 274(3):234-240.
- 190. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Preventing tobacco use among youth and young adults: A report of the Surgeon General.* Rockville, MD; 2012
- 191. Mosher JF. Transcendental alcohol marketing: rap music and the youth market. *Addiction.* 2005; 100(9):1203-1204 doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01243.x.
- 192. Kessler DA. Alcohol marketing and youth: The challenge for public health. *Journal of Public Health Policy*. 2005; 26(3):292-295 doi:10.1057/palgrave.jphp.3200041.
- 193. Sanchez L, Sanchez S, Goldberg A, Goldberg A. Tobacco and alcohol advertisements in magazines: Are young readers being targeted? *JAMA*. 2000; 283(16):2106-2107 doi:10.1001/jama.283.16.2106.
- 194. Center for Alcohol Marketing and Youth. *Overexposed: Youth a target of alcohol advertising in magazines.* Washington DC: Institute for Health Care Research and Policy, Georgetown University; 2002.
- 195. Ribisl KM. Research gaps related to tobacco product marketing and sales in the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2012; 14(1):43-53 doi:10.1093/ntr/ntr098.
- 196. Tobacco Control Legal Consortium. Sunshine Laws: Requiring Reporting of Tobacco Industry Price Discounting and Promotional Allowance Payments to Retailers and Wholesalers. February, 2012. Available at: http://publichealthlawcenter.org/sites/default/files/resources/tclc-guide-sunshinelawstobaccocontrol-2012 0.pdf.
- 197. Henriksen L, Schleicher NC, Dauphinee AL, Fortmann SP. Targeted advertising, promotion, and price for menthol cigarettes in California high school neighborhoods. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2012; 14(1):116-121 doi:10.1093/ntr/ntr122.
- 198. Czoli CD, Hammond D. Cigarette packaging: Youth perceptions of "natural" cigarettes, filter references, and contraband tobacco. *J Adolesc Health*. 2014; 54(1):33-39 doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.07.016.
- 199. Bialous SA, Yach D. Whose standard is it, anyway? How the tobacco industry determines the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) standards for tobacco and tobacco products. *Tobacco Control.* 2001; 10(2):96-104 doi:10.1136/Tc.10.2.96.
- 200. American Herbal Pharmacopoeia. AHP Members. 2015. Available at: http://www.herbalahp.org/membership home.html. Accessed January 5, 2016.
- 201. Upton R. *Standards of Analysis, Quality Control, and Therapeutics.* Scotts Valley, California: American Herbal Pharmacopoeia; 2015. Available at: http://www.herbalahp.org/documents/mono_contents/Osha_Sponsorship8.12.14.pdf. Accessed November 17, 2015.

- 202. United States Pharmacoepeial Convention. About USP. 2015. Available at: http://www.usp.org/about-usp. Accessed January 3, 2016.
- 203. Slade J, Henningfield JE. Tobacco product regulation: context and issues. *Food Drug Law J*. 1998; 53 suppl:43-74.
- 204. Pollay RW, Dewhirst T. The dark side of marketing seemingly "Light" cigarettes: successful images and failed fact. *Tob Control*. 2002; 11 Suppl 1:118-31.
- 205. Villanti AC, Richardson A, Vallone DM, Rath JM. Flavored Tobacco Product Use Among US Young Adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2013; 44(4):388-391 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.031.
- 206. Johnston ML, Daniel BC, Levy CJ. Morris P. Report: Young Smokers Prevalence, Trends, Implications, and Related Demographic Trends. March 31, 1981. Available at: https://industrydocuments.library.ucsf.edu/tobacco/docs/pzkw0181. Accessed December 30, 2015.
- 207. Cullen J, Mowery P, Delnevo C, et al. Seven-Year Patterns in US Cigar Use Epidemiology Among Young Adults Aged 18-25 Years: A Focus on Race/Ethnicity and Brand. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2011; 101(10):1955-1962 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2011.300209.
- 208. Oregon State Public Health Division. *Retail Marijuana Scientific Advisory Committee Public Meeting Minutes*. May 22, 2015. Available at: https://public.health.oregon.gov/PreventionWellness/marijuana/Documents/rmsac/05251
 5-RMSAC-Minutes.pdf.
- 209. Nicholl J. Tobacco Tax Initiatives to Prevent Tobacco Use: A Study of Eight Statewide Campaigns. *Cancer*. 2000; 83(S12A):2666-2679.
- 210. Mason M. Health, labor groups seek \$2 increase in California tobacco tax. *LA times*. November 19, 2014. http://www.latimes.com/local/political/la-me-pc-tobacco-tax-push-20141119-story.html. Accessed January 28, 2014.
- 211. Callison K, Kaestner R. Do Higher Tobacco Taxes Reduce Adult Smoking? New Evidence of the Effect of Recent Cigarette Tax Increases on Adult Smoking. *Economic Inquiry*. 2014; 52(1):155-172 doi:10.1111/ecin.12027.
- 212. Lewis MJ, Wackowski O. Dealing with an innovative industry: A look at flavored cigarettes promoted by mainstream brands. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2006; 96(2):244-251 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2004.061200.
- 213. Ashare RL, Hawk LW, Cummings KM, O'Connor RJ, Fix BV, Schmidt WC. Smoking expectancies for flavored and non-flavored cigarettes among college students. *Addictive Behaviors.* 2007; 32(6):1252-1261 doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2006.08.011.
- 214. McDonald EA, Ling PM. One of several 'toys' for smoking: young adult experiences with electronic cigarettes in New York City. *Tobacco Control*. 2015; 24(6):588-593 doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2014-051743.
- 215. Choi K, Forster JL. Beliefs and Experimentation with Electronic Cigarettes A Prospective Analysis Among Young Adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2014; 46(2):175-178 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.007.
- 216. Coomber K, Martino F, Barbour IR, Mayshak R, Miller PG. Do consumers 'Get the facts'? A survey of alcohol warning label recognition in Australia. *Bmc Public Health.* 2015; 15(816).

- 217. Greenfield TK, Graves KL, Kaskutas LA. Long-term effects of alcohol warning labels: Findings from a comparison of the United States and Ontario, Canada. *Psychology & Marketing*. 1999; 16(3):261-282.
- MacKinnon DP, Nohre L, Pentz MA, Stacy AW. The alcohol warning and adolescents: 5-year effects. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2000; 90(10):1589-1594 doi:10.2105/Ajph.90.10.1589.
- 219. Nohre L, MacKinnon DP, Stacy AW, Pentz MA. The association between adolescents' receiver characteristics and exposure to the alcohol warning label. *Psychology & Marketing*. 1999; 16(3):245-259 doi:10.1002/(Sici)1520-6793(199905)16:3<245::Aid-Mar4>3.0.Co;2-S.
- 220. Negrete JC. Addictions: A comprehensive guidebook. *American Journal on Addictions*. 2002; 11(1):78-79.
- 221. Malouff J, Gabrilowitz D, Schutte N. Readability of Health Warnings on Alcohol and Tobacco Products. *American Journal of Public Health*. 1992; 82(3):464-464 doi:10.2105/Ajph.82.3.464-A.
- 222. Millar WJ. Reaching smokers with lower educational attainment. *Health Rep.* 1996; 8(2):11-19.
- 223. National Institutes of Health. *How to Write Easy-to-Read Health Materials*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; November 5, 2015. Available at: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/etr.html.
- 224. Guttman N, Peleg H. Public preferences for an attribution to government or to medical research versus unattributed messages in cigarette warning labels in Israel. *Health Communication*. 2003; 15(1):1-25 doi:10.1207/S15327027hc1501 1.
- 225. Liefield J. The Relative Importance of the Size, Content and Pictures on Cigarette Package Warning Messages. 1999.
- 226. Food and Drug Administration. Over-The-Counter Human Drugs Labeling Requirement Final Rule Docket Nos. 98N-0337, 96N-0420, 95N-0259, and 90P-0201. Department of Health and Human Services; May 17, 1999. Available at: https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-1999-03-17/pdf/99-6296.pdf.
- 227. Hammond D. *Tobacco Labelling & Packaging Toolkit, A Guide to FCTC Article 11.* February, 2009.
- 228. Strahan EJ, White K, Fong GT, Fabrigar LR, Zanna MP, Cameron R. Enhancing the effectiveness of tobacco package warning labels: a social psychological perspective. *Tobacco Control.* 2002; 11(3):183-190 doi:10.1136/Tc.11.3.183.
- 229. Vardavas CI, Connolly G, Karamanolis K, Kafatos A. Adolescents perceived effectiveness of the proposed European graphic tobacco warning labels. *Eur J Public Health.* 2009; 19(2):212-217 doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckp015.
- 230. Hammond D, Fong GT, McDonald PW, Brown KS, Cameron R. Showing leads to doing: graphic cigarette warning labels are an effective public health policy. *Eur J Public Health.* 2006; 16(2):223-224 doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckl037.
- 231. Hammond D, Fong GT, McDonald PW, Brown KS, Cameron R. Graphic Canadian cigarette warning labels and adverse outcomes: evidence from Canadian smokers. *Am J Public Health*. 2004; 94(8):1442-1445.
- 232. Hammond D, Fong GT, McNeill A, Borland R, Cummings KM. Effectiveness of cigarette warning labels in informing smokers about the risks of smoking: findings from

the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey. *Tob Control.* 2006; 15 Suppl 3:iii19-25 doi:10.1136/tc.2005.012294.

- 233. Song AV, Brown P, Glantz SA. When Health Policy and Empirical Evidence Collide: The Case of Cigarette Package Warning Labels and Economic Consumer Surplus. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2014; 104(2):E42-E51 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2013.301737.
- 234. Azagba S, Sharaf MF. The Effect of Graphic Cigarette Warning Labels on Smoking Behavior: Evidence from the Canadian Experience. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*. 2013; 15(3):708-717 doi:10.1093/ntr/nts194.
- 235. World Health Organization. *WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control.* May, 2005. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/42811/1/9241591013.pdf.
- 236. Sanders-Jackson AN, Song AV, Hiilamo H, Glantz SA. Effect of the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control and Voluntary Industry Health Warning Labels on Passage of Mandated Cigarette Warning Labels From 1965 to 2012: Transition Probability and Event History Analyses. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2013; 103(11):2041-2047 doi:10.2105/Ajph.2013.301324.
- 237. World Health Organization. *Guidelines for implementation of Article 11 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Packaging and labelling of tobacco products)* 2008. Available at: http://www.who.int/fctc/guidelines/article 11.pdf.
- 238. Hammond D, Fong GT, Borland R, Cummings KM, McNeill A, Driezen P. Text and graphic warnings on cigarette packages: Findings from the international tobacco control four country study (vol 32, pg 202, 2007). *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2007; 32(5):456-+.
- 239. CA Health and Safety Code § 26200(b).

Original Investigation

Waiting for the Opportune Moment: The Tobacco Industry and Marijuana Legalization

RACHEL ANN BARRY,* HEIKKI HIILAMO,[†] and STANTON A. GLANTZ*

*Center for Tobacco Control Research and Education and Philip R. Lee Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California, San Francisco; [†]University of Helsinki

Context: In 2012, Washington State and Colorado legalized the recreational use of marijuana, and Uruguay, beginning in 2014, will become the first country to legalize the sale and distribution of marijuana. The challenge facing policymakers and public health advocates is reducing the harms of an ineffective, costly, and discriminatory "war on drugs" while preventing another public health catastrophe similar to tobacco use, which kills 6 million people worldwide each year.

Methods: Between May and December 2013, using the standard snowball research technique, we searched the Legacy Tobacco Documents Library of previously secret tobacco industry documents (http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu).

Findings: Since at least the 1970s, tobacco companies have been interested in marijuana and marijuana legalization as both a potential and a rival product. As public opinion shifted and governments began relaxing laws pertaining to marijuana criminalization, the tobacco companies modified their corporate planning strategies to prepare for future consumer demand.

Conclusions: Policymakers and public health advocates must be aware that the tobacco industry or comparable multinational organizations (eg, food and beverage industries) are prepared to enter the marijuana market with the intention of increasing its already widespread use. In order to prevent domination of the market by companies seeking to maximize market size and profits, policymakers should learn from their successes and failures in regulating tobacco.

Keywords: marijuana, public policy, cigarettes, tobacco industry.

The Milbank Quarterly, Vol. 92, No. 2, 2014 (pp. 207-242) (c) 2014 Milbank Memorial Fund. Published by Wiley Periodicals Inc.

HE MOVE TO LEGALIZE MARIJUANA IN THE UNITED States gained momentum in 2014 when Colorado's and Washington's citizen-initiatives to legalize recreational use took effect, ending 75 years of criminalization and market suppression in these states.¹ Legalizing marijuana at the federal level will reduce the costly and ineffective war on drugs, which in 2011 resulted in 1.5 million arrests, half related to marijuana.² Advocates of marijuana legalization envision a market that remains a cottage industry of smallscale home growers, collectives, and dispensaries.³⁻⁵ In many ways, the marijuana market of 2014 resembles the tobacco market before 1880, before cigarettes were mass-produced using mechanization and marketed using national brands and modern mass media.⁶ Legalizing marijuana opens the market to major corporations, including tobacco companies, which have the financial resources, product design technology to optimize puff-by-puff delivery of a psychoactive drug (nicotine), marketing muscle, and political clout⁶⁻⁸ to transform the marijuana market.

Beginning in the 1960s.⁹ the use and abuse of illegal drugs became an important public issue, with fears that illicit drugs were changing social norms regarding race and institutional and parental authority and were contributing to the antiwar movement of rebellious youths and political dissidents.^{10,11} In response, in 1968 the US Department of Justice established the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) to control illegal drugs, including marijuana.⁹ In 1971, President Richard Nixon declared a "war on drugs" and increased the federal role in combating drugs through mandatory sentencing and no-knock warrant policies.¹² Nancy Reagan's highly publicized antidrug media campaign, "Just Say No," also contributed to the zero-tolerance drug policies of the late 1980s and the move away from harm-reduction strategies like rehabilitation and clean-needle programs.¹² During the Reagan administration, as Congress and state legislatures imposed heavy penalties for the possession and distribution of drugs, the nation saw a drastic rise in incarceration rates, which disproportionately affected people of color.13

There are significant parallels between marijuana and tobacco use. Both are smoked using a cigarette (eg, a "joint" or "spliff"¹⁴ for marijuana), a cigar/cigarillo, or a pipe "bong."¹⁵ Marijuana can be consumed using a vaporizer,¹⁶ including in e-cigarettes,^{17,18} using hash oil containing tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the psychoactive agent in marijuana.¹⁹ Marijuana also may be orally ingested through food ("edibles"), tinctures, beverages (teas and sodas), and pills (such as the prescription medicine Marinol). Tobacco may be consumed orally as snuff and chewing tobacco. In 2003 more than half of youth (aged 12 to 17) marijuana users in the United States (54% for lifetime use and 55% for past 30-day use) mixed cannabis with tobacco and rolled both in either a cigar or cigarillo (a "blunt"¹⁵) or a roll-your-own cigarette (a "spliff" in Europe).²⁰

In the 1970s and 1980s, tobacco served as a "gateway" to marijuana, but by 2005 this pattern had reversed, with marijuana use often preceding tobacco use.^{21,22} The association of marijuana and tobacco use has direct implications for the tobacco industry as marijuana becomes more accessible.

As a result of litigation against the tobacco industry, more than 80 million pages of internal company documents became available at the University of California, San Francisco's Legacy Tobacco Documents Library (LTDL). These documents reveal that since at least 1970, despite fervent denials, three multinational tobacco companies, Philip Morris (PM), British American Tobacco (BAT, including its US subsidiary Brown & Williamson [B&W]), and RJ Reynolds (RJR), all have considered manufacturing cigarettes containing cannabis.²³⁻²⁵ The documents demonstrate the tobacco industry's willingness and preparedness to enter legalized marijuana markets, which the companies believed to have a large sales potential. Although the tobacco industry has not visibly supported marijuana legalization, as policymakers discussed decriminalization and potential legalization, the tobacco industry's corporate planners took into consideration the shifting public opinion and future consumer demand.²⁶⁻²⁸ In the current favorable political climate for marijuana decriminalization, policymakers and public health authorities should develop and implement policies that would prevent the tobacco industry (or other comparable corporate interests with a penchant for marketing harmful products to children) from becoming directly involved in the burgeoning marijuana market, in a way that would replicate the smoking epidemic, which kills 480,000 Americans each vear.29

Methods

Using the standard snowball research technique,³⁰ we searched the LTDL (http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu) between May and December 2013. We first searched for "marijuana," "marihuana," "cannabis," "cannabinoid," "cannabinol," "reefer," "weed," "spliffs," "blunts," "pot," and "hashish." We then conducted follow-up searches on individuals whose names repeatedly appeared and reviewed the documents with adjacent Bates numbers of relevant documents, resulting in approximately 700 documents.

Results

Early Interest at Philip Morris

By 1969, 12% of young adults in their twenties had tried marijuana, and 10% of young adults who had never smoked marijuana said they were willing to try the drug at least once.³¹ In the late 1960s, Dr. Alfred Burger, a professor at the University of Virginia,³² supervised the Philip Morris (PM) Fellowship in Chemistry on "Organic Chemistry Related to Nicotine"^{33,34} to "nurture university rapport, have our hand on well trained chemist [*sic*] as future possible employee"³⁵ and to study the molecular modification of tobacco alkaloids and isolate a nicotine substitute that did not produce the same cardiovascular effects that nicotine did.^{36,37} In September 1969, reflecting the changing social norms on marijuana, Burger wrote to Dr. Robert Ikeda, manager of chemical and biological research at PM Research Laboratories, suggesting a "novel research program" for the PM Chemical and Biological Research Division:

From all I can gather from the literature, from the press, and just living among young people, I can predict that marihuana smoking will have grown to immense proportions within a decade and will probably be legalized. The company that will bring out the first marihuana smoking devices, be it a cigarette or some other form, will capture the market and be in a better position than its competitors to satisfy the legal public demand for such products. I want to suggest, therefore, that you institute immediately a research program on all phases of marihuana.³⁸

The LTDL does not contain information on whether or how Ikeda responded to Burger's letter.

On October 31, 1969, Dr. Manilo A. Manzelli, a research professional in PM's Technical Planning and Information Division,³⁹ completed a 65-page literature survey on marijuana because legalization of marijuana "has possible implications for smokers."40 The survey listed studies offering chemical, biological, and pharmacological information about marijuana, as well as samples of recent articles in the popular media, but it did not draw any conclusions about how marijuana related to tobacco or the tobacco business. The literature review was sent to Dr. P.A. Eichorn, manager of PM's Technical Planning and Information Division; Dr. R.M. Ikeda, manager of chemical and biological research at PM's Research Laboratories, and Dr. Robert Fagan, a scientist in PM's Department of Research and Development. On October 30, 1969, Fagan wrote to Dr. Helmut Wakeham, PM's vice president of research and development, suggesting that PM contact the US Department of Justice's (DOJ) Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) Drug Science Division and offer to analyze the smoke from Cannabis sativa in the way that PM analyzed smoke from tobacco with toxicity tests, inhalation studies, and carcinogenesis studies.⁴¹ Fagan wrote:

On the basis of your [Wakeham's] telephone conversation with Dr. Dunn [associate principal scientist in research and development at PM], I called Dr. Milton Joffe, Chief of the Drug Sciences Division in the Bureau of Narcotics and Drug Abuse [*sic*] in the U.S. Department of Justice. ... Dr. Joffe is most anxious to have the smoke from Cannabis sativa analyzed the way smoke from tobacco is analyzed.

Before PM could proceed with its request, Fagan had to discuss the matter with Joffe's superior, BNDD director John Ingersoll. Joffe agreed to facilitate such interaction, since he "heartily approve[d] of such a project."⁴¹ Because the DOJ did not have the funds to finance independent research on marijuana, PM did not request government funding for this work but did require that the project be done with the DOJ's permission and cooperation. Fagan followed up with Joffe in early November 1969, when the two discussed how the DOJ would "request" that the PM Research Center "analyze smoke from Cannabis sativa as a help to the U.S. Department of Justice."⁴² In addition, Fagan warned Wakeham that PM's cooperation with the DOJ would "mean inspection and supervision by agents of the Department" and that Joffe planned to visit the PM Research Center in the near future.

In November 1969, Joffe officially wrote to PM's Wakeham expressing the BNDD's appreciation for the fact that the PM Research Center would "be willing to perform certain experiments on marihuana smoke that would be of interest to [the BNDD] as well as to the scientific community."⁴³ Joffe assured Wakeham that the BNDD would supply PM with "good quality"⁴³ marijuana material that was not generally available, in order to "allow a better and more accurate assessment of constituents, pyrolysis products and their relationships than would poor starting materials."⁴³ PM, however, still had to win the approval of both the Food and Drug Administration's Public Health Service Joint Advisory Committee on Psychotomimetic Drugs (the only legal source for controlled substances not available for general distribution or by prescription) and the director of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) to obtain federal clearance.⁴³

Wakeham expressed interest in the project to the BNDD on the condition that PM's name not be made public.⁴⁴ BNDD's Joffe assured Wakeham that the DOJ would comply with PM's confidentiality request and withdrew the requirement that PM would have to apply to the US Joint Advisory Committee on Psychotomimetic Drugs to acquire the marijuana.⁴⁵ Because an application to the Joint Advisory Committee on Psychotomimetic Drugs would have become "well known," Joffe helped PM avoid unwanted publicity and public attention by requesting only that PM complete an application with the IRS's district director "for a tax stamp as a Class V researcher."⁴⁵ Joffe requested a visit to PM's laboratory to meet with the scientists involved in the project and to obtain enough information regarding the "methods used and size of samples needed" to make the request for cannabis in his name, thus preserving PM's anonymity.⁴⁵

In early 1970, an unsigned memorandum distributed to PM's top management described PM's rationale for working with the DOJ which was carefully written to make it seem as though the DOJ was asking PM to perform marijuana research when, in fact, the initial request came from PM's Fagan to Joffe:

The Department of Justice has asked us to perform some chemical analyses of marihuana smoke for the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs. They are willing to handle the matter on a confidential basis. We can hardly refuse this [BNDD's] request under any circumstances. . . . [W]e regard it as an opportunity to learn something about this controversial product, whose usage has been increasing, so rapidly among the young people.²⁴

In describing why PM had to modify its product line to fit the changing social norms, the letter states:

We are in the business of relaxing people who are tense and providing a pick up for people who are bored or depressed. The human needs that our product fills will not go away. Thus, the only real threat to our business is that society will find other means of satisfying these needs....

In this situation [marijuana as a rival product], business theory strongly suggests that we should learn as much as possible about this threat to our present product. We have done nothing so far because of the product's illegality and out of concern for our image. This request from the Justice Department, therefore, seems opportune.

With respect to public opinion regarding marihuana, leaders are moving towards ameliorating its stigma by recommending less penalty [*sic*] for its use and equating its use with alcohol and cigarettes.²⁴ [emphasis added]

In response to this memorandum, in February 1970 president of PM USA, Ross Millhiser, wrote PM's president, George Weissman, suggesting that PM accept and implement the DOJ's request because it would allow PM to "learn about this potentially competitive product—and under impeccable sponsorship."⁴⁶ Millhiser asked Weissman to return the memorandum to avoid having an additional file copy. Weissman replied to Millhiser:

While I am opposed to its [marijuana] use, I recognize that it may be legalized in the near future and put on some sort of restricted sale, if only to eliminate the criminal element. Thus, with these great auspices, we should be in a position to examine: 1. A potential competition, 2. A possible product, 3. At this time, cooperate with the government.⁴⁷ [emphasis added]

The documents in LTDL do not contain information on whether or not PM completed this project.

Information on the PM project, however, seems to have become known elsewhere in the tobacco industry. An internal American Tobacco Company (ATC) memo dated October 1970 from A.W. Burke Jr, ATC consultant/pharmacologist, to John Hager, ATC executive vice president, reported that ATC had information from reliable sources that under federal government sponsorship, PM "recently applied for and was granted a special permit to grow, cultivate and make marijuana extracts."⁴⁸ Burke concluded that marijuana research was progressing in the United States, as it could be reasonably assumed that some agency was making marijuana cigarettes for the US government.⁴⁸

BAT's 1970 Potential Study with International Regulatory Contacts: The "Pot" Project

Before enacting the Misuse of Drugs Act in 1971, which imposed harsher penalties for trafficking and supply, the United Kingdom had a less punitive drug policy.^{49,50} In March 1970 Sir Harry Greenfield, president of the International Narcotics Control Board, the Geneva-based body charged with monitoring and implementing United Nations conventions on illegal drugs, and also a tobacco taxation consultant to BAT,⁵¹ presented in a letter a new product idea to BAT's management:

One of my ideas which I want to talk over with you concerns the possibility of drawing upon the immense amount of research done by the tobacco industry into the smoking of tobacco and utilizing it for research on Cannabis. Having obtained agreement from the leaders of the British tobacco industry that this possibility might be discussed in principle by Scientists on both sides [promarijuana and antimarijuana legalization scientists] I consulted Sir Charles Ellis who is our [the International Narcotics Control Board's and the BAT board of directors'] principal adviser on technical research. He himself is rather taken with the idea and has been good enough to prepare a rough note which I enclose so that you may have time to read it before we all come together next Tuesday.⁵²

The purpose of Ellis's "provocative" note was to "stimulate questions and criticisms" on the topic of marijuana research in the United Kingdom from a team of scientists, which included Dr. S.J. Green, BAT's research and development director and chief scientist; and Dr. Herbert Bentley, a senior scientist at Imperial Tobacco (UK) and chair of the tobacco companies' International Committee on Smoking Issues Medical Research Working Party,⁵³ who did not attend the meeting.⁵²

Greenfield also was the president of the UN Permanent Central Narcotics Board and had participated in the third meeting of the LSD and Cannabis Sub-Committee of the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs in 1972.⁵⁴ He maintained that even though "respective countries are at liberty to exercise some discretion regarding appropriate penalties in specific cases," the international regulatory framework on marijuana should not be based on unreliable evidence linking the consumption of cannabis to the progression to other hard drugs.⁵⁴ Greenfield's recommendation to BAT's management reflected the British government's earlier views, objecting to the UN's dictating the domestic positions of member states and denying government autonomy over policy related to the regulation of medicine.⁵⁴ Greenfield considered marijuana use analogous to alcohol and tobacco use, which may have influenced his openness to discussing Ellis's marijuana proposal.⁵⁴

After consulting with Greenfield, BAT's Ellis prepared a 1970 memorandum for BAT's management on cannabis-loaded cigarettes "as a precaution" if marijuana became decriminalized for personal use.⁵⁵ Ellis drew attention to the fact that the regulatory framework on marijuana in the United Kingdom was perhaps becoming less restrictive, so it seemed wise for BAT to start experiments investigating every facet of cannabisloaded cigarettes. Because "existing knowledge is certainly not adequate to handle such a situation" (to regulate cannabis in a way similar to that for tobacco and alcohol products), and such detailed experiments take a long time to carry out, he recommended that the initial experiments begin immediately.⁵⁵ Ellis proposed a detailed plan for doing so, including both short-term and long-term studies.

Smoking such [a marijuana] cigarette is a natural expansion of current smoking habits which, if a more tolerant attitude were ever taken to cannabis, would be a change in habit comparable to moving over to cigars...

The proposed research can be started off very simply, it is just to do for "cannabis-loaded" cigarettes what has already been done for normal cigarettes.... The starting point must be to learn how to produce in quantity cigarettes loaded uniformly with a known amount of either ground cannabis or dried and cut cannabis rag.⁵⁵ [emphasis added]

Ellis also outlined how to design an experiment to understand the effect, on a mouse, of cannabis cigarettes, compared with tobacco cigarettes. The goal of the study would be to determine "whether there are any signs of a modification in irritancy [of the respiratory system] or in short-term tests of carcinogenicity as currently carried out

on cigarettes."⁵⁵ He called for a long-term study on the carcinogenic potential of cannabis if, in fact, "there were any signs [that] the addition of cannabis modif[ied] the carcinogenic potential of tobacco smoke, either positively or negatively."⁵⁵

Ellis suggested carrying out a pharmacological study on the effects of marijuana if it were determined that the effects of cannabis and nicotine "are [not] just addictive. We [BAT] should then be led into a long series of experiments using animals involving the whole gamut of pharmacological research ranging from effects on the CNS [central nervous system] to studies on behavior and learning ability."⁵⁵ He envisaged such a study would take place in the second year of the proposed research project. The memorandum ended with Ellis's discussing a possible "investigation of altered behaviourism and psychological reactions of human subjects." He outlined a financial plan and tentative road map for carrying out such studies by contracting with one or more research institutions.⁵⁵

Later in 1970, BAT launched its strictly confidential "pot" project, whose introductory page in the archive folder listed the letters from Ellis ^{23,55} and from Greenfield to Professor Paton⁵² introducing Ellis's interest in studying marijuana.⁵⁶ Apart from a sample of collected literature on cannabis research,⁵⁶ the LTDL does not contain any additional information on the "pot" project.

An unsigned March 1976 BAT memorandum, in Green's files, ⁵⁷ entitled "The Product [cigarettes] in the Early 1980s," cites the main threats to conventional cigarettes. F. Haslam, an employee in BAT's Research and Development Department, alluded to the memorandum's author, C.I. Ayres (a BAT research adviser), in another memorandum addressed to Green and prepared for the Millbank Product Development Committee (MPDC) meeting.⁵⁸ (Millbank was the name of BAT's Research and Development headquarters in London, and members of the MPDC were key leaders of BAT, including S.J. Green and BAT's chairman Patrick Sheehy.)⁵⁹ This document discussed marijuana as a potential rival to nicotine cigarettes, and as an option to secure the success of cigarette markets, the memorandum noted:

The only material which has received a lot of attention [from drug regulators and the general public] is marijuana, and the controversy on whether or not to legalise soft drugs has been frequently aired. . . . If the use of such drugs was legalised, one avenue for exploitation would be the augmentation of cigarettes with near sub-liminal levels of the drug. It is argued that a distinction exists between drugs acting on levels

of brain activity (such as nicotine and some other stimulants) and drugs acting on the state of consciousness (such as marijuana, LSD and other hallucinogens). *In this sense, nicotine and marijuana are not direct competitors.*⁵⁷ [emphasis added]

The 1970s was an era in which state governments in the United States and other localities around the world began decriminalizing possession of small amounts of marijuana.^{60,61} Rumors were spreading in Europe that France and Sweden were discussing the legalization of marijuana^{62,63} (discussed in detail later), and in 1976 the Netherlands adopted a formal written policy of nonenforcement for violations involving the possession or sale of up to 30 grams of cannabis. Although BAT did not formally announce a project dedicated to researching marijuana as a potential product, the documents show that key members in BAT's Research and Development Division took notice of marijuana at a time when the public's view of legalizing it was becoming more liberal. BAT was weighing its options because of threats to the cigarette business, such as nicotine reduction strategies and social disapproval of smoking, and in doing so, its research team reviewed potential rivals for cigarettes in the coming decade.⁵⁷ BAT's Ayres, however, regarded marijuana as not directly competitive because of the different ways in which the drugs act on brain activity (nicotine) and on consciousness (marijuana), and he emphasized the development of a blended product if marijuana became legal.⁵⁷

Marijuana as a Rival Product to Tobacco Cigarettes

In October 1970, Congress passed the Controlled Substances Act, which superseded earlier legislation and classified cannabis as having a high potential for abuse, having zero medical use, and being unsafe for use without medical supervision.⁶⁴ It focused on prosecuting marijuana distributors and manufacturers, abolishing minimum sentences for users, and reducing penalties for possession to a misdemeanor.⁶⁴ As still is the case in 2014, there is a conflict between federal and state policies regarding the illegality of marijuana. At the federal level, the use, sale, and possession of cannabis (marijuana) is a criminal offense, although several jurisdictions have begun modifying state laws and local regulations regarding its possession. In the 1970s, eleven states decriminalized the possession of marijuana, imposing civil rather than criminal penalties,^{64,65} and most others reduced their penalties for possession of small amounts.⁶⁶ British American Tobacco and Brown & Williamson continued to collect research data on marijuana and to report on its possible legalization.^{67,68}

In January 1971, US news media speculated about the tobacco industry's intention to enter the marijuana market. *Time* magazine reported, "Tobacco men are . . . discussing the potentially heavy market for marijuana, and some figure it could be legalized within five years."⁶⁹ The story brought immediate disavowals from the tobacco industry, and *Time* was forced to apologize.⁷⁰ The Tobacco Institute, the tobacco industry's lobbying organization, issued a press release stating that "rumors about the cigarette industry's involvement with marijuana are as persistent as they are false,"⁷¹ followed by a separate statement from all 6 major cigarette companies.⁷¹ PM's CEO, Joseph Cullman, issued a public statement that was printed in *Time* stating the industry was not interested in marijuana, claiming that PM "[has] held no discussions nor made any plans concerning the marketing of that product."⁷¹

In 1972, the National Commission on Marijuana and Drug Abuse established by President Richard Nixon recommended that the possession of marijuana for personal use no longer be a felony offense and that the casual distribution of small amounts of marijuana for no or insignificant remuneration be reduced to a civil penalty.⁶⁴ The commission did, however, recommend that the large-scale sale and distribution of marijuana remain a felony.⁶⁴ But Nixon and Congress ignored the commission.¹² The same year an RJR document stamped "Secret" predicted future trends for corporate planning and assigned a 15% probability for marijuana legalization by 1980 (compared with 1% for prohibition of cigarettes and 10% for a cure for lung cancer).²⁷

A 1976 market research report prepared for Brown & Williamson on state trends in marijuana decriminalization noted that "state law is gaining momentum, with a total of 8 states which now have removed criminal penalties for possession and another 27 considering similar legislation."⁷² The report concluded, "This trend in liberalization of drug laws reflects the overall change in our value system. It also has important implications for the tobacco industry in terms of an alternative product line," and it is highly probable that marijuana would become decriminalized and perhaps legalized in the United States by 1990.⁷² We could not locate any material in the LTDL on what, if any, decisions Brown & Williamson made based on this information.

In 1976, the United Kingdom's BAT senior research scientist Ray Thornton compiled a memorandum for Dr. C.I. Ayres, chief scientist in BAT's Research and Development Division, assessing the potential for rival products and substitutes for tobacco cigarettes.⁷³ Thornton concluded that marijuana was not "in direct competition with nicotine, although there may be some interaction between them, as there is between drinking and smoking."⁷³ At this time, the British tobacco companies considered marijuana's increasing popularity as a threat to the tobacco market, given the pressure from the medical community and public health advocates for the industry to acknowledge the link between smoking and disease.^{28,73} BAT concluded that even though marijuana was not in direct competition with nicotine, the public toleration of marijuana "to a certain degree" was a direct threat to the industry.²⁸

In November 1976, the public relations agency Campbell-Johnson delivered a report to the Tobacco Advisory Council, the British tobacco industry's trade and lobby organization, which, along with medical and political challenges, discussed the "drugs challenge," noting that "as medical pressure against cigarette smoking increases, there is little sign of similar press against marijuana smoking,"²⁸ an issue still relevant in 2014. It continued:

In this country, a Campaign to Legalize Cannabis has lately become active; and similar moves are being made elsewhere, notably in the United States... There is an obvious danger that, if more restrictions are placed on tobacco and if the marijuana habit notches up further small advances in legality, many people may switch from one to the other in their search for a form of escape from our neurotic civilization. Marijuana supporters would claim that was a net improvement from the health aspect.²⁸

Campbell-Johnson concluded that it would be a public relations disaster to begin marketing marijuana cigarettes if their use became more popular.²⁸ (It is not clear whether the firm meant before or after legalization.) The firm speculated that the consumption curves of tobacco and marijuana could intersect (meaning that the volume of both tobacco and marijuana sales would be equal). In the event of a public crossover from cigarettes to marijuana, Campbell-Johnson urged the tobacco industry to work toward preserving the social respectability of tobacco by not allowing the public to equate tobacco use with that of marijuana while doing everything possible to minimize cigarettes' "health drawbacks."²⁸

A year later, in 1977, Brown & Williamson's internal "problem lab" discussed the legalization of marijuana as part of a broader discussion on how to "better estimate [the] future environment for [the] tobacco industry and B&W growth."⁷⁴ The problem lab brainstormed potential trends, directions, and major events that might affect the future of B&W in particular, and the tobacco industry in general, including venturing into "non-tobacco products that give similar satisfactions" and "how get [*sic*] into non-tobacco cigarette products."⁷⁴ The documents offer no details of what they concluded.

In 1978, two B&W market forecasters produced a report for the tobacco industry forecasting the events during the next 15 years in order to produce a corporate planning strategy.⁷⁵ The report included a marijuana legalization scenario in which the market forecasters assumed that legalization would cause a period of difficult reappraisal for the tobacco company. The report stated, "While marijuana products seem to be a logical new industry for tobacco companies, severe stockholder dissention prohibits several from immediately entering the market."⁷⁵ The report predicted that in the long run, the legalization of marijuana consumption in the United States, after the initial market adjustment, would be less disruptive to tobacco sales than a criminal market would be:

Consumption of tobacco falls drastically immediately following marijuana legalization as people experiment with the drug. Subsequent to the novelty effect, tobacco consumption again rises to near prelegalized marijuana levels. Two marijuana-containing products are highly probable: *a straight marijuana cigarette and a marijuana-tobacco blend*. *The increase in the demand for tobacco due to the marijuana-tobacco blend* counteracts the effect of the small decrease in the whole cigarette consumption.⁷⁵ [emphasis added]

The report also predicted that Latin American countries and Indonesia would soon follow the United States in legalizing the production and sale of marijuana because they would likely become the primary suppliers of marijuana and because foreign governments would take note of the major revenues to be gained by marijuana as a legal product.⁷⁵ Finally, the report predicted that marijuana would be regulated in the same way as tobacco in regard to clean indoor air legislation, private business exemption laws, and taxes, issues that are relevant in 2014.

In 1980, BAT's Research and Development Department brainstormed about the radical changes that the tobacco industry could face by the end of the century and concluded that BAT "should learn to look at itself as a drug company rather than as a tobacco company."⁷⁶ The memorandum resumed discussing future avenues of product development for BAT:

The mood affecting drug requirements of the population will in the future increase but the range of requirements will encompass tranquillisers e.g. valium, endorphin/enkephalin (brain opiates), marijuana, nicotine analogues, etc. At present the taking of many of these drugs is either medically prescribed or regarded as deviant behavior, but could be "socialised" like alcoholic drinking and tobacco smoking.⁷⁶

The memorandum concluded that a future "diversification program" would have to look at what types of mood affecting drugs to administer, how to administer such drugs, and how to engender social acceptance of their widespread use. The program's initial research would be pursued through contracts with universities and the eventual purchase of a drug company.⁷⁶

This was not the first time that the tobacco industry made plans to enter the pharmaceutical business. As early as the mid-1950s, Philip Morris and RJ Reynolds began to study cigarette smoking in people with mental illness because of their "low" (probably undiagnosed) cancer rates.⁷⁷ The industry's Council for Tobacco Research (CTR) funded studies intended to prove that smoking helped alleviate psychiatric symptoms. Internal research on mental illness and schizophrenia "focused on the use of nicotine and nicotine analogs as pharmaceutical agents,"⁷⁷ with the goal of developing new products and changing public and medical attitudes toward nicotine. In 1997, RJR developed its subsidiary Targacept to "rapidly commercialize RJRT's nicotine pharmaceutical technologies."⁷⁸

Although it is unclear whether the tobacco industry made concrete plans to pursue marijuana as a future product, in the 1970s and early 1980s its business forecasts continued to consider potential marijuana legalization, despite its public denial of media claims linking the tobacco industry to marijuana. It is not certain whether the tobacco industry's forecasting agencies advised major decision makers to enter the marijuana business, perhaps because of concerns about protecting its public reputation with primary stockholders.⁷⁵

B&W and RJ Reynolds: Menthol and Marijuana Studies Including African Americans

The success of Brown & Williamson's menthol cigarette brand Kool led other companies to study Kool consumers and develop competing products. PM and RJ Reynolds conducted focus groups to understand the appeal of the Kool brand to smokers of menthol cigarettes. In January 1972, PM conducted 2 focus groups in Detroit, in which researchers analyzed consumers' opinion of the Kool brand and a potential PM product, "Menthol Fats."79 The study's conclusions were distributed to R.B. Seligman, PM's director of commercial development of tobacco products, and P.A. Eichorn, PM's manager of technical planning and information development. (Eichorn had also received the 1969 literature review on marijuana.)⁴⁰ The results showed that consumers preferred Kool after smoking marijuana to clear the "cottony feeling in the mouth or throat" and "for some people the association is so strong that several of them said that Kool 'smells like reefers [marijuana].""79 PM asked several questions regarding the relationship between marijuana and menthol cigarettes and found that menthol cigarettes were "good for making 'cocktails,' [or] homemade smoking mixtures."79 The report concluded that there was a strong correlation between Kool customers and marijuana smokers.⁷⁹ We do not know what action, if any, PM took based on this information.

RJ Reynolds also was interested in the strengths of the Kool brand and commissioned Callahan Research Associates to conduct 2 focus groups in Manhattan in February 1972. In addition to soothing the harsh effect of marijuana smoke, menthol brands, the participants reported, were used for another reason related to marijuana: "Instead of smoking an additional marijuana cigarette, they can switch to a mentholated cigarette, sustain the high and begin to taper off in a pleasant fashion."²⁵ The documents do not show what, if anything, RJR did with this information.

B&W commissioned research by Kenyon & Eckhardt Advertising in 1974 to study the perceptions, attitudes, and behavior of younger, recently initiated smokers. This research found that young people smoked Kool cigarettes after smoking marijuana to relieve the dryness of the throat caused by marijuana, primarily because Kool had the strongest menthol flavor.⁸⁰ As part of the section on key findings, the report stated that "Kool was thought of [by the youth participants] as a follow-up to chase a marijuana cigarette [and] the consensus was that the two 'just go together."⁸⁰

In 1980, B&W commissioned another report on Kool, this time by the New York–based advertising agency Cunningham & Walsh, which pointed to an increase in marijuana smoking as a factor in Kool's success: "Black consciousness was growing [and the] use of marijuana by young people was growing particularly among the children of the post-war baby boom."⁸¹ The agency highlighted the strong correlation between cigarette smokers and marijuana users, finding that approximately 52% of marijuana users aged "12–17 also smoked cigarettes compared with only 11% of non users." The report concluded that menthol cigarettes were widely smoked amongst marijuana users.

Analyses of marijuana smokers resulting from these focus groups were part of a wider study on youth, African American, and lower socioeconomic status smokers that the tobacco industry carried out in the 1970s, 1980s, and 1990s. Industry documents show that from 1970 to the late 1990s, cigarette companies strategically aligned their marketing campaign to capture the youth and African American markets, in which marijuana also was smoked at higher rates than non-menthol cigarettes were.⁸² As cigarette companies attempted to eliminate the Kool brand monopoly on the menthol cigarette market, the industry realized that there was a strong link between menthol cigarette smokers and marijuana users.

Studying the Effects of Marijuana

Perhaps because of public relations concerns and in the interest of primary stockholders,⁷⁵ the CTR refused to fund 3 research proposals on marijuana in 1971, 1977, and 1978.⁸³⁻⁸⁶ We did not find any other proposals for outside marijuana research that the tobacco industry discussed favorably, aside from the request to study marijuana with the permission of and cooperation with the Department of Justice in 1969.⁴¹ Nonetheless, in 1979, the CTR assigned public relations specialist Leonard Zahn to attend and report on scientific conferences on marijuana.^{87,88}

Philip Morris, independent of the CTR, became involved in a conference held by the National Institution of Drug Abuse (NIDA) in 1980. Responding to a request from PM's vice president and general counsel, Alexander Holtzman,^{89,90} the PM Research Center thoroughly reviewed the minutes of the 1980 research conference to develop recommendations for studies of the long-term health effects of marijuana smoke compared with those of tobacco smoke.⁹⁰ The original request from Holtzman to Robert Seligman, vice president of research and development, who reported directly to the senior vice president of operations, was unavailable because PM claimed it was "privileged content," "confidential communications from Philip Morris USA, Inc. counsel to Philip Morris USA, Inc. employees."⁹¹ Consequently, it is not clear why PM was consulting its lawyers about marijuana research.⁸⁹

In 1980, NIDA conducted the "Long Term Inhalation Study of Marihuana" to develop recommendations for future studies involving the biomedical effects of marijuana compared with those of tobacco smoke. In addition, the study reviewed and assessed the "methodolog-ical issues involved in the study of the long term effects of marihuana smoke."⁹² The study also discouraged the incorporation of a tobacco group in long-term marijuana research because it would be costly and likely would produce more disadvantages than advantages, especially regarding the "interpretation of the data at the conclusion of the study."⁹² NIDA did not reveal why it discouraged the incorporation of the tobacco industry in marijuana research.^{6,92}

Fagan, PM's principal scientist and one of the first persons to communicate with the DOJ's Joffe in 1969 on a potential marijuana research project, prepared comments for Holtzman on the "Long Term Inhalation Study of Marihuana,"⁹³ in which he concluded, "Because of the common pathway of exposure—inhalation, it would be wise to be in intimate touch with what goes on in the field of marihuana research."⁹³ He also remarked that several areas had been left unexplored at the research meeting, including "tobacco chewing and ingestion of marihuana," marijuana cigarettes lacking filters, and the lack of studies exploring the different ways in which marijuana is prepared for smoking.⁹³ He suggested that "some attention should be paid to it [comparing chewing tobacco with ingesting marijuana]" and that all these areas of concern would likely have some effect on the long-term consequences of smoking marijuana.⁹³

In 1984, the American Lung Association (ALA) launched a program to prevent children aged 9 to 11 from using marijuana.⁹⁴ Zahn attended the ALA's annual meeting in Miami Beach, Florida, to learn more about the project. In his summary of the meeting, he included information about young people and about cigarettes as a gateway drug to marijuana. Zahn's conclusions were circulated to senior management, including James C. Bowling, PM's senior vice president of corporate affairs and a member of the Tobacco Institute's board of directors; Alexander Holtzman, PM's in-house lawyer who requested that the PM Research Center review the "Long Term Inhalation Study of Marihuana";⁸⁹ and Thomas Osdene, PM's director of science and technology.⁹⁵ Some of the highlights of Zahn's memorandum on the ALA meeting are the following:

Among youths aged 12-17 years, 11.5% smoke marijuana and 12.4% smoke cigarettes. *Cigarettes are a "gateway" drug to marijuana use*. Cigarettes are addictive because of the nicotine; marijuana can cause dependency because of psychoactive cannabinoids. *Teenagers who smoke cigarettes are 11 times more likely to become marijuana smokers*.

There are an estimated 20 million current marijuana smokers in the U.S. of whom nearly 3-million are adolescents. More than one third of high school students have used marijuana in the eighth grade or earlier....

There's no conclusive evidence as yet that marijuana smoking causes chronic, debilitating lung diseases in humans. With cigarette smoking, these diseases appear only after 10–20 years; most marijuana smokers in the U.S. haven't yet smoked that long.⁹⁴ [emphasis in original]

Internal tobacco documents do not contain information about marijuana legalization between the 1980 discussion on the "Long Term Inhalation Study of Marihuana" and 1992, possibly because of the changing social and political environment reflected in President Ronald Reagan's shift in drug policy to focus on prohibition and the pursuit of producers, suppliers, and users.¹² In contrast to subsequent administrations, Nixon's "war on drugs" used most of its funding for treatment rather than law enforcement.¹² The internal documents of the multinational tobacco companies do not show any interest in marijuana legalization again until the early 1990s, when its use among youth and young adults began significantly rising.¹⁵

In 1992, RJR International's Research and Development office in Cologne, Germany, started a project comparing the basic toxicology and pharmacology of nicotine and cannabinol, the psychoactive cannabinoid found in *Cannabis sativa* and *Cannabis indica*.^{62,96} The office decided to conduct the review after news reports, later determined to be false, claimed that the French tobacco company Seita had distributed cannabis-loaded cigarettes. Dr. Lutz Mueller, who was responsible for industry issues and scientific and regulatory issues management at RJR, also informed Don deBethizy, director of biological research, and Wally

Hayes, vice president of biochemical/biobehavioral research and development at RJR, that several European countries were in discussion about taking cannabis off the list of controlled substances.⁶² Mueller forwarded to deBethizy and Hayes a preliminary document prepared by Anthony Tricker, a researcher for the Association of Cigarette Industries of Germany (Verband), which compared the toxicological and pharmacological effects of nicotine with those of cannabinol.^{62,96} Mueller mentioned in the memo that RJR "should know more about cannabinol in view of the possibility of its future more frequent use in certain European countries."⁶² He concluded, "The Scientific Department [Verband] will complete a more thorough review in a few months."⁶² We could not locate any information on whether the Verband conducted this review on marijuana and nicotine with cannabinol.

In April 1992, BAT's R&D scientist and regulatory issues manager, T.G. Mitchell, requested "advice regarding [the] liberalization of marijuana laws" from P.J. Casingena, BAT's in-house legal counsel.⁹⁷ The exact details of the request are unknown due to attorney-client privilege, but a handwritten "note from Terry Mitchell regarding [the] English translation of [the] German text"63 refers to a proposal by Switzerland's Basel Liberal Democratic Party (LDP) on the "Liberalisation of Hashish and Marihuana."98 In his note to Casingena, Mitchell remarked that a draft reply to the Basel LDP report "was put together by RJR." Because the report by the Basel LDP's Drug Committee discussed the legalization of marijuana and opposed equal penalties for using hard and soft drugs,⁹⁸ this probably was one of the reports that Mueller referred to as part of the discussion by "European countries about taking cannabis off the list of controlled substances."⁶² We could not locate the draft reply to the Basel LDP report by RJR to which Mitchell referred in his note to Casingena.

Discussion

Industry documents show that despite public statements denying involvement in marijuana research, tobacco companies closely monitored the marijuana debate as it developed over the last 40 years in the United States and the United Kingdom. Since 1970, several companies have been researching product competition and development and forecasting the possible legalization of marijuana, which they consider both a threat to current products and an opportunity for the development of new products containing marijuana, with high sales potential.

Marijuana is the most widely used illicit drug in the United States, with 19 million Americans aged 12 and older reporting past-month use in 2012. In 2013 more 12th graders reported past-month marijuana use (23%) than cigarette smoking (17%).^{99,100} In 1997, teens' tobacco smoking for 30 days (36%) was 1.4 times that of marijuana (26%), whereas by 2011 the situation had reversed, with marijuana use (23%) 1.3 times that of smoking (18%).¹⁰¹ Among young adults (18 to 25), 18% used marijuana in 2012, whereas the rate for young adult current smokers was 32%.¹⁰⁰ By 2013, 58% supported legalizing marijuana, including 67% of 18- to 29-year-olds.¹⁰²

In 2012, there were 17 marijuana legalization proposals in 10 states, including 14 citizen-initiatives and 3 legislatively referred amendments, ranging from decriminalization and permitting the use of marijuana for medicinal purposes to full legalization of the commercial cultivation, processing, distribution, sale, and possession of larger amounts.^{65,103} As of 2014, 20 states and the District of Columbia had approved the medical use of marijuana.¹ Fifteen of the 20 states had state-registered dispensary laws by which the state government regulates and licenses the dispensaries, which may provide limited protection against federal prosecution for possession of small amounts for personal use.¹ On November 6, 2012, Colorado and Washington became the first states to legalize the sale and possession of cannabis for recreational use for persons 21 and older.¹ Uruguay became the first country to legalize the sale and distribution of marijuana, effective in 2014, for residents 18 and older.¹⁰⁴

At the same time, as of 2014, cannabis remains a Schedule I substance under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, which makes the use, sale, and possession of cannabis (marijuana) a criminal offense.⁶⁴ Even though the federal government did not show signs of pursuing federal legalization of marijuana, President Barack Obama stated that the prosecution of recreational users in states where marijuana was legalized was not "of principal concern" to the federal government.¹⁰⁵ Instead, the Obama administration stated its intention to refocus marijuana enforcement on distribution to minors, something that would likely be prohibited if marijuana were legalized in the future, although the president still did "not support widespread legalization of marijuana."^{106,107} The legalization of recreational marijuana, combined with the moderation of the federal government's position, may both accelerate and reflect the trend to legalization. In the coming years, the combination of marijuana legalization in Washington and Colorado and pressure from advocacy groups like the National Organization for the Reform of Marijuana Laws (NORML) and the Marijuana Policy Project (MPP) may influence other states (eg, Alaska, California, Maine) to marshal efforts aimed at passing statewide laws.¹⁰³ The 2016 presidential election may be a pivotal year for marijuana legalization if politicians craft their positions on marijuana legalization to capture the youth or libertarian vote.¹⁰⁸

Advocates of drug policy reform claim that prohibition produces adverse social consequences such as the imprisonment of hundreds of thousands of mostly young black men,^{109,110} and they criticize the war on drugs¹⁰⁹ on the grounds that illegal markets generate crime, violence, corruption, and their associated societal costs.^{65,110} Advocates claim that there are not nearly as many social costs associated with marijuana as there are with alcohol and tobacco, which have higher rates of morbidity, mortality, and state spending on Medicaid than on marijuana use.¹¹¹ Advocates also maintain that new marijuana taxes will produce additional revenue for federal and state governments^{109,110} while legalizing marijuana may provide relief for people using it for medical reasons.^{60,110}

Marijuana legalization advocates have not considered the potential effects of the multinational tobacco companies entering the market (or other corporations such as the food and beverage industries), with their substantial marketing power and capacity to engineer marijuana cigarettes to maximize efficacy as drug delivery systems, in the way that modern cigarettes are designed, whose primary objective is maximizing profits through higher sales. Jurisdictions that create a legalized marijuana market remove some of the barriers to increasing sales as well as the public relations and legal hurdles that have, so far, kept major corporations—including tobacco companies—out of the market.^{4,112} There is a risk that the tobacco industry, with its demonstrated ability to manipulate consumers' consent and regulatory frameworks, will take over marijuana markets, exacerbating yet another public health problem.¹¹²

The tobacco industry has long worked (generally out of the public eye) to influence the development and implementation of public policy^{113,114} on a wide range of issues, including clean indoor legislation,¹¹⁵ taxation,¹¹⁴ minor access laws,^{116,117} and tort reform.^{6,7,114,118,119} In

the case of marijuana, however, the documents do not show the tobacco industry as an important proponent of marijuana legalization. But because some key files were privileged or confidential, this question has still not been answered.

Nevertheless, senior scientists, marketing executives, and top management at the major tobacco companies have recognized marijuana as both a rival and a potential product, given its popularity among youth, African Americans, and menthol smokers,^{25,39,79,80,120} a conclusion supported by independent research.¹⁴ For example, a 2003 study of college students at the University of Florida found that 65% of students had used both marijuana and tobacco within the same hour; 31% said they smoked tobacco to prolong the effects of marijuana; and 55% had peers who were dual users.¹⁴ In 2013, the marijuana industry was already advertising a medical marijuana strain with a "menthol taste."^{121,122}

During the 1980s, tobacco may have been a gateway to marijuana, but now the combination of the declining social acceptability of tobacco and the increasing social acceptability of marijuana²² has reversed this situation. A 10-year, 8-wave cohort study in Australia found that weekly cannabis use during the teenage years predicted the initiation of tobacco smoking among 20- to 24-year-olds and that weekly cannabis use predicted later nicotine dependence apart from smoking status.²² Dual users of marijuana and tobacco are more likely to experience worse health outcomes such as chronic respiratory symptoms (eg, chronic bronchitis, wheezing, chest sounds) than tobacco-only users and are less likely to be able to guit either.¹²³ "Blunt chasing," smoking a cigar or cigarillo after smoking a blunt (a tobacco cigar with added marijuana) to intensify the sensation of both drugs, may both support and reinforce marijuana users' tobacco (nicotine) dependence,14,22,123 something the industry documented in its research on marijuana and menthol smokers in the 1980s.^{39,120}

E-cigarettes are another nexus between tobacco and marijuana. Ecigarettes can be used as marijuana-delivery devices using hash oil ^{17,124} and are difficult to distinguish from conventional e-cigarettes.¹²⁵ In 2014, Altria (formerly Philip Morris) purchased Florida-based Green Smoke, an e-cigarette company whose logo and website suggests crossover marijuana use,¹²⁶ and as of 2014, NORML was assisting the tobacco and e-cigarette companies in opposing efforts to include e-cigarettes in clean indoor air laws.¹²⁷ While assessing the potential social costs and benefits of marijuana legalization, one of the key issues warranting consideration is the manufacturing and marketing power of the multinational tobacco companies, which have shown tremendous marketing and lobbying power to sell their addictive products.⁶⁻⁸ It took decades to strengthen the controls on tobacco production and marketing. As we pointed out earlier, the tobacco companies have a long-standing interest in the possibilities raised by a legalized marijuana market. Because of the tobacco industry's demonstrated ability and willingness to modify its products to increase addictiveness, obfuscate information, deceive the public, and use advertising to target vulnerable groups to increase demand, the industry also has the power to dramatically change (and expand) the use of marijuana.

To avoid having marijuana develop into a tobacco-style public health epidemic, the regulatory focus in a legalized market should be on market structure to limit the power of large corporations, including tobacco companies, from taking control of the marijuana market and turning it into one modeled on the cigarette market.

One model for doing so would be to create an agency, similar to Uruguay's Regulation and Cannabis Control Institute (IRCCA), to control the production and distribution of marijuana and cannabis products.^{128,129} The agency would produce generic, unbranded cannabis, eliminating the incentive to market and advertise competitive products.¹²⁸ The state would use its licensing power to grant licenses to qualified professional farmers (as well as for home cultivation for personal use) and limit the number of licenses, depending on demand, to avoid an illegal market.^{128,129}

For private control of the market, a broad set of requirements for the regulation of tobacco products could be applied to marijuana, including the same restrictions on advertising as apply to cigarettes and tobacco products (including no television or radio advertising); taxation (with some revenues earmarked for public education, prevention, and cessation programs); the prohibition of free samples of marijuana cigarettes and smokeless marijuana products; the prohibition of flavored products (including menthol) and marijuana products containing nicotine¹³⁰; the prohibition of brandname sponsorship of athletic, music, and cultural events¹³¹; as well as the requirement of plain packaging and graphic health warning labels and the prohibition of vending machine sales, point-of-sale advertising, and Internet sales.¹³²

An important lesson from tobacco control is that smoking marijuana should not be allowed anywhere that smoking conventional cigarettes is not allowed, in order to protect people from secondhand marijuana smoke, and local governments should not be preempted from regulating commercial marijuana from cultivation to sale. (Except for the psychoactive ingredient—THC versus nicotine—marijuana smoke is similar to tobacco smoke.¹³³) As of early 2014, even though Colorado and Washington enacted clean indoor air laws in 2013,^{130,134} the marijuana lobby was working to exempt marijuana clubs from smoking restrictions in Colorado.¹³⁵

Limitations

The documents we used in this article came from the UCSF Legacy Tobacco Documents Library, which is a collection of documents discovered as a result of the smoking and health litigation in the United States. Because marijuana was not a focus of this litigation, there may be more information from the tobacco companies on this question that was not made available through the LTDL. It is for these reasons that we did not find any relevant documents dated after 1998, as the industry may have been more cautious and circumspect as to what it kept as internal records.¹³⁶ The tobacco companies' aggressive claims of attorney-client privilege have limited our access to relevant documents,^{89,97} as have the industry's coordinated strategies to conceal timely access to information through oral-only agreements, "read then destroy" policies, and systematic document destruction programs and by routing scientific memos "through the lawyers."¹³⁶ Indeed, in her ruling in the US Department of Justice's racketeering case against the major cigarette companies, CTR, and related organizations, federal judge Gladys Kessler found that the industry lawyers "devised and carried out document destruction policies and took shelter behind baseless assertions of the attorney client privilege."137

Conclusion

Legislators, regulators, and members of the public considering the legalization of marijuana must take into account that multinational tobacco companies are prepared to enter the market with incentives to increase

the use of the drug. While it is impossible to predict the impact that marijuana legalization will have on consumption, advocates and policymakers must nonetheless be prepared to address regulatory matters such as licensing laws, signage, public use, age restrictions, marketing restrictions, and location of retail stores in order to prevent the tobacco (or other similar) industry's takeover of the market. Given that medical marijuana programs are associated with the high prevalence of marijuana abuse and dependence,¹³⁸ there is concern that marijuana use disorders would increase as a result of recreational marijuana legalization and the associated mass media marketing of marijuana. The concomitant use of marijuana and tobacco presents undesirable effects such as reduced motivation and more difficulty quitting, as well as higher levels of nicotine dependence among youth and young adults. It is important that tobacco control advocates and the public understand the clandestine research and analyses that the tobacco industry has conducted regarding potential marijuana legalization as well as the tobacco industry's role in turning cigarettes into the world's most widely used delivery system for the addictive drug nicotine, the leading preventable cause of death, to prevent the industry from repeating this history with marijuana if given the opportunity.⁶

References

- 1. National Conference of State Legislatures. State medical marijuana laws 2013. http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/statemedical-marijuana-laws.aspx. Accessed November 14, 2013.
- 2. Federal Bureau of Investigation. *Crime in the United States: 2011*. http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/2011/ crime-in-the-u.s.-2011/persons-arrested/persons-arrested. Accessed January 3, 2011.
- 3. Anderson DM, Rees DI. The legalization of recreational marijuana: how likely is the worst-case scenario? *J Policy Anal Manage*. October 22, 2013:1-11.
- 4. Keller B. How to legalize pot. New York Times. May 19, 2013.
- 5. McVay D. Marijuana legalization: the time is now. In: Inciardi JA, ed. *The Drug Legalization Debate*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1991:chap. 7.
- 6. Proctor R. The Golden Holocaust: Origins of the Cigarette Catastrophe and the Case for Abolition. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press; 2011.

The Tobacco Industry and Marijuana Legalization

- 7. Brandt A. The Cigarette Century: The Rise, Fall, and Deadly Persistence of the Product That Defined America. New York, NY: Basic Books; 2007.
- 8. Glantz S, Slade J, Bero L, Hanauer P, Barnes D, eds. *The Cigarette Papers*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press; 1996.
- 9. Inciardi J. American Drug Scene: An Anthology. Los Angeles, CA: Roxbury; 1998.
- 10. Inciardi JA. Between politics and reason: the drug legalization debate. Am J Sociol. 1998;103(4):1103-1104.
- McBride DC, Terry-McElrath Y, Harwood H, Inciardi JA, Leukefeld C. Reflections on drug policy. J Drug Issues. 2009;39(1):71-88.
- 12. Mares D. Drug Wars and Coffee Houses: The Political Economy of the International Drug Trade. Washington, DC: CQ Press; 2006.
- 13. Small D. The war on drugs is a war on racial justice. Soc Res. 2001;68(3):896-903.
- 14. Ramo DE, Liu H, Prochaska JJ. Tobacco and marijuana use among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review of their co-use. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2012;32(2):105-121.
- 15. Golub A, Johnson BD, Dunlap E. The growth in marijuana use among American youths during the 1990s and the extent of blunt smoking. *J Ethn Subst Abuse*. 2006;4(3-4):1-21.
- 16. Alcohol and Drug Abuse Institute. Learn about marijuana: science-based information for the public 2012. http:// learnaboutmarijuanawa.org/factsheets/tobacco.htm. Accessed December 11, 2013.
- 17. Givens A, Cheng P. I-team: e-cigarettes, used to smoke marijuana, spark new concerns. *NBC News*. October 11, 2013.
- 18. Gray E. Smokers are using e-cigarettes to get high. *Time*. October 11, 2013.
- 19. Breathes W. Crazy-high times: the rise of hash oil. *Rolling Stone*. June 20, 2013.
- 20. Urban Dictionary. Spliff. http://www.urbandictionary.com/ define.php?term=spliff. Accessed December 11, 2013.
- 21. Ramo DE, Delucchi KL, Hall SM, Liu H, Prochaska JJ. Marijuana and tobacco co-use in young adults: patterns and thoughts about use. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2013;74(2):301-310.
- 22. Patton GC, Coffey C, Carlin JB, Sawyer SM, Lynskey M. Reverse gateways? Frequent cannabis use as a predictor of tobacco initiation and nicotine dependence. *Addict*. 2005;100(10):1518-1525.
- 23. Ellis C. Cannabis loaded cigarettes. British American Tobacco, 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/uly54a99. Accessed May 29, 2013.

- 24. Rationale for compliance with Justice Department request. Philip Morris, 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/cdf12a00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 25. Callahan Research Associates. A summary of focus group research among young black people on mentholated cigarettes. RJ Reynolds, February 1972. http://legacy. library.ucsf.edu/tid/pkt66a00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- Forecasting International. Briefing paper for Brown & Williamson Tobacco Company. Brown & Williamson, July 8. 1976. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/mev00f00. Accessed May 31, 2013.
- 27. Planning assumptions: probability of legalization of marijuana by 1980 (15%). RJ Reynolds, January 1, 1972. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/eri89d00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 28. Campbell-Johnson Ltd. A public relations strategy for the Tobacco Advisory Council: appraisal and proposals. British American Tobacco, November 20, 1976. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/wip86b00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 29. US Surgeon General. The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General, 2014. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2014.
- Anderson SJ, McCandless PM, Klausner K, Taketa R, Yerger VB. Tobacco documents research methodology. *Tob Control.* 2011;20:Ii8-Ii11.
- 31. Gallup G. Gallup poll: 12 in 100 have tried marijuana. Philip Morris, October 26, 1969. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/ tid/fdo71f00. Accessed November 7, 2013.
- 32. Wakeham H. Memorandum from Philip Morris employee to Philip Morris employee containing marginalia. Philip Morris, November 24, 1967. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/cex27c00. Accessed November 7, 2013.
- Osdene TS. Letter to Dr. Wakeham on visit to the University of Virginia, Charlottesville. Philip Morris, November 17, 1967. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/wqf74e00. Accessed November 7, 2013.
- 34. Burger A. Letter to Dr. Osdene on acquisition of post-doctoral research fellow Warren M. Hankins. Philip Morris, October 17, 1967. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/vqf74e00. Accessed November 7, 2013.
- Eichorn PA. University of Virginia (Dr. A. Burger) / patent agreement. Philip Morris, September 6, 1967. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/xqf74e00. Accessed November 7, 2013.

- 36. Burger A. Re: possibility that P.M. might sponsor a research program. Philip Morris, August 18, 1967. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/rqk66b00. Accessed November 6, 2013.
- 37. Osdene TS. Visit with A. Burger, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, Virginia, on December 16, 1968. Philip Morris, December 26, 1968. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/dgi28e00. Accessed November 25, 2013.
- 38. Burger A. Letter to Dr. Robert Ikeda on next visit and initiation of discussion on MJ. Philip Morris, September 18, 1969. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/zjd74e00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 39. Letter to Chris Bolton and R. Seligman on nicotine and Kool. Philip Morris, June 19, 1972. http://legacy.library.ucsf. edu/tid/tvx71f00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 40. Manzelli M, Walford B. Literature survey marijuana. Philip Morris, October 31, 1969. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/ cdo71f00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 41. Fagan R. Cooperation with the US Department of Justice. Philip Morris, October 30, 1969. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/dsf74e00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 42. Fagan R. Further conversation Dr. M. Joffe, US Department of Justice. Philip Morris, November 4, 1969. http://legacy. library.ucsf.edu/tid/txx84e00. Accessed November 25, 2013.
- 43. Joffe M. Letter to Wakeham from Dr. Joffe regarding MJ and conversations with staff. Philip Morris, December 24, 1969. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/gnn54e00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 44. Wakeham H. Letter to Dr. Joffe from Wakeham. Philip Morris, December 12, 1969. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/hdf12a00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 45. Joffe M. Letter to H. Wakeman from Dr. Joffe regarding letter from December 12. Philip Morris, December 24, 1969. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/ddf12a00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 46. Millhiser RR. Note to George from RR Millhiser. Philip Morris, February 10, 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/qcf12a00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 47. Weissman G. Note from George Weissman. Philip Morris, February 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/tcf12a00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 48. Burke AW. State of Virginia permit to Philip Morris, Inc., for investigations on marijuana. American Tobacco, 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/wtr90c00. Accessed May 21, 2013.

- 49. Stringer J, Richardson JJ. Managing the political agenda: problem definition and policy making in Britain. *Parliamentary Aff*. 1980;33(1):23-39.
- 50. Rueter P, Stevens A. An Analysis of UK Drug Policy. London, England: UK Drug Policy Commission; 2007.
- 51. Wrigley, JB. Note regarding tobacco taxation. British American Tobacco, April 27, 1981. http://legacy.library.ucsf. edu/tid/xgp47a99/pdf. Accessed February 11, 2014.
- 52. Greenfield H. Note from Harry Greenfield regarding research on cannabis. British American Tobacco, March 6, 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/wly54a99. Accessed May 29, 2013.
- 53. McDaniel PA, Intinarelli G, Malone RE. Tobacco industry issues management organizations: creating a global corporate network to undermine public health. *Globalization Health.* 2008;4:2.
- 54. Mills JH. Cannabis Nation: Control and Consumption in Britain 1928–2008. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press; 2013.
- 55. Ellis CP. Cannabis. British American Tobacco, 1970 (est.). http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/xly54a99. Accessed May 29, 2013.
- 56. Lewin R. The pot project. British American Tobacco, June 8. 1972. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/oly54a99. Accessed May 31, 2013.
- 57. The product in the early 1980s. British American Tobacco, March 29, 1976. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/fht76b00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- Haslam F. The product in the early 1980s; note prepared for Dr. Ayres copy. British American Tobacco, March 26, 1976. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/oby84a99. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 59. Millbank product development committee. Minutes of meeting held on Wednesdays. Brown & Williamson, December 17, 1975. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/lcd60f00/pdf. Accessed January 2, 2014.
- 60. Grinspoon L. Marihuana Reconsidered. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1971.
- 61. Herer J. Hemp & the Marijuana Conspiracy: The Emperor Wears No Clothes. Van Nuys, CA: Hemp Publications; 1992.
- 62. Mueller L. Comparative basic toxicology and pharmacology of nicotine and cannabinol. RJ Reynolds, June 19, 1992. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/oby53d00. Accessed June 6, 2013.

- 63. Mitchell TG. Note from Terry Mitchell regarding English translation of German text. British American Tobacco, 1992. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/xws31a99. Accessed December 10, 2013.
- 64. Abel EL. A Marihuana Dictionary: Words, Terms, Events, and Persons Relating to Cannabis. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press; 1943.
- 65. Caulkins JP, Lee MAC, Kasunic AM. Marijuana legalization: lessons from the 2012 state proposals. World Med Health Policy. 2012;4(3):4-34.
- 66. Frontline. Busted: America's war on marijuana. *PBS Frontline*. 1996. http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/dope/etc/cron.html. Accessed January 2, 2014.
- 67. Felton DG. Letter from DG Felton regarding the report published by the US National Academy of Science. British American Tobacco, November 23, 1982. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/mcv41a99. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 68. Westergreen A. Email to Sharon Boyse regarding information she requested on receptor regulation in response to drug. Brown & Williamson, March 11, 1999. http://legacy. library.ucsf.edu/tid/gok77h00. Accessed June 6, 2013.
- 69. Danzig F. Pot users welcome Laredo kit. Tobacco Institute, January 25, 1971. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/zpz65b00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 70. Donovan H. Letter to Mr. Judge thanking him for his editorial response to MJ and tobacco. Philip Morris, January 15, 1971. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/eex38e00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 71. Tobacco Institute. Rumors about the cigarette industry's involvement with marijuana. 1971. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/vdf02f00. Accessed May 21, 2013.
- 72. Forecasting International. A technological forecast of the future environment and its effects on the tobacco industry. Brown & Williamson, October 11, 1976. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/mhw20f00. Accessed November 22, 2013.
- 73. Thornton R. Re: enclosing a note entitled "The Product in 1980" discussing the role of biofeedback versus cigarette smoking. British American Tobacco, January 13, 1976. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/pon66b00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 74. George J. Re: meeting minutes of B&W problem lab. Brown & Williamson, 1977. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/wgq76b00. Accessed May 21, 2013.

- 75. Brown & Williamson. Techonological forecasting materials for production conference. Brown & Williamson, 1978. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/ano21c00. Accessed June 6, 2013.
- 76. Crellin R. Brainstorming II: what three radical changes might, through the agency of r&d, take place in this industry by the end of the century? British American Tobacco, November 4, 1980. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/tmy50a99. Accessed May 31, 2013.
- 77. Prochaska JJ, Hall SM, Bero LA. Tobacco use among individuals with schizophrenia: what role has the tobacco industry played? *Schizophr Bull*. 2008;34(3):555-567.
- 78. Targacept. Targacept key messages. March 18. 1999. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/oxd35a00. Accessed February 2, 2014.
- 79. Udow A. Impressions of project green group sessions, letter to Mr. Chris Bolton. Philip Morris, January 26, 1972. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/yii08e00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 80. Young adult smoker life styles and attitudes. Brown & Williamson, 1974. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/cgq76b00. Accessed May 21, 2013.
- Cunningham & Walsh. Kool: a retrospective view of Kool. Book I: the text. Brown & Williamson, December 12, 1980. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/aqy60f00. Accessed June 3, 2013.
- 82. Ling PM, Glantz SA. Why and how the tobacco industry sells cigarettes to young adults: evidence from industry documents. *Am J Public Health*. 2002;92(6):908-916.
- 83. Fisher S. Letter to the director of the Council for Tobacco Research. Council for Tobacco Research, December 18, 1970. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/nyn06d00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 84. Hockett RC. Letter to Dr. Stephen Fischer from Robert C. Hockett. Council for Tobacco Research, February 10, 1971. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/dfs06d00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- Hoyt W. Letter to Dr. Lawrence D. Horwitz. Council for Tobacco Research, December 6, 1978. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/ldz4aa00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 86. Seligman R. Letter of reply for a request for funding cannabis related research from Paul Geshelin MD. Philip Morris, July 27, 1977. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/ujv14e00. Accessed May 30, 2013.
- 87. Zahn H. Second annual conference on marijuana. Biomedical effects and social implications. New York, June 28-29,

1979. RJ Reynolds, July 20, 1979. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/ tid/nqz68d00. Accessed May 30, 2013.

- Zahn L. New research projects of Institute of Medicine and National Research Council. Council for Tobacco Research, January 22, 1981. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/gtz2aa00. Accessed December 10, 2013.
- 89. Holtzman A. Handwritten note from Philip Morris counsel to Philip Morris employee requesting technical review of outside research paper. Philip Morris, May 20, 1980. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/idx27c00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 90. Seligman R. Letter to Mr. Holtzman on long-term inhalation study of marijuana. Philip Morris, June 27, 1980. http:// legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/zzt53e00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 91. Legacy Tobacco Documents Library, UCSF. Privileged document codes 2013. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/help/privcodes.jsp. Accessed December 9, 2013.
- 92. Braude MC. National Institute on Drug Abuse technical review on methodology for long-term inhalation study of marihuana. Philip Morris, April 10, 1980. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/gmn64e00. Accessed December 17, 2013.
- 93. Fagan R. Letter to Dr. Osdene on the long term inhalation study of marihuana. Philip Morris, June 5, 1980. http://legacy. library.ucsf.edu/tid/egs87e00. Accessed September 24, 2013.
- 94. Zahn L. American Lung Association's campaign against marijuana. Philip Morris, May 15, 1984. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/wzv61f00. Accessed December 10, 2013.
- 95. Pecan S. American Lung Association's campaign against marijuana. American Heart Association news conference. Philip Morris, May 18, 1984. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/bkb44e00. Accessed November 25, 2013.
- 96. Comparative basic toxicology and pharmacology of nicotine and cannabinol. Philip Morris, May 14, 1992. http://legacy. library.ucsf.edu/tid/scl83e00. Accessed June 6, 2013.
- 97. Mitchell TG. Confidential communication from employee to internal counsel requesting counsel's advice regarding liberalization of marijuana laws. British American Tobacco, April 15, 1992. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/zco12b00. Accessed December 10, 2013.
- 98. Basel LDP. Liberalisation of hashish and marihuana. British American Tobacco, January 1992. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/zws31a99. Accessed December 10, 2013.

- 99. Monitoring the Future. Trends in 30-Day Prevalence of Use of Various Drugs in Grades 8, 10, and 12. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan; 2013.
- 100. US Department of Health and Human Services. *Results from the* 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services; September 2013.
- 101. Centers for Disease Control. Trends in the Prevalence of Selected Risk Behaviors and Obesity for All Students National YRBS: 1991-2011. Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services; 2012.
- 102. Gallup. Views on legalizing marijuana 2013. http://www.gallup. com/poll/165539/first-time-americans-favor-legalizingmarijuana.aspx. Accessed November 21, 2013.
- 103. Marijuana Policy Project. The twenty states and one federal district with effective medical marijuana laws. 2013. http://www.mpp.org/assets/pdfs/library/MMJLawsSummary.pdf. Accessed November 21, 2013.
- 104. Castaldi M, Llambias F. Uruguay becomes first country to legalize marijuana trade. *NBC News*. December 12, 2013.
- 105. Grim R, Reilly RJ. Eric Holder says DOJ will let Washington, Colorado marijuana laws go into effect. *Huffington Post*. September 23, 2013.
- 106. Note to Green regarding agenda for lunch with Peyton. British American Tobacco, March 4, 1970. http://legacy.library. ucsf.edu/tid/vly54a99. Accessed May 31, 2013.
- 107. Cole JM. Guidance Regarding Marijuana Enforcement. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice; August 29, 2013.
- 108. Mientka M. Marijuana legalization activists target states for 2014, ahead of presidential election. *Medical Daily*. September 22, 2013.
- 109. Levine HG, Reinarman C. From prohibition to regulation: lessons from alcohol policy for drug policy. *Milbank Q.* 1991;69(3):461-494.
- 110. Earleywine M. Pot politics: marijuana and the costs of prohibition. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 111. Joffe A, Yancy WS, Jacobs EA, et al. Legalization of marijuana: potential impact on youth. *Pediatrics.* 2004;113(6):E632-E638.
- 112. Sklair L. The transnational capitalist class and global politics: deconstructing the corporate-state connection. *Int Polit Sci Rev.* 2002;23(2):159-174.
- 113. Glantz S, Balbach E. Tobacco War: Inside the California Battles. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press; 2000.

The Tobacco Industry and Marijuana Legalization

- 114. Givel MS, Glantz SA. Tobacco lobby political influence on US state legislatures in the 1990s. *Tob Control*. 2001;10(2):124-134.
- 115. Dearlove JV, Bialous SA, Glantz SA. Tobacco industry manipulation of the hospitality industry to maintain smoking in public places. *Tob Control.* 2002;11(2):94-104.
- 116. Glantz SA. Preventing tobacco use—the youth access trap. Am J Pub Health. 1996;86(2):156-158.
- 117. Ling PM, Landman A, Glantz SA. It is time to abandon youth access tobacco programmes. *Tob Control*. 2002;11(1):3-6.
- 118. Morris R. Tort reform and product liability legislation Florida and Louisiana. Tobacco Institute, 1986. http://legacy.library.ucsf. edu/tid/psc23b00. Accessed October 22, 2013.
- 119. Derthick MA. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics. Washington, DC: CQ Press; 2012.
- 120. Bolton C. Letter to Al Udow from Chris Bolton on consumer product testing for menthol. Philip Morris, August 1, 1972. http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/iux74e00. Accessed September 6, 2013.
- 121. Doyle B. *The New Tobacco Industry*. Denver, CO: Colorado Tobacco Education and Prevention Alliance; 2013.
- 122. Flo, sativa. Medical Marijuana Strains website. http://www. medicalmarijuanastrains.com/flo-2/. Accessed December 23, 2013.
- 123. Ramo DE, Delucchi KL, Liu H, Hall SM, Prochaska JJ. Young adults who smoke cigarettes and marijuana: analysis of thoughts and behaviors. *Addict Behav.* 2014;39(1):77-84.
- 124. E-cigarettes make marijuana smoke virtually undetectable. CBS News. November 7, 2013.
- 125. Walker N. CHP: Teens converting e-cigarettes to use THC oil. *KTVU*. January 9, 2014.
- 126. McDuling J. Will e-cigarettes help Big Tobacco become Big Marijuana, too? *Quartz*. February 4, 2014.
- 127. CA NORML. Cal NORML opposes bans on smokeless e-cigs and vaporizers. January 26, 2014. http://www.canorml.org/news/ Cal_NORML_opposes_bans_on_e-cigarettes. Accessed February 20, 2014.
- 128. Caulkins JP, Kilmer B, MacCoun RJ, Pacula RL, Reuter P. Design considerations for legalizing cannabis: lessons inspired by analysis of California's proposition 19. *Addict*. 2012;107(5):865-871.
- 129. La cámara de representantes de la república oriental del Uruguay. Proyecto de ley no. 708/13. December 10, 2013.

http://fueradelexpediente.com.ar/wp-content/uploads/2013/ 08/marihuana-uruguay.pdf. Accessed February 10, 2014.

- 130. Marijuana Enforcement Division. Permanent Rules Related to the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code. Denver, CO: Colorado Department of Revenue; 2013.
- 131. US Food and Drug Administration. Regulations restricting the sale and distribution of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco. 2010. http://www.fda.gov/tobaccoproducts/protectingkidsfromtobacco/regsrestrictingsale/default.htm. Accessed December 11, 2013.
- 132. National Association of Attorneys General. Master Settlement Agreement. November 1998.
- 133. Moir D, Rickert WS, Levasseur G, et al. A comparison of mainstream and sidestream marijuana and tobacco cigarette smoke produced under two machine smoking conditions. *Chem Res Toxicol.* 2008;21(2):494-502.
- 134. Washington State Liquor Control Board. Initiative measure 502. 2011. http://www.liq.wa.gov/publications/Marijuana/I-502/i502.pdf. Accessed December 22, 2013.
- 135. Roberts M. Marijuana: allowing pot clubs one of fourteen priorities for Colorado NORML. *Denver Westword*. December 9, 2013.
- 136. LeGresley EM, Muggli ME, Hurt RD. Playing hide-and-seek with the tobacco industry. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2005;7(1):27-40.
- 137. USA v. Philip Morris USA, Inc., et al. 1683 page final opinion. US District Court 2006.
- 138. Cerda M, Wall M, Keyes KM, Galea S, Hasin D. Medical marijuana laws in 50 states: investigating the relationship between state legalization of medical marijuana and marijuana use, abuse and dependence. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2012;120(1-3):22-27.

Acknowledgments: This work was supported by National Cancer Institute grant CA-087472. Dr. Glantz is the American Legacy Foundation Distinguished Professor of Tobacco Control. The funding agencies played no role in the selection of the topic, conduct of the research, preparation of the manuscript, or decision to submit it for publication. For helpful discussions as we wrote this article, we thank Professor Emily Anne McDonald.

Address correspondence to: Stanton A. Glantz, Center for Tobacco Control Research and Education, 530 Parnassus Ave, Suite 366, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA 94143-1390 (email: glantz@medicine.ucsf.edu). **BOARD of SUPERVISORS**



City Hall 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 244 San Francisco 94102-4689 Tel. No. 554-5184 Fax No. 554-5163 TDD/TTY No. 554-5227

MEMORANDUM

TO: Mavis Asiedu-Frimpong, Cannabis State Legalization Task Force Gretchen Paule, Cannabis State Legalization Task Force

FROM: K Alisa Somera, Legislative Deputy Director, Land Use and Transportation Committee, Board of Supervisors

DATE: October 13, 2016

SUBJECT: HEARING MATTER INTRODUCED

The Board of Supervisors' Land Use and Transportation Committee has received the following hearing request, introduced by Supervisor Wiener on October 4, 2016:

File No. 161079

Hearing on the local impacts of the Adult Use of Marijuana Act if approved by the voters in November, including areas of legislative and administrative need; and requesting the Cannabis State Legalization Task Force to report.

If you have any comments or reports to be included with the file, please forward them to me at the Board of Supervisors, City Hall, Room 244, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, San Francisco, CA 94102.

Print Fo	orm	
	Introduction Form	
	By a Member of the Board of Supervisors or the Mayor SALE FRANCISCO	
I hereb	by submit the following item for introduction (select only one):	
	1. For reference to Committee. (An Ordinance, Resolution, Motion, or Charter Amendment)	
	2. Request for next printed agenda Without Reference to Committee.	
× :	3. Request for hearing on a subject matter at Committee.	
	4. Request for letter beginning "Supervisor inquires"	
	5. City Attorney request.	
	6. Call File No. from Committee.	
	7. Budget Analyst request (attach written motion).	
	8. Substitute Legislation File No.	
	9. Reactivate File No.	
	10. Question(s) submitted for Mayoral Appearance before the BOS on	
Please check the appropriate boxes. The proposed legislation should be forwarded to the following:		
Ε	Small Business Commission 🗌 Youth Commission 🗍 Ethics Commission	
	Planning Commission Building Inspection Commission	
	'or the Imperative Agenda (a resolution not on the printed agenda), use a Imperative Form.	
Sponsor(r(s):	
Wiener		
Subject:		
Cannabi	is State Legalization Task Force Update	
The text	t is listed below or attached:	
-	g on the local impacts of the Adult Use of Marijuana Act (AUMA) if approved by the voters this Nove ng areas of legislative and administrative need, and requesting the Cannabis State Legalization Task F	4
~	Signature of Sponsoring Supervisor:	

For Clerk's Use Only: